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Note to the Digital Edition

This book was originally titled A Study of the Mahavastu by its
author Bimala Churn Law. However, it does not so much study the
text, as summarise it, and I have therefore renamed the digital
edition to reflect the actual contents of the book.

The work was largely prepared by Donny Hacker from a text that
had been OCRed from a pdf, and most of the credit for this being
published online now must go to him.

In going through it while preparing the final edition I found there
were many wrong transliterations that had been printed by Law in
his original edition, which I have quietly corrected according to the
text of Mahavastu.

Law’s English was occasionally wanting, not in any major way, but
in numerous small ways, which I have also corrected; and I have also
converted some references that Law chose to print in the text itself
into footnotes, which is where they more properly belong.

Law printed his Part II as one long collection of Stories, but upon
examination it turned out these were two groups, one of Jataka
Stories, the other, Stories of the Disciples. I have redivided and
retitled the text to reflect this.

Because of these changes, although they make no difference to the
substance of the text, anyone wishing to quote the book would be
better to check it against the original printed edition, or a pdf copy
of such.

Anandajoti Bhikkhu
October 2016



Introduction

The Mahavastu or an encyclopaedia of Buddhist legends and
doctrines is one of the important books of Mahayana Buddhist
literature. Thanks to the untiring zeal and indefatigable labour of
the French savant, Mon. E. Senart, who first undertook to edit the
book in three big volumes with useful introductions to them written
in French. The book is now out of print and is very difficult to be
had.

Mahavastu literally means a great thing. The prose portions of the
text are written in mixed Sanskrit while the poems are written more
in Prakrit than in mixed Sanskrit. No doubt the language is “an
arbitrary and unstable mixture of Sanskrit, Pali and Prakrits.” In
many places it is difficult to arrive at the correct interpretation. The
arrangement of the topics discussed in the book is most disorderly
and the text is full of repetitions.

It contains an account of Buddha’s life and teachings together with
the stories of his previous births. Besides, several knotty points of
Buddhism and Buddhist philosophy are treated in it.

It claims to be a book of the Vinaya Pitaka according to the
Lokottaravadins, a branch of the Mahasanghikas. It contains very
little of the rules of the Vinaya. It undoubtedly requires care and
patience to go through the entire text and give a substance of it — a
task which I have attempted in this book.

Dr. A. Berriedale Keith has laid me under a debt of obligation by
specially writing a valuable note containing many points of
importance connected with a study of the Mahavastu. For



illustrations and for kind permission to reproduce them, I am
grateful to the Director-General of Archaeology, India.'

Bimala Churn Law

43, Kailas Bose Street,
Calcutta, 17th March, 1930

" Editor’s note: necessarily omitted in the digital edition.



A Note on the Mahavastu
By Dr. A. B. Keith, D.C.L., D.Litt.

[i] An indispensable preliminary to our comprehension of Buddhism
is the careful analysis in detail of the great texts which mark for us
at least important stages in the development of Buddhist thought.
The Mahavastu, though it is not unworthy of translation, is
nevertheless one of those works which can for practical purposes be
adequately and effectively represented by something more brief, in
which what is valuable is less obscured by masses of unimportant
detail, and we are fortunate in that Dr. Bimala Churn Law has
undertaken the heavy burden of making available to us in English
the substance of the Mahavastu. Mega biblion, Mega kakon,” was the
verdict of Greece, and, if the greatness of the Buddha demanded so
vast a treatise, we epigonoi, to whom Buddhism is not the end of
striving and the sole abject of interest, may be excused if we prefer
something more condensed and vital.

Of interest and importance of the Mahavastu there is no doubt; it has
the fascination that almost everything that is definite has yet to be
discovered regarding it. Its essential character remains a matter of
dispute. It claims to be a book of the Vinayapitaka according to the
text of the Lokottaravadins, a branch of the Mahasanghikas, and this
[ii] claim fortunately does not contradict any evidence otherwise
available. But, as we have it, the work gives hardly any of the rules
of the Buddhist community, which we expect from its claim to be its
content. It corresponds instead to that part of the Pali Vinayapitaka
which tells of the history of the coming into being of the community,
and we must hold either that the Vinaya itself was still preserved by

* Editor’s note: a saying of Callimachus, meaning something like ‘Big book,
big evil’.



the school in some older form of speech, or that it originally
followed on the Mahavastu, as we have it, but for some reason or
other has perished. Either suggestion is open to serious difficulties
but it is clear that it would be absurd to suppose that the
Lokottaravadins were content to regard our Mahavastu as
representing the Vinaya of their school, even if we admit that the
extent of the Mahavastu suggests that they were lacking in a sense of
proportion.

The tradition which regards our Pali texts as representing the true
doctrine of the Buddha treats the Mahasanghikas as the first
schismatics; but this powerful school, whose strength is indicated by
its name, would doubtless have repudiated any suggestion that it did
not preserve the true doctrine, and the same view would have been
maintained by the school of the Lokottaravadins, or
Transcendentalists, of the Middle Country, the land between the
Himalaya and the Vindhya. To them the Buddha was no mortal
teacher, differing in nothing save superior insight from ordinary
man; seers like the Buddhas stand above the world, though they [iii]
accommodate their actions to its life; if they wash their feet, yet dust
stains them not, if they sit in the shade, yet the rays of the sun
oppress them not, if they eat, yet hunger assails them not. It is in
entire harmony with this view of the nature of the Buddha that full
acceptance is accorded to the doctrine of the existence of Buddhas
on a wholesale scale, and that we are assured that the purity of the
Buddha is such that reverence paid to him suffices to win Nirvana,
while abundant merit can be attained by the mere circumambulation
of a Stiipa and the paying of homage by offerings of flowers. A
Buddhanusmrti (i. 163 ff) pays adoration to the Buddha in the same
fashion as do the Brahmanical Stotras of Visnu or Siva, reminding us
of the strong underlying theistic tendency of Indian thought. A
feature little dwelt on in the Pali Canon appears in the elaborate
account (i. 63 ff) of the ten stages through which a Bodhisattva must
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pass in his advance to Buddhahood, a theme developed in the
Mahayana texts, and, as in those texts, we are told that Bodhisattvas
are not of mortal birth, but come spontaneously into existence as the
result of their own merits.

But taken all in all, it is not so much for novel philosophic views that
the Mahavastu is attractive as for the rich variety of its literary
content. There is in it no trace of arrangement by a master hand;
confusion, practically inextricable, reigns, and the main theme, the
legend of the Buddha, is constantly broken by the interpolation of a
[iv] Jataka or Avadana, or even a dogmatic Siitra. Repetitions
abound; the tale of the Buddha’s birth is repeated no less than four
times, and the same episode or Jataka may appear first in prose, then
in verse. Thanks to this wealth of material we can find abundant
parallels to important passages already known to us in the Pali
Canon. Thus we have an old version of the famous legend of
Siddhartha’s departure from his home, parallel with the account in
the Majjhimanikaya (26 and 36); there are versions of the Pabbajja,
Padhana and Khaggavisana Suttas of the Sutranipata, of the
Khuddakapatha, of the Sahassavagga of the Dhammapada, of the
great sermon at Benares, of the Mahagovinda Sutta of the
Dighanikaya, of the Dighanakha Sutta of the Majjhimanikaya, etc.
We have old ballads regarding the birth of the Buddha, which carry
us back to the early days of the faith; we have also parallels for the
late Vimanavatthu and Buddhavamsa. The Jatakas and similar tales,
which make up a good half of the text, present us with the familiar
picture of the Bodhisattva as now a king exercising universal
sovereignty, now a merchant’s son, a Brahman, a Naga prince, or the
king of beasts; the stories constantly present close analogy with those
in the Pali Jataka book, differing often in significant detail, or
presenting important variation of substance; thus the Kusa Jataka is
told once (iii. Iff) in a metrical version showing close connection
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with the Gathas of the Pali Jataka (531) and once (ii. 420 ff) with
marked variation. [v]

The value of these semi-parallels is very great; thus the tale of Nalini
and Ekasrnga as it appears in the Mahavastu (ii. 143 ff) is no more
than a pious and edifying legend of no special interest, yet it
preserves some traces of antiquity which have disappeared from the
Pali legend of Isisinga, in the Nalinika Jataka. Other tales remind us
of Brahmanical literary tradition and breathe the spirit of the
Puranas. The childless Brahmadatta (i 272 ff) has recourse to the
seers, and three birds are born for him, who speak with human
voices and deliver sayings of wisdom; the seer Raksita attains as a
hermit such magic powers that he can touch the sun and the moon
with his hands (i. 283 ff); the royal genealogy of Sﬁkyamuni begins
with the normal account of the creation (i. 338 ff). There are
parallelisms between the account of the hells at the beginning of the
Mahavastu and that of the Markandeya Purana, which testify to the
inter-relation of the Buddhist and Brahmanical schools of thought.
From the point of view of literary form we have a certain
parallelism between the Jatakas of the Mahavastu and the Pali
Canon; some of the Mahavastu legends are in prose, some in prose
with verses intermingled, some in prose, followed by verses covering
practically the same ground.

Such a work, it is plain, cannot be the product of one period, and it is
as necessary as it is difficult to seek to resolve it into its constituent
parts. The language offers some aid in the process; the whole [vi] is
written in what may for lack of a better term be styled “mixed
Sanskrit”, but this form of language is not the same throughout; in
part it approximates more closely to Sanskrit proper, and it is
doubtless plausible to hold that, as a rule, the more correct the
diction the later the text in its present form, as opposed to the matter.
This view is based on the belief that “mixed Sanskrit” represents an
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effort on the part of those, who used in their intercourse and
teaching a Prakrit of some sort, to adopt Sanskrit as the language of
their sacred texts, their success, however, being at first strictly
limited. The alternative view is that which regards “mixed Sanskrit”
as representing a genuine development in some form of proto-
Sanskrit, and it is a striking proof of our imperfect knowledge of the
early development of language in India that we are unable definitely
to disprove this view. But, even if we adopt it, it would seem
probable that the passages written in a language more closely
approximating to Sanskrit are later than those which show more
freedom, and the test of language, therefore, is probably valid.
Unfortunately however, it carries us but a little way. Nor can we
derive much aid from references of a historical character, for these
are few and far between. The halo of the Buddha carries the passage
in which it is mentioned down to the Christian era, for it indicates
influence by the sculpture of Gandhara. It is much more doubtful
whether we can hold that we are carried down to the fourth century
A.D. for [vii] those passages in which the Huns occur, Chinese
speech and writing are alluded to, and the Yogacaras are mentioned;
the Huns are known to the Mahabharata and we are probably
mistaken if we assume that their name penetrated to India only in
the fourth or fifth century A.D.; the date of the term Cina is still
uncertain and problematic, and the Yogacaras (i. 120) are in all
likelihood not the idealist school which later bears that style. We are
on firmer footing when we find the term Horapathaka applied to an
astrologer (iii. 178), for we are reasonably assured that the term
Hora in this use was not known to India before the third century A.D.

A far more fruitful source of discrimination between the elements of
the work is presented by stylistic considerations, attention to which
was first definitely drawn by Oldenberg (Nachrichten von der Konigl.
Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften zu Gottingen, 1912, pp. 123ff.), in
continuation of E. Windisch’s important treatise, Die Komposition
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des Mahavastu. He distinguishes between two distinct styles (A and
B): the former is marked formally by the predominance of the
nominal style, in which the copula is often omitted, and participles in
—ta take the place of finite verbs. Such verbal forms as occur are
usually in the present, and are often common word such as bhavanti
or gacchanti. Sentences are frequently combined by the particle dani
often following some form of derivative of the pronominal base ta,
as in so dani, tatra dani. The [viii] B style, on the other hand, uses
freely finite verbal forms, including many past tenses; the nominal
style is rare in narrative, more frequent when a speaker or thinker
lays down some statement of fact. Dani as a particle of connection is
rare, while, on the other hand, atha khalu frequently serves this end,
and an answer to a question or speech is frequently prefaced by evam
ukte. Frequent also is the taking up of a narrative tense by a gerund
or participle corresponding. Nor is the distinction between the styles
formal only; the A style is far superior to the B style; its movement is
free and unfettered, the structure of the sentence changes freely, it
expresses much in little space, and in its long compounds it can
compress a vast amount of matter, though with the usual risk of
ambiguity. The B style, on the other band, is stiff and monotonous; it
occupies much space in telling little; it abounds in repetitions, and it
lacks the power of subordination; the essential is described with no
more emphasis than the idle detail of the mode in which the actors
are dressed, meet one another, and sit down beside one another.
There can be no doubt as to the true parallels of the two styles; A
reminds us of the Tantrakhyayika, B of the Pali Canon, and stylistic
grounds alone suggest the earlier date of passages in the B style.
Confirmation may be drawn from the nature of the subject-matter of
the passages in which either style is used. The B style is often found
in passages for which we [ix] have Pali parallels, the A style in
passages which suggest additions and workings up of simpler
accounts, narratives, or descriptions; it is in an A passage that
Horapathaka occurs. From this we may deduce the conclusion that
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the Mahavastu represents the working over of material which is
preserved to us often in a simpler and more primitive form in the
Pali Canon, though neither the Mahavastu nor that Canon can be
said to represent faithfully the oldest Buddhist Canon in Magadhi or
Old Ardhamagadhi.

Oldenberg admits that there has been much admixture of style
through working over, and he distinguishes among the B passages a
number (B') which have no Pali parallels but represent later work on
the B model, such as the first Avalokita Satra (ii. 257-293). In his
view Sttra and Vinaya materials of this kind, in part parallel with
the Pali texts, in part later developments in the old style, were
worked up into a whole with additions by an author using style A.
The suggestion is attractive and ingenious, but the facts are
extremely complex, and we may seriously doubt whether the
redaction of the main body of the work apart from smaller
interpolations such as the second Avalokita Sutra (ii. 293-397) which
admits itself to be a supplement, was the work of one hand. But for
decision on these and on many other points the time is not ripe; least
of all can we say how far the doctrines of the Mahavastu as it stands
represent the views of the Lokottaravadins pure and simple, how far
they are [x] Mahayana ideas adopted by that school or simply
interpolated in their great text. Sufficient has been said to show how
important and how interesting the study of the Mahavastu is from
the point of view of philosophy and literature alike.
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I: The Buddhas and the Bodhisattvas

[1] The Mahavastu begins with an enumeration of the attributes of
the Bodhisattvas, especially with regard to their conduct (carya). In
the first section obeisance is made to the past Buddhas by whom the
present Buddha, viz., Sﬁkyamuni of Kapilavastu, was initiated and
perfected gradually in his Buddhahood. The Bodhisattvas are
characterised by four kinds of conduct befitting them and these are
Prakriticarya, Pranidhanacarya, Anulomacarya, and
Anivartanacarya.’ In a former birth when he was a Rajacakravarti, a
king of kings, Sakyamuni gained bliss by practising Prakriticarya
under Apar3jitadhvaja Tathagata. Next as a Sresthin or leading
merchant practising Pranidhanacarya he prayed to Atita or the past
Sﬁkyamuni for the root of good conduct. He thought that he too
would be a Perfectly Enlightened One in future. The city of
Kapilavastu [2] would be his birth place and everybody would know
him as Sﬁkyamuni. Then as a Rajacakravarti again, Sékyamuni
practising Anulomacarya prays to Samitavin Tathagata. Last of all
obeisance is shown to Dipankara Tathagata who said to éékyamuni,
“0, disciple, you will, in future, be famous as éﬁkyamuni Tathagata,

* These terms are explained in the body of the text a few pages below.
According to Mon. Senart, carya means careers or degrees of the
Bodhisattvas. Prakriticarya is that where the native qualities are being
showed; Pranidhanacarya, where they take the vow to reach the bodhi or
enlightenment; Anulomacarya, where the conduct conformable to that
vow is practised; Anivartanacarya, where the preparation is done without
running the risk of any forfeiture. Kern defines carya as course.
According to him, Prakriticarya is original course, Pranidhanacarya is the
course of the vow or firm resolution, Anulomacarya is the course in
accordance with the vow taken and Anivartanacarya is the course in
which no sliding back is possible.
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and fully enlightened. Those who follow the tenfold righteous path
come nearer to the knowledge of truth.”

Dipankara

Once the Buddha went to Dipankara Buddha who was then
surrounded by an assembly of disciples and thought, “it would be
better if I could be born to do good to mankind.” Dipankara Buddha
coming to know of his intention said, “You will, in future, be born in
the Sﬁkya family and for the good of mankind you will attain
Buddhahood.”

With a view to secure the good of mankind, éﬁkyamuni began to
practise Bodhisattvacarya and laboured for his own soul and the
people. He practised dana (charity). He thought of happiness and
misery as of equal value. He began to spend his days in good deeds.
He stayed free from attachment and enjoyment. Gradually he
attained heaven, and found it transient; he practised severe austerity
for final emancipation from this chain of births and deaths and
taking his bath in the Nairafijana river he stayed fearlessly in the
town of Gaya. [3]

Purifying his heavenly eyes during the first watch of the night he
thought of the movement of animals; during the middle watch he
thought of the knowledge of former existence; during the last watch
he discussed matters which must be known by everybody and thus he
attained Buddhahood.

While the Lord Sammasambuddha was at Sravasti, at the Jetavana of
Anathapindika, he instructed gods and men. Thera
Mahamaudgalyayana who had been roaming about in the hells came

* Phalgu River in Gaya.
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to Jetavana and described the horrible scenes he had witnessed at the
eight nirayas or hells. He saw beings without number suffering in
hell. In the Safjiva hell he noticed some with their feet turned
upwards and with heads hanging downwards, some being hewn and
split with axes, others being torn by sharp instruments of iron
(ayasonakha) and cut up by swords. In the Kalasiitra hell too, he
noticed beings subjected to similar punishments. In the Sanghata hell
he noticed beings tortured or crushed by mountains piled up upon
them. In the Raurava hell he found thousands of beings subjected to
countless varieties of punishments. In the Maharaurava hell he found
some beings thrown into the blazing fire and crying at the top of
their voice. Their shrieks seemed to reach the ears of the people of
Jambudvipa,” Pubba-Videha, Aparagodaniya and [4] Uttarakuru.’ He
found many beings suffering in the Tapana hell where thousands of
flames of fire blazing forth in their fury from the east spread up to
the walls of the west, and again flames rising in the west stretching
their fiery tongues up to the east. These and thousand other varieties
of punishments and sufferings were inflicted upon beings in the
innumerable hells, and these Mahamaudgalyayana described in the
presence of the people assembled.

The description of hell was finished and everybody was struck with
awe and amazement. But the great sage proceeded to give further
details of these hells. He went on, “Acts productive of the knowledge
of Truth ought to be performed. Sinful deeds of every kind should be
avoided. The eight hells are Sa7ijiva, Kalasitra, Sanghata, Raurava,
Maharaurava, Maha-avici, Tapana, and Pratapana.” Horrible scenes

> The continent of India.

% See my paper on Uttarakuru, published in the Sarkalpa.

’ For a detailed account of hells and the description of them in the
Markandeya Purana, see my book, “Heaven and Hell in Buddhist
Perspective”.
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of every conceivable and inconceivable kind are seen in those
terrible abodes of punishment. Persons who stir up enmity with
others with regard to land, or any other thing, go to the Saiijiva hell.
The arms of persons who entertain a desire to kill domestic animals
are pierced with nails made of iron. Persons who order the cutting
off of the trunks and legs of fettered elephants go to the Kalasiitra [5]
(hell) where they are cut off from head to foot like sugarcane sticks.
The Sanghata hell is of wide extent. There is a mountain cave area in
the hell; when the warders of this hell armed with the instruments of
torture seek the sinful inhabitants of this region, they hide
themselves inside the cave, but at that time fire appears before them;
and forced to come back through fear, they are followed by torrents
of blazing fire. They are then pounded or crushed by mountains.
Those who take away the life of animals including even the small
insects have to go to this hell. Thus in other hells as well people have
to undergo great sufferings.”

Next Mahamaudgalyayana roamed about observing the painful
conditions in which the lower animals had to pass their life and then
reviewing their life of suffering gave an account of the miseries that
they were subject to. Hay and wet grass were their food; water cold
and hot their drink, they were harmful to one another; at every step
they were in danger. At Jetavana he narrated in detail all these
sufferings of the lower animals and impressed upon the audience
that knowledge of truth should be acquired and sinful acts should be
avoided, so that man may not run the chance of being reborn as any
of the lower animals. Next he went about observing the condition of
the pretas or spirits of the dead and found that the pretas suffer from
intolerable miseries. Their mouths are like needles, the throats are
choked, [6] they know no satisfaction. The wind blows, water flows,
food is before them but they have no power of enjoying these things
owing to the consequence of their deeds when in life. They go
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forward with an intent to enjoy these articles of pleasure but they
have to come back sorely disappointed.

Maudgalyayana narrated the sufferings of the pretas before the
audience at Jetavana and said that every one should acquire
knowledge of truth and avoid sinful acts, so that they may not have
to be reborn in that state.

Then the great sage Maudgalyayana observed the condition of the
Asuras (demons). At the abode of the Asuras he found them to be of
huge body, horrible in appearance and always eaten up with envy at
the greater comforts and pleasure of the devas or gods.

The Asuras think that they have been placed below and the gods
above. Burning with fury at this thought, they besiege the abode of
the gods with an entire army made up of four divisions, viz.,
elephants, chariots, horse and foot; and fight with the gods and go to
hell after being killed in the combat. Coming to Jetavana
Maudgalyayana narrated the miseries of the Asuras that had their
abode in the great ocean and many people took to the path of
salvation.

Reviewing the condition of the Caturmaharajika® devas or gods
inhabiting the lowest of the [7] six devalokas, Maudgalyayana
observes that while in this heavenly abode the beings enjoy various
sorts of happiness, at the end of their period of pleasure and comfort,
they fall down from heaven, and have to be reborn as Pretas or
Asuras or as lower animals or to go to one or other of the hells. So
these devas are also not immune from misery. Therefore, people
should try to acquire knowledge of truth and should not commit sin.
Arriving at Jetavana, Maudgalyayana narrates his experiences and

¥ The gods who are subjects of four guardian angels of four quarters.
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the people took to the path of salvation. Then again, reviewing the
condition of the Trayastimsa devas,’” Maudgalyayana found that they
were long-lived strong and happy. They roamed in the heavenly
regions and drank nectar living in jewel-bedecked and beautiful
palaces and playing in eight gardens, viz., Vaijayanta,
Nandapuskariniparipatra,  Kovidara, = Mahavana,  Parusyaka,
Citraratha, Nandana and Misrakavana.

Sakra, the lord of gods, played in the Vaijayanta palace surrounded
by eighty thousand nymphs (Apsaras). Thera Mahamaudgalyayana
saw the splendid and prosperous city of the gods (Sudarsanam
devanagaram) and the heavenly council (Sudharmam devasabham or
the Motehall of the gods), extending over a thousand yojanas and
gave an account of the sort of heavenly bliss that he had found them
enjoying on his return [8] to Jetavana. At their will the devas
enjoyed the blessings of heaven, but on the expiry of the term during
which their merits acquired in past births entitled them to partake of
these pleasures, they were born in the womb of lower animals and
suffered. So the state of the gods was not quite enviable; it was
mutable and transitory. So everybody should acquire knowledge of
truth, perfect knowledge of Truth, supreme Buddhahood, do noble
deeds, practise celibacy, and should not commit sin.

Maudgalyayana next went to the other heavenly abodes, viz., those
of the Yama, Tusita, Nirmanarati, Paranirmitavasavarti, and
Brahmakayika god up to the region of the Suddhavasa devas."’ He
found that they were long lived, virtuous, full of happiness, they

’ Gods dwelling in the Tavatimsa Heaven, vide my book, “Heaven and

Hell in Buddhist Perspective” pp. 7 foll.

' For a detailed account see my book “Heaven and Hell in Buddhist
Perspective.”
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moved in the sky, spoke sweet words, and that they were free from
affections or passions, etc.

The Thera came back to Jetavana and narrated everything that he
had seen in the abodes of he gods and observed that even their happy
state though apparently so free from pain was not permanent;
ultimately it was liable to a change. He impressed the truth that all
people have faults, all the worlds are full of misery and impermanent,
so the Buddhas teach Dharma, so as to reach a permanent and stable
state of existence and to acquire the highest good. [9]

Then he asked the assembly to acquire knowledge of truth, perfect
knowledge of truth, to do noble deeds, to practise celibacy, and to
refrain from committing sinful deeds. Many people listened to these
words of the Thera and tasted the bliss of eternal life.

Gautama

The Lord, the Perfectly Enlightened One, thought of his mission,
came to the Grdhrakuta hills at Rajagrha, and was honoured by both
gods and men. He taught them to be disinterested. He distributed
knowledge amongst the people of Ariga, Magadha, Vajji, Malla, Kast,
Kosala, Cedi, Vatsa, Matsya, Sirasena, Kuru, Paficala, Sivi, Dasarna,
Asvaka, and Avanti'' and had magnificent viharas erected for him.
Once Mahamaudgalyayana went to Rajagrha for alms. He thought it
was a long time since he had been to the holy abode of the gods.
Thinking thus he went on foot to the holy abode of the gods. The
sons of the gods of paradise saw long-lived Mahamaudgalyayana
from a distance and proceeded forth to receive him and said, “O,
long-lived one, welcome!” Thus they received him with greetings,

1vide my books, “Some Ksatriya Tribes of Ancient India”, “Ancient Mid-
Indian Ksatriya Tribes, Vol. I’ and “Ancient Indian Tribes”.
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saluted him, and took their seat. One of the sons of the gods said to
Mahamaudgalyayana, “Long ago there lived in the city of Vasumata
a bhiksu named Abhiya during whose life-time, the city was the
prosperous abode of many happy people. A rich Brahmin named [10]
Uttiya also lived in this city. He associated with such bhiksus as
Nanda and Abhiya. When, however, Nanda and Abhiya would pay a
friendly visit to the house of Uttiya, Nanda was honoured more than
Abhiya. One of the daughters of Uttiya was the wife of a certain
merchant of Vasumata. She too was pleased with Nanda.
Abhiyabhiksu was jealous of Nanda and traduced the character of
Nanda with false report that Nanda had lost Brahmacarya.”> As a
result of this report, the Brahmin householders and the merchant did
no longer honour him as they used to do previously. After a few days
Abhiya repented of his sinful act of spreading calumny against
Nanda of pure character. He then begged pardon of Nanda and made
his wrong deed known to the world.” Abhiya went to the merchant
Uttiya and said, “I want mastery over the assembly of Buddhist
disciples, enjoyed by the Lord. Give me money.” Uttiya and other
householders gave him gold. Two gandhikas (dealers in perfumes) of
Vasumata were very pleased with Abhiyabhikhsu. Abhiya did what
he liked with that money. Then Abhiyabhiksu thought that he would
try to become Perfectly Enlightened, to be free and make people free,
to be consoled and console others, to restrain himself and make
others restrained. The Supreme Lord or the All Highest came to
know of his good intention and said to him, “You will acquire
perfect knowledge [11] and become éﬁkyamuni Tathagata. Gods and
men will take advice from you.”

"2 Leading a holy life.
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“Endowed with the thirty-two signs of a great man" and the ten
powers of a Tathagata'* and the four vaisaradyas'’ or subjects of
confidence or fearlessness, you will gain excellence. In future you

' rolling, which has not yet been done

will set the wheel of Dharma
by any sramana or god or Mara.'” You will do good to gods and men

in innumerable ways.”

“Give that gift and resolve, I shall be the priest of gods and men and
preach the noblest religion. Beat the flagged drum of Dharma,
elevate the divine sage, sound the sacred conches, [12] convert many
people to the sacred religion. Let gods and men listen to my sweet
words. Impart knowledge amongst the people oppressed by births
and deaths; release people who are on the way to hell, do good to

" The thirty-two signs of a great man or 32 Mahapurusa laksanas. See ‘A
Manual of Buddhism by R. Spence Hardy’, pp. 368-369

' The balas or potentialities are: (1) Knowledge of what is fit or unfit, (2)
of the necessary consequences of karma, (3) of the right road leading to
any end, (4) of the elements, (5) of the different inclinations of beings, (6)
of the relative powers of the organs, (7 and 8) of all degrees of meditation
and ecstasy.

' Four vaisaradyas are: (1) assurance of the Buddha that he has got
omniscience, (2) that he has freed himself from sin, (3) that he knows the
obstacles in the way of attaining Nirvana, (4) that he has shown the right
path leading to Mukti or salvation.

' Dharmacakra is a symbol rather than a relic. It is undoubtedly an object
of worship as Kern points out. One of the sculptures of the Bharhut
represents the Buddha’s Dhammacakka adorned with a strip of cloth
under an umbrella in a shrine. Kern rightly points out that the wheel
symbol is Buddhistic in so far as it is linked with the preaching of the
doctrine. (Kern’s Indian Buddhism, pp. 99.)

"7 See my paper on the Buddhist Conception of Mara (Proceedings and
Transactions of the Third Oriental Conference, Madras, 1925, pp. 483
foll.) and Buddhistic studies edited by Dr. B. C. Law.
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people by imparting counsel like the Buddha; being free I shall turn
the wheel of Dharma.” The omnipresent and Perfectly Enlightened
One came to know of his intention and said that in future he would
be a jina18 (Conqueror).

Then in future when the gandhikas heard of Perfect Enlightenment
of Abhiyabhikshu, they decided to accept the discipleship of the
Buddha on his attaining perfect enlightenment.

Abhiyabhikshu exerted for a long time for perfect truth. He
worshipped Arahats (saints) who had acquired perfect knowledge.
They said nothing to him. He worshipped three hundred a arahats by
the name of Puspa. They did not say anything. He worshipped
innumerable Buddhas. They said nothing to him. He spoke of the
four kinds of the conduct of the Bodhisattva, viz., Prakriticarya,
Pranidhanacarya, Anulomacarya, and Anivartanacarya. To worship
the present Buddha and to pay respects to the disciples of the Buddha
and to follow the right path is the principle involved in Prakriticarya
or the observance of the natural state. Pranidhanacarya is [13] the
right realisation of the doctrine of éﬁkyamuni.

When such persons will acquire virtue by purifying their body and
mind, their minds will gain Bodhi or the Supreme knowledge. They
will think thus, “We shall gain omniscience by virtue of meritorious
deeds and our meditation may not be disturbed. Let the roots of
meritorious acts which we have accumulated be beneficial to all
people. Let evil come upon us for our sinful acts. Being possessed of
a mind unaffected by worldly thoughts we shall roam over the whole
world, we shall turn the unique wheel of religion which is honoured
by gods and men alike.”

' Jina means a Buddha, a Sugata, or a Tathagata. It literally means a
Conqueror.
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Samitavi

Then in the course of innumerable kalpas, Samitavi became a
Perfectly Enlightened Tathagata. He became an instructor of gods
and men. At this time Vijitavi, lord of the four island-continents,
possessed of the seven gems, virtuous and engaged in the path of ten-
fold meritorious action, ruled as king over the earth. The seven
treasures are cakraratna (the magic wheel of a cakravartt monarch,
which rolls before him when he makes his royal tour from one
continent to another), hastiratna (the elephant), asvaratna (the horse),
maniratna (the gem), striratna (the empress), grhapatiratna (the
retinue of householders), parinayakaratna (the crown prince). A
thousand sons were born to him. They were brave, powerful, and
handsome and victorious over alien armies. That the king [14] began
to rule over the world, up to Jambudvipa, East Videha,
Aparagodaniya, and the Uttarakuru, without having to exercise the
rod, the kingly weapons, and without oppression. Then once the king
came to Cakravarti Samitavi and cleaned robes, almsbowl, bed and
seat and built a palace bedecked with the seven gems. Close to the
palace he built eighty-four thousand pillars, set with gold, silver,
pearl, and all sorts and varieties of the most precious gems in the
world. He built eighty-four thousand kutagaras (pinnacled houses)
which were as beautiful as the palace bedecked with gems like those
just mentioned. He thought, “I would become a perfectly enlightened
one like Samitavi. Being erudite I shall descend on earth as governor
of gods and men. Bearing the thirty-two signs of a great man, versed
in innumerable Buddhist doctrines, endowed with the ten-fold power
of the Tathagata, having the four Vaisaradyas or subjects of
confidence, I shall console others and shall console myself, I shall
help people to attain Nirvana and myself shall attain Nirvana. I shall
do such deeds as will be beneficial to mankind.”
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“I shall move in this world with minds unaffected by worldly affairs
like this Samitavi and shall turn the wheel of law being worshipped
by gods and men.”

Then the perfectly enlightened Samitavi thought thus, “After how
long a time will Buddha be born? The Buddha is not seen in one
kalpa or in two [15] kalpas. He is seen once in a thousand kalpas.”
Then he became kind to all people. Five-fold Buddhacarya became
his essential duties. The five-fold Buddhacaryas are (1) to turn the
wheel of law as a duty, (2) mild behaviour towards mother, (3) mild
behaviour towards father, (4) conversion of people into the Buddhist
faith, (5) and celebration of the sprinkling ceremony of a prince.

Ajita

The Buddha named Ajita was of Maitra gotra in Bandhuma capital.
He invited the bhiksus and said, “A thought, when the Buddha will
be born, has crossed my mind. I want to live for thousands and
thousands of years: is there any bhiksu who likes to live with me?”

All of them cried out or replied “Lord! we shall be with you.”

When Vijitavi was ruling as cakravarti'’ and lord of the four island-
continents and as the conqueror of the four island-continents by
virtue of merit, the Perfectly Enlightened Samitavi was established
in the long course of life with the Sravakas (disciples). When he
came to know that the span of human life was limited and that
human beings are on the way to old age, disease and death, then
Samitavi with his disciples came to Jambudvipa and began to preach
religious counsels. Then Vijitavi got palaces built for the Perfectly

19 77,5
Universal monarch
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Enlightened Samitavi. Thus elapsed many a kalpa in prayer for
Perfect Enlightenment.

Thus I have [16] heard: the Lord was once staying on the Grdhrakita
mountain at Rajagrha. At that time Mahamaudgalyayana was
wandering for alms with his robes and alms-bowl. Desirous of going
to the sacred abode of the gods he went to the sky; the sons of gods
saw him come up the firmament. They went towards the spot where
Maudgalyayana was coming, and bowing down they took their seats.
They began to say thus in verse, “After a hundred thousand years
having acquired matured knowledge (Bodhi or enlightenment) the
Lord Buddha was born in the world.” Saying this the gods of the
holy abode saluted Maudgalyayana and took their seats on one side.
Then waiting for sometime on one side they disappeared. Then
Mahamaudgalyayana thought of various things and then
disappearing from that place he came to Rajagrha. Then after
wandering for alms in Rajagrha, he kept his robes and alms-bowl
and washing his feet he saluted the Lord, took his seat on one side
and narrated everything in detail. Then he said, “Lord! I put to you
questions regarding Perfect Enlightenment.” The Lord then said,
“Innumerable Tathagatas in innumerable kalpas (cycles) have
eradicated the (root or) principle of sin. They pray for the highest
enlightenment. I worshipped thirty kotis of Buddhas named
éﬁkyamuni with their disciples. When I was a Cakravarti king, these
Buddhas told me that I would become the ruler of gods and men, and
would be a Perfectly Enlightened Tathagata [17] Arahat. I know
hundred of thousands of Dipankara Mahabuddhas whom I honoured
with their disciples. They told me that I would attain Buddhahood in
the future. I know five hundred Buddhas named Padmottara; I know
eight thousand Buddhas named Paddyotas; I know three kotis of
Buddhas named Pugpa; I know eighteen thousand Buddhas named
Maradhvaja to whom I used to pray for the highest enlightenment,
practising Brahmacarya or restraint. They gave me much advice. I
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served five hundred Buddhas named Padmottara with their disciples.
I know nine thousand Buddhas named KaSyapa, fifteen thousand
Buddhas named Kaundinya and each and every one of the eighty-
four thousand Buddhas.

I know the Perfectly Enlightened One named Samantagupta,
thousand Buddhas named Yambuddhvaja, eighty-four thousand
Buddhas named Indraddhvaja, sixty-two hundred Buddhas of
different names, sixty-four Buddhas named Samitavi. I know the
Perfectly Enlightened Buddha named Suprabhasa where Maitreya,
Bodhisattva and Vairocana being Cakravarti, first uprooted the
three evil principles.”

Suprabhasa

When Suprabhasa became Tathagata, the span of human life became
eighty-four koti thousand years. Suprabhasa formed three Samghas
or assemblies of Sravakas or disciples. The first Samgha was formed
with ninety-six kotis of arahats, and the second with ninety-four
kotis of arahats. King Vairocana was delighted to [18] see
Suprabhasa. He served the Lord Suprabhasa for ten thousand years
and he too intended to be erudite and to attain the perfectly
enlightened Buddhahood. He thought of becoming a religious
teacher like Suprabhasa. He would do good to mankind. Being a
valiant Cakravartt, he served with a desire for Perfect
Enlightenment. On hearing those words Mahamaudgalyayana
praised the words of the Lord.

Ratna
“In ancient times,” — continued the Buddha Gautama, — “there was a

Perfectly Enlightened Buddha named Ratna. I was then a
Rajacakravarti. I got eighty-four thousand kutagaras built for that
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Buddha. Those kutagaras were set with seven kinds of precious
minerals such as gold, silver, pearl, gems (as sapphire, ruby), cat’s
eye, diamond, and coral. Thus serving the Perfectly Enlightened
Lord I was eager for knowledge. He told me everything about
Perfect Enlightenment. This is Pranidhicarya or practice of
profound meditation. “O, Mahamaudgalyayana, Anulomacarya is to
stay in an agreeable way for the understanding of the Bodhisattva.
Anivartanacarya is to understand the revolving in the circles of
transmigration. For this ten bhamikas * or stages are to be

practised.” [19]
Kagyapa

When the son of the Sﬁkyas, bright like gold, passed away, the earth
with her mountains shook. Then Kasyapa noticed this, and revolving
within himself as to why the earth had shaken found out that the
Buddha had attained Nirvana. He saw the Buddha attaining Nirvana
and the heavenly nymphs worshipping him and thought of following
the Buddha on foot rather than with wealth. With this thought
Kasyapa went with a sorrowful heart with many bhikshus. Then four
Mallas came with torch, but the torch was suddenly extinguished, at
this everybody was astonished and asked the reason for the torch’s
sudden extinction. When Kadyapa came there and bowed down to
the Buddha at the time of the cremation of his body, all who were
present began to give expression to their sorrow by saying that it was
no good to live in this world for a long time and that they too should
relinquish this body.

** The whole law of a Bodhisattva is divided into ten bhumis or stages. The
Mahavastu amply describes the system of bhumis. The most usual names
are: (1) Pramudita, Vimala, Prabhakari, Arcismati, Sudurjaya, Abhimukht,
Durangama, Acala, Sadhumati or Madhumati, and Dharmamegha. (See
JR.A.S., 1875, DasabhiimisSvara.)
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Then Kasyapa began to advise them that they should act up to the
behests of the Buddha, they should establish the wheel of religion in
the Saptaparna cave at Rajagrha in Magadha. Then all of them went
up to the sky within a very short time and came to the forest by the
side of a mountain and began to beat drums. At this all began to
assemble.

“For the good of gods and men,” said Kasyapa, “I shall be free and
shall free others, I shall establish the wheel of religion in Kasipuri
for the [20] good of gods and men.” The gods from the sky listened
to the various words of Kasyapa and said, “That’s good, That’s good.
Thus continues the rule of the Buddha. One who is engaged for the
good of mankind is an excellent man.”

Kasyapa instructed them regarding the five elements of being
(Paficaskandha). He regarded passion as a black serpent, and
instructed people regarding passion as such. He realised eternal
happiness. As a glow-worm loses its light with the sun-rise, so anti-
Buddhists lose their brightness at the rise of the Buddha-sun. God
acquires vision by virtue of the strength of the Jina (conqueror).
Then Mahamaudgalyayana called long-lived Mahakasyapa and said,
“0O, disciple of Buddha (Jinaputra), cause the doubtful mind of all to
settle.”  Mahakasyapa said to  Aniruddha, Upali, old
Alakundalabhathiya, and Sundarananda, “O, disciples of Jina
(Buddha)! Take care to study Psychology. Question every one as to
any doubt that may be entertained by him.” Then the disciples began
to study the minds of other people. Kasyapa said to Pranamvavahu
Vasibhiita, “I shall build a palace to accommodate eighteen thousand
people at the peak of the Grdhrakiita hill.” He said to Vicintaciita
Vasibhiita, “I shall create clouds of Ganges water in the sky.” He said
to Haryaksa Vasibhiita, “Practise self-concentration.” He said to
Varuna Vasibhiita, “Put an end to bitings and mosquitoes like
dissatisfaction of mankind.” He said to Ajakarna, [21] “Put an end to
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hunger, thirst, and disease.” The disciples of the Buddha praised
Kasyapa on hearing him and went away.

Then Thera Kasyapa said to Katyayana, “Narrate the biography of
great men.” Katyayana began to describe Buddhacarya or the career
of a Buddha, “There are ten bhiimikas or stages of the Bodhisattvas.
The first one is named Duraroha, the second Vardhamana, the third
Puspamandita, the fourth Rucira, the fifth Cittavistara, the sixth
Ripavati, the seventh Durjaya, the eighth Janmanide$a, the ninth
Yauvarajya, and the tenth Abhiseka.” Kadyapa again asked
Katyayana to describe the results of the aforesaid stages. Katyayana
said, “O, disciple! It is impossible to determine whether the stages of
the Bodhisattvas are ten only or innumerable. The whole world is a
stage by parts of the Bodhisattvas, so its name is stage (Bhiimi).”
Then a Jinaputra named Ananda said to Katyayana, “O, Jinaputra! If
one of the stages be immeasurable or unknowable, then how can
another stage be reached”? Katyayana replied, “It is the rule of the
Supreme One that immeasurable advices are imparted in
immeasurable kalpas. The wise Buddha by the influence of his
intelligence has exhibited these stages. The remaining stages are
known by slight hints.”

Those who are on the first stage, are seen to have eight-fold practices,
such as renunciation, kindness, complacency, humidity, proficiency
in all the $astras, [22] prowess, command of men, and patience.
Bodhisattvas attain the second stage only because of one reason
which is experiencing enjoyment. They stay at the second stage for
two reasons which are (1) absence of desire for sensual qualities, and
(2) freedom from living on the interest on capital.

Again for three reasons, the Bodhisattvas stay on the second stage, as
a Bodhisattva of the first stage attains the second stage in six
different ways; e.g., knowledge of impermanence.
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Thus after many words Mahakasyapa asked Mahakatyayana, “How
much merit arouses the desire to be a Perfectly Enlightened one?”
Then Katyayana said, “Such a sacred desire is cherished by those
disciples of Buddha who wishing to acquire perfect knowledge, give
charity to those endowed with ten potentialities in Jambudvipa,
think lightly of wealth, and do good deeds to mankind.”
Mahakasyapa asked Katyayana, “O disciple of Buddha! Do the
Bodhisattvas acquire by virtue of their merit the earnestness of
which you speak, or do they attain the above stage on the
development of the roots of goodness (Kusalamiila)?” Katyayana
said to Mahakasyapa in verse, “First, man worships Tathagata,”' does
not allow his mind to be attached to other things, then he thinks that
[23] he may acquire omniscience by virtue of the acquisition of the
roots of goodness. Let good or evil deeds done by me be passed
over.”

Then MahakaSyapa asked Katyayana, “What sort of strong prowess
is acquired by the Bodhisattvas?” Mahakatyayana said, “I shall not
withdraw the state of mind by which I have acquired knowledge of
perfection (paramartha). I shall not hesitate to renounce birth,
decrepitude, death, sorrow, and oppression. In this world work for
money produces sorrow. This is the prowess of the Supreme man.”

Mahakasyapa asked Mahakatyayana, “What wonderful virtue is
gained by the Bodhisattvas at the first stage of concentration?”
Mahakatyayana said to MahakaSyapa, “When supreme persons
acquire the practice of profound meditation, a lustre like that of the
sun shines. All sides are lit up. Gods begin to talk to each other thus:

I It means ‘one who has trodden the right path.’ Vide my paper on “Data
from the Sumangalavilasini, Buddhaghosa’s commentary on the Digha
Nikaya of the Sutta Pitaka.” (J.A.S.B., New series, Vol. XXI, 1925, No. L.
Article No. 10.)
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‘This person strives for being the foremost of men, is eager for the
good of the world. So we should always save him.” Kasyapa asked
Katyayana, “What sort of difficult acts are done by the Bodhisattvas
while on the above first stage?”

Katyayana began to reply to Kasyapa, Doers of wonderful deeds,
being established on the first stage, do not feel sorrow after giving
away wife, happiness, children, head, eye, and ample dress. Because
they are ready to be all-knowing. They use soft words to those who
are inimical towards them. They do not repent after giving any good
[24] thing. Their hope for worldly happiness disappears by virtue of
the rules of penance.

The Bodhisattvas even when suffering bodily injury do not cherish
anger; those who are foremost amongst human beings always think
of doing good at heart. For the good of humanity, people should
accumulate much merit. One should practise charity and be free
from jealousy; one should show his fitness for gaining entrance into
the paths with a mind well concentrated, one should not accumulate
merit for the enjoyment of sensual pleasures. Those who are
determined to be like the Buddhas should not be addicted to sensual
pleasures. A person should hanker after the noble truth giving up all
thoughts of earthly gain and honour. One should not covet the food
of others even if he is put to dire strait. One should not cherish
desires even if he is attached to the worldly life. Persons who are
well-versed in all religions, and who have inclination to perform
good deeds, are deemed to be good persons. In the Mahavastu, all
such persons are called by different epithets.

Persons who perform twenty-eight kinds of religious acts and who
are in the second stage, go to the third stage, e.g., (1) One who is
satisfied with the acquisition of small merit, (2) One who is not
jealous of others on account of his own form (beauty), etc., (3) One
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who holds garlands, garments, etc. Those who go from the second
stage to the third one are bent upon self-sacrifice. They exert for the
happiness of others and not for worldly [25] happiness. They
consider a good saying to be as precious as their son and wife.

A Brahmin went to a rsi named Naresvara and said, “There is a good
saying (Subhasita) which is equal in value to your helmet.” The king
took away his helmet and at his request the Brahmin communicated
to him the good saying which runs thus, “If a person who has
attained enlightenment and who is of good character, performs a
demerit, it does not look well.”

A raksasa went to a king named Surupa and said, “I have a good
saying which I can sell to you in exchange for your prince, wife, and
yourself.” It is to be noted that the raksasa would devour them all.
The meaning of that good saying is this, “It is better to stay in hell
which is full of lamentations than to associate with a bad person.” A
demon told a minister named Safijjaya, “Give me your heart and I
shall give you a good saying in exchange.” Safijaya consented. The
meaning of that good saying is this, “As fire cannot be extinguished
by grass or wood so desire cannot be removed by a person who is
steeped in worldly affairs.”

A poor man came to a banker named Vasundhara and spoke to him
thus, “There is a good saying which can be exchanged for everything
you possess.” The banker consented and requested the poor man to
relate the good saying which is as follows: “The place where a fool
dwells, appears to be empty even if it is inhabited by many men. [26]
But the place where a wild person dwells appears to be fully
inhabited even if it is actually vacant’.

A certain person went to a king named Surupa and offered to relate
to him a good saying in exchange for the continent of India. Surupa
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promised to hand over the whole of the continent of India to him. At
his request the following good saying was narrated: “The Tathagatas
appear in the place where pride, arrogance, etc., prevail in order to
destroy them.” A hunter told a deer named Sattara that if he could
offer him his flesh, he could tell him a good saying. The deer
consented and the hunter uttered the good saying which runs thus,
“Dust of good men is very wholesome, but a golden mountain is not
so, the dust removes sorrow, but the golden mountain increases it.”

A servant of a king, named Nagabhuja, told his master, “You can
have a good saying in exchange of the Empire of four island-
continents.” The king consented and the servant uttered the good
saying which is as follows: “A person feels slight pain if a hair of his
body be uprooted. Such is the nature of the evil deed of a wise person.
One should become the preceptor of the world by uprooting demerit
by wisdom and by acquiring purity.” Thus the foremost amongst the
conquerors performs many difficult deeds for the sake of good
sayings and thereby acquires fame.

Mahakatyayana questioned by Mahakasyapa, told him that a person
remaining in the third stage in fourteen forms goes to the fourth
stage, [27] e.g., one who is unattached to dice-play, etc., one who
finds delight in his own conscience, one who does not enjoy wealth
though he is possessed of it, etc. Mahakatyayana further said, “All
creatures traversing the path of intelligence like sages, having
acquired concentration of mind, enjoy all kinds of happiness.”

A Bodhisattva named Namatideva saluted the Blessed One and
uttered the following words: “One should salute a person who is
endowed with thirty-two signs of a great man, who is noble in
character, who has his senses under control, who is of serene mind,
who is worshipped by gods and demons. One should salute the sage,
who performs good deeds, who is compassionate and who has
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performed many good deeds in order to free himself from the
worldly tie. One should salute the great sage who belonged to the
Iksaku family and who enjoyed supreme happiness by renouncing
worldly life. One should salute the chief of the Sakyas, who after
giving up the Tusita heaven, entered into the womb of Queen Maya
and who was born later to save the creatures who are ignorant of
true knowledge.”

The Character of Bodhisattvas

“The Bodhisattvas,” said Thera Katyayana to Kadyapa, “never
disobey their parents and arahats. They never destroy stiipas, they
never cherish ill feeling towards the Tathagata, never perform evil
deeds, are not attached to the world. They never cut the leaves of the
tree which gives [28] them shade. They do not sing such incantations
as are destructive of human life. They never find much delight in
wealth nor are they overwhelmed with sorrow at the time of danger.
He who is the foremost amongst men performs deeds for the good of
the world. Up to the eighth stage, the jinas, i.e., conquerors, are
unknown as Perfectly Enlightened Buddhas. As soon as they attain
the eighth stage they take to deep meditation, they acquire supreme
knowledge and they obtain pure birth. Gods, brahmins, and demons
stand before them with folded hands on account of their virtues. The
Bodhisattvas who are supreme rulers advise the people not to kill
living beings and not to commit adultery. The Bodhisattva who is the
lord of four islands obtains seven treasures. He acquires cakraratna,
hastiratna, aSvaratna, turagaratna, maniratna, striratna,
grhapatiratna, and parinayakaratna. Then he rules the kingdom
righteously. The jinas who have acquired the fourth stage, pass on to
the fifth stage and acquire seven kinds of state therein. They do not
attach much importance to the bhikkhunis. They bring about the ruin
of good men and by means of the mantra they make others diseased.
Those among the Bodhisattvas are the foremost, who are possessed
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of real intelligence. Katyayana questioned by Mahakasyapa told the
name, family name and span of life of the Perfectly Enlightened
ones who acquired name and fame. In the Sakya family [29] there
was a Buddha named Yasovrata; he belonged to the family of
Gautama; he lived for six thousand years; his aim was to obtain the
noble truth, Paramartha, by the merit accumulated by charity to the
Arhat. There was a chief of men named SudarSana; he belonged to
the family of Bharadvaja. His influence extended over an area of ten
yojanas. He had many kotis of disciples. He acquired a long span of
life by subduing Mara. There was a cakravarti king named
Dharanidhara who told SudarS§ana that he would save the people who
were subject to old age and death. There was a Buddha named
Nare$vara. His influence extended over an area of ten yojanas and
he belonged to the family of VasSistha. At this time, the span of
human life was nine thousand years. There was a cakravarti king
named Apar3jita. He offered many monasteries to the chief of men
who was endowed with ten potentialities. He promised to acquire the
strength of a jina by means of charity. An officer named Vijaya
became a jina named Suprabha. He belonged to the family of
Kasyapa. His influence extended over an area of ten yojanas. He had
eighteen kotis of disciples. He invited the foremost of conquerors to
a dinner at his house which he accepted. There was a Buddha named
Ratnaparvata. He belonged to the family of Gautama. His influence
extended over an area of ten yojanas. At his time, the span of life
was for twenty thousand years. [30] At that time there was a king
named Accyuta who offered a thousand palaces to the Buddha and
made up his mind to become a saviour of the poor by means of
charity. There was a Buddha named Kanakaparvata. He belonged to
the family of Kaundinya. His influence extended over an area of six
yojanas; the members of his family were five kotis.

At this time there was a king named PriyadarS§ana. He was the lord
of four islands; he gave in charity his kingdom named
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Kanakaparvata to the Buddha, and he resolved to acquire the state of
the Buddha by means of charity.

Puspadanta of the Vatsa family

There was a Buddha named Puspadanta endowed with thirty-two
signs of a great man. He belonged to the family of Vatsa or Vamsa.
His influence extended over an area of nine Yojanas. He had thirty-
four kotis of disciples. At this time the span of life was fifty
thousand years.

At this time there was a king named Durjaya. With his family he
went to Puspadanta, worshipped him, and invited him to take his
food for a week at his palace. Thus having pleased him the king
made up his mind to become a Perfectly Enlightened Buddha like
Puspadanta.

Lalitavikrama of the Vasistha family

There was a Buddha named Lalitavikrama endowed with thirty-two
signs of a great man. He belonged to the family of Vasistha. His
influence extended over an area of seven [31] yojanas. He had thirty
kotis of disciples. At this time there was a king named Priyamanapa
who had a fourfold army. He built many small palaces made up of
various gems and a big palace. Later on he made up his mind to
become a Perfectly Enlightened Buddha in order to put an end to old
age, death, etc.
Mahayasa of the Kasyapa family

There was a Buddha named Mahayasa who was also endowed with
thirty-two signs of a great man. He belonged to the family of
Kasyapa. His influence extended over an area of fifty yojanas. He
had many disciples. At this time there was a king named
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Mrgapatis§vara who pleased the Buddha very much and made up his
mind to become all-knowing like the Buddha.

Ratnacuda of the Bharadvaja family

There was a Buddha named Ratnactida. His influence extended over
an area of one hundred yojanas. He belonged to the family of
Bharadvaja. He had many disciples. At his time the span of life was
eighty-four thousand years. At this time there was a king named
Manivisana. He built many palaces and offered them to the Buddha
Ratnaciida. For ten years continually be fed Ratnaciida. Later on he
made up his mind to save people who had given themselves up to
worldly affairs. Thus we see that the jinas having acquired fame
perform good deeds for the good of the world.

Mahakatyayana further said to Mahakasyapa, [32] “The jinas ascend
to the sixth stage from the fifth stage in four forms, viz., (1) living in
association with Yogacara, having been a follower of the Exalted
Buddha, (2) giving up sensation, etc., (3) acquiring tranquillity,
insight, contemplation, etc., and (4) contemplating with a
concentrated mind.”

Katyayana added, “The duty of a Buddha is to fulfil the Karma of
the Buddha which is difficult to perform. If a Buddha is incapable of
finishing all work, two Buddhas arise.”

Katyayana names a good many jinas (conquerors), e.g.,
Mrgapatiskandha, Sinhahanu who was endowed with thirty-two
signs of a great man, Lokaguru and he further names the Buddhas,
Jiianadhvaja, and Devanandita. There was a king named Kusa in the
seventh stage and he had a queen named Apratima. There was also a
king named Jathara who heard of Apratima and being desirous of
winning her, sent a messenger to King Kusa with a request to giving
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him Apratima who would be his wife, and if Kusa refused to do so,
he should be ready for a fight. Jathara further sent the message that
Kus$a should inform him what he would like to do, otherwise Kusa
would have to submit to him (Jathara). King Kusa told his wife all
about it. The queen shed tears and assured the king that she would
cut off the body of Jathara and would colour the earth with his blood;
she further said that she was aware of innumerable sorts of magic
and that Jathara was [33] insignificant to her. When Jathara entered
the harem of Kusa he submitted to Queen Apratima who placing her
right leg on Jathara’s bosom and her left leg on his whiskers
addressed him thus, “Oh, fool, have you not heard that a bee does not
suck honey from a flowery creeper which is already being sucked by
another bee? Don’t you know that a forest elephant does not come
forward to enjoy a lotus which is being enjoyed by another forest
elephant?” King Jathara prayed to the queen for protection and
implored her to show mercy to him. Thereupon King Kusa said to
his wife Apratima, “Oh, Queen, afford protection to this coward who
is begging refuge, for to give protection to one who seeks shelter is
the duty of a virtuous person.”

Formerly a naga king named Campaka was overpowered and
subdued by an ahitundika (snake-charmer). The naga king knew that
he could burn the ahitundika (snake-charmer) who had lost his
mantra and medicine, but he did not do so as he was pious.

Many persons named (1) Satyadharmavipulakirti, (2) Sukirti, (3)
Lokabharan, (4) Vidyutprabha, (5) Indrateja, and others were helped
to attain perfect enlightenment by the Lord Sakyasirmha.
Mahakasyapa once said to Mahakatyayana, “O, Jinaputra! Please
relate the wonderful events of those who have passed from the ninth
stage to the tenth one, have gone to Tusita heaven and desirous of
human life, are born of mothers.” [34] Mahakatyayana replied, “One
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may be perfectly enlightened while in the womb, while about to be
delivered or while being born.”

The Bodhisattva, seeing the people of the world blinded by delusion,
desired to be born on earth to save them, and thought within himself
‘who is that lady who shall bear me, who has so much excellence that
qualifies her to be my mother? With this thought he saw Mayadevi
possessed of this merit, in the harem of Suddhodana and addressed
the gods thus, ‘I shall be born for the good of the world’. With folded
hands, the gods said, ‘We shall not be able to stay without you. We
shall also live in the world to worship you’.

Thus the Bodhisattva entered into the womb of Mayadevi.

When the Bodhisattva stayed inside the mother’s womb, he
conversed with the gods. Celestial music regaled him in the womb.
Marks of purity became visible on the countenance of his mother,
Mayadevi, who informed Suddhodana of her intention to pass her
days in Brahmacarya, giving up malice and other faults. Celestial
girls with flowers and garlands came to Mayadevi, paid her homage
and said, “O, Queen, the Lord Bodhisattva resides in your womb.”
Conceiving the Bodhisattva the mother wore heavenly dress.
Hundreds of thousands of heavenly girls conversed with her. She did
not feel any pain due to child bearing. When she slept, heavenly girls
waited upon her.

When Maya’s conception matured in the tenth [35] month, she made
her desire of going to the Lumbini garden known to Suddhodana and
requested him to arrange for her conveyance. King Suddhodana,
according to Maya’s desire, made all arrangements and with his
retinue took her to the pleasure garden. When Mayadevi caught hold
of the branch of a Plaksa tree and yawned, hundreds of thousands of
nymphs came to her and said, “Today you will give birth to a son
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who will dissipate the fear of decrepitude and death’. Then
Mayadevi brought forth the Bodhisattva with ease. Eight thousand
gods in the guise of turbaned Brahmin astrologers came there and
sent word to the king through the warder. The gatekeeper spoke of
the greatness of the persons in Brahmin’s dress and said, ‘Methinks,
gods have come in the guise of Brahmins to see your son of great
radiance’. The king gladly allowed them to come in. He saw them
coming forward, got up from his seat with his company, and
welcomed them with salutes. Then he seated them with great honour.
Thereupon they explained to the king the necessity of their coming,
“A son, with all signs, has been born unto you. We can read signs.
We have come to see the child.” The king showed them the child.
They were very pleased and bowed down to the child who possessed
all the signs of a great man.

The Bodhisattvas are not subject to passion in the Tusita heaven.
Replying to the question about Rahula’s birth, Mahakatyayana
explained [36] to Mahakasyapa that the Bodhisattvas are not subject
to passion for many a reason; Rahula himself came down from the
Tusita heaven, and entered into the womb of his mother Yasodhara.

Then they described in verse the birth of the Bodhisattva. Then
Mahakatyayana said, “O, Mahakasyapa, Bodhisattvas get five eyes
such as (1) the human eye, (2) the divine eye, (3) the eye of wisdom,
(4) the eye of universal knowledge, and (5) the eye of a Buddha.
These five sorts of vision are their unique possession. When the
Bodhisattvas acquire omniscience, they retain the power of seeing as
far as they like because they have accumulated much merit. The
human eye has unlimited quality. The ways of the perfectly
enlightened one are beyond human knowledge. The human eye
resembles eyes of other creature in form and colour. The divine eye
of the perfectly enlightened one is brighter, larger, and more distinct
than the eyes of gods, Yaksas, Raksasas and terrestrial beings. It is
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engaged in ripa (form) springing from the mind. The mental
mastery over the ten forces is Dharmacaksu, i.e., the eye of universal
knowledge. The ten forces are as follows:- The knowledge of proper
and improper place is the first force; the knowledge of unknowable
intelligence that moves in all directions is the second force; the
knowledge of the world of different materials is the third force. The
knowledge of different stages of adhimukti or will is the fourth
force. The knowledge of the character [37] of other persons is the
fifth force. The force by which good or evil deeds are known is the
sixth force. The knowledge of the annihilation of Klesa is the
seventh force. The knowledge of dhyanasamapatti, i.e., the eight
successive states induced by the ecstatic meditation is the eighth
force. The knowledge of former states of existence is the ninth force.
The tenth force is that by which the sacred divine eye is obtained
and all evil passions (Kle$a) are annihilated.”

There are eighteen kinds of Buddha-Dhamma (qualities of a
Buddha).”

All the Exalted Buddhas are endowed with great virtue. The speech
of the Exalted Buddhas has sixty qualities, e.g., sweetness like that of
music, sweet tune like that of a seven-stringed musical instrument,
sweetness like the crackling of the swan, depth like that of thunder,
the note of a cuckoo, the sound of a chariot, etc. They give

2 These are known as 18 avenikadharmas or aveniyadharmas. They are as
follows:- (1) seeing of all things past, (2) of all things future, (3) of all
things present, (4) propriety of actions of the body, (5) of speech, (6) of
thought, (7) firmness of intention, (8) of memory (sati), (9) of
concentration (samadhi), (10) of energy (viriya), (11) of emancipation
(vimutti), (12) of wisdom (paffia), (13) freedom from fickleness or
wantonness, (14) from noisiness, (15) from confusedness, (16) from
hastiness, (17) from heedlessness, (18) from inconsiderateness (vide Kern’s

Manual of Indian Buddhism, p, 63).
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instructions in the true law. They are truthful, speak of Dharma,
Vinaya, etc. They are not attached to the worldly life although they
are in this world. They are beyond old age, sorrow, death, etc. They
are worshipped by all in this world. [38]

In the Grdhrakiita mountain, in the assembly of five hundred persons
who are controlled in their senses, instructions are given to the effect
that all beings should desire to obtain Buddhahood.

Formerly there was a cakravarti king named Arcimana. He had
seven gems, e.g., cakraratna, hastiratna, asvaratna, etc. He
conquered the earth with her seas, mountains, and islands. He had a
beautiful capital city named Dipavati. Sudipa was his chief queen.

The Bodhisattvas are born either in Brahmin or in Ksatriya families.
The family in which they take their birth is endowed with sixty
angas, e.g., that family is full of many men and women, is famous,
knows no fear, is full of enjoyments, firm in friendship, grateful to
benefactors, and so forth.

Dipankara Bodhisattva

The Bodhisattva™ Dipankara saw that Queen Sudipa was immaculate
and short-lived and that the span of her life was only ten months and
seven nights more, so he made up his mind to be conceived by her, as
one who would conceive the Bodhisattva would not be able to enjoy
sensual pleasures. Then Sudipa conceived Dipankara Bodhisattva.
When the tenth month became full and complete, Sudipa told her
husband, King Arcimana, that she would like to [39] go to
Padmavana. The king with his retinue took Sudipa to Padmavana.
As soon as the queen, while roaming about by boat in the tank in this

2 One who is destined to be a Buddha.
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vana, desired to descend from the boat, an island (dipa) sprang up.
The queen landed there and brought forth Dipankara Bodhisattva.

The queen Sudipa with the Bodhisattva was brought to the capital
city of Dipavati. The Suddhavasa devas came in disguise as
Brahmins and informed the king of the signs of greatness on the
countenance of the newly-born child. Being requested by the king
they named the boy, Dipankara. When Dipankara became a youth
the king built three palaces for the enjoyment of the prince. The
Bodhisattva went to Padmavana for enjoyment in the tank, there
were a good many objects of enjoyment but the Bodhisattva was not
attached to them. He became indifferent to the world and practised
samadhi or self-concentration to acquire divine insight. With a
concentrated mind in the middle watch of the night he began to
recollect his former births. After many years, Dipankara acquired
perfect enlightenment and in order to do good to the world he came
to Dipavatt with eighty thousand bhikkhus to show favour to his
father, Arcimana and relatives. King Arcimana approached to
welcome him and brought him to Dipavati. At this time being
charmed by the influence of Dipankara, a Vedic student, named
Megha, became his disciple. Megha’s class mate, named Meghadatta,
[40] who heard of Dipankara, told Megha that he would not be able
to follow him as he had not then completed the study of the Vedas.
Later, Meghadatta being enamoured of another man’s wife killed his
preventive mother and disclosed the facts of matricide to his mistress
who was alarmed to hear of this and forbade him to come to her.
Meghadatta then became attached to his step-mother and at her
instance killed his father.

All his relatives knowing everything shunned his company. Then he
removed to a different place. Once upon a time a bhikkhu who knew
about the family of his father went for alms to the spot where
Meghadatta had been staying. He was killed by the latter who feared
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that he might divulge everything concerning his character. In
consequence of all these sinful deeds Meghadatta was reborn in hell.

When the Lord Sﬁkyamuni, after attaining perfect enlightenment,
was turning the wheel of law, this Meghadatta was living as a
timingila (a fabulous fish of an enormous size) in the Ocean. When a
householder named Thapakarni was making a voyage, this fish was
about to swallow him up but Thapakarni was saved by the Buddha.
The fish, as soon as it heard of the name of the Buddha, remembered,
at once, all about Dipankara. By thinking about the Buddha at the
end of life it was reborn in a brahman’s family at Sravasti. When he
grew [41] up, he became a religions mendicant and disciple of the
Bodhisattva.

Mangala Buddha

After the Exalted Buddha, there arose another Exalted Buddha
named Mangala. The span of his life was hundred thousand crores of
years. He had three congregations of disciples. The first
congregation had hundred thousand crores of disciples; the second,
ninety crores of disciples; and the third, eighty crores of disciples.
Sudeva and Dharmadeva were two principal disciples and there were
also two chief female disciples named Sivati and Asoka. Mangala’s
father was a Ksatriya king and his mother was named Sit’.

There lived in Kundala near the Himalayas, a Yakst (ogress) who
had many sons who were sent to Vaisali to destroy the vitality of the
people. The VaiSalians gradually began to die of disease and were
eager to find out one who would be able to drive away the disease.
They thought about the matter and brought many notable persons
such as Kasyapapirana but in vain. They sent a deputation headed by
Tomara, a Licchavi chief of power and position ... and at the same
time of great learning, to Rajagrha to bring the Exalted One to their
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city. Tomara went to Rajagrha, fell down at the feet of the Master,
and sought his help with supplications, but he was asked to apply to
King Srenika Bimbisara who insisted on the condition that the
Licchavis must welcome the Buddha at the [42] border of their own
dominions and that he himself would follow the Great Teacher to
the boundaries of his own territory. To this, the Licchavis readily
assented and Bimbisara secured the consent of the Buddha to save
the Licchavis from the decimating disease.

The Magadhan king, to impress the Licchavis with an idea of his
power and opulence, had the road all the way from Rajagrha to the
Ganges, which formed the boundary between the two dominions,
levelled, rendered clean like the palm of the hand, decorated with
flags, garlands, and richly embroidered cloth; besides, the whole
road was watered, flowers were freely scattered upon it and the
smoke of rich incense perfumed its whole length. He himself
followed the Enlightened One with his whole court and numerous
retinue. The Licchavis both the Abhyantara Vaidalakas, the Vaisali-
cockneys proper, living within the walls of the city and the
Bahira-Vaisalakas, the people living in the outer town, the suburbs
and surroundings — came in all their splendour and magnificence, in
all the glory of their dazzling garments, blue, purple, green, yellow,
brown, and crimson; their appearance, as they approached was so
splendid and ravishing that even the Great Buddha was impressed
with the sight and said addressing the monks, “Bhikkhus, you have
never beheld before the Trayastimsa gods, as they go out of their
city, Sudarsana, to the garden. Behold now the Licchavis [43] of
Vaisali who equal those gods in their prosperity and splendour. Look
at the Licchavis with their elephants, with umbrellas of gold, their
gold-covered litters, their chariots decorated with gold. See how they
all come, both the young and the aged as also those of middle age; all
with ornaments on, with garments dyed crimson with lac and
advancing with various beautiful movements.” The Licchavis of
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Vaisali decorated the road from the Ganges to Vaidali with a
magnificence that left the preparations made by the Magadhan king
far behind, they provided for the comfort of the Exalted One and the
congregation of monks on a still more lavish scale. As soon as the
Enlightened One crossed over to the northern side of the river and
stepped on the Licchavi soil, all malign influences that had hung
over the country and were making a havoc among the people,
vanished, and the sick and the suffering were restored to health. The
Licchavis received him with all honour and reverence and guided
him to their city, by easy stages with all the comfort and
convenience that they were able to provide for him. Entering the
city, the Enlightened One uttered the Svastyayanagatha, the song of
welfare, or according to the Pali scriptures, the Ratana Sutta, he was
asked as to whether he would live among the people of inner Vaisali
or of outer Vaisali. The Exalted One would not live among either of
them but he accepted the [44] invitation of Bhagavati GoSrngT in the
Mahavana, the great forest, extending from their city far away to the
north.

The Licchavis who wished that the Exalted One would be induced to
live in their city, built the Kutagarasala, the peaked monastery, for
him in the forest and paid their respects to him there. They offered it
to him and the Buddhist congregation and he permitted the bhikkhus
to reside there. One day, the Licchavis on coming to the Mahavana
learnt that the Exalted One had repaired to the Capala caitya for
spending the day; they proceeded there and presented it to him and
the congregation of the Sravakas or Buddhist monks.

Similarly finding the Exalted One spending the day at the Saptamra-
caitya, the Bahuputra-caitya, the Gautama-caitya, the Kapinhya-
caitya, and the Markata—harda—tTra—caitya,24 the Licchavis made a

** Cf. Mahaparinibbana Sutta of the Digha Nikaya.
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gift of all these places of worship to the Exalted One and the
Buddhist Church. Next the courtesan, (ganika) Amrapali, made a gift
of her extensive mango-grove to the congregation and similarly
Balika made over Balika chavi.

Once upon a time the Buddha Gautama with a larger number of
bhikkhus was staying at Marakanda in the kingdom of Kosala. In the
evening the Blessed One coming out of the hermitage looked around,
went up and down, and laughed a [45] little. Ananda noticing this
came to the bhikkhus and said thus, “The Blessed One has laughed.
The Exalted Buddha does not laugh where there is no reason for
laughing. We shall ask the Blessed One about the cause of his
laughter.” The bhikkhus agreed to do so and went with Ananda to
the Blessed One and asked him about the cause of his laughter. The
Blessed One replied thus, “O, Ananda, the world which is before you,
is the Abode of KaSyapa, is the place where Kasyapa walked up and
down. It is in this world that three Tathagatas dwelt, namely,
Kakucchanda, Kanakamuni, and Kasyapa.” Hearing this, Ananda
saluted the Buddha and asked him to sit in the place as it would then
be connected with the incidents in the life of the four Tathagatas.
Ananda and other bhikkhus saluted the Blessed One and sat on one
side. The Blessed One asked Ananda, “O, Ananda! Are you willing to
listen to the religions discourse in connection with the former abodes
of the Tathagata?” Ananda replied, “O, Blessed One, This is the time
to listen to the religions discourse.” The Blessed One related the
following story: “O, Ananda”! At the time of Kasyapa Buddha, there
was a Brahmin village named Verudinga. There lived a potter named
Ghatikara. He was a great devotee of Kasyapa. He had a play-mate
who was also a brahmin’s son, named Jyotipala. Once the Blessed
One came to this Verudinga village with his disciples. Ghatikara
heard of this and he also [46] informed Jyotipala of this and asked
him to go with him to see Kasyapa. But Jyotipala did not give his
consent. Ghatikara thought of various means of bringing Jyotipala to
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the Buddha. Ghatikara took Jyotipala to a tank not far from the
place where Kasyapa was, with the intention of bathing in the tank.
They bathed in the tank and Ghatikara afterwards asked Jyotipala to
go to that part of the neighbouring forest where Kasyapa Buddha
was dwelling. Jyotipala refused to do so but Ghatikara holding him
by the neck said thus, “He lives in the forest, let us go to him and
worship him.” Jyotipala again refused to do so and left Ghatikara.
Ghatikara then followed him, caught hold of the hair of his hand,
and made special requests to go to Kasyapa. Jyotipala thought thus,
“Ghatikara, though he is of low birth, has caught hold of the hair of
my head not for a slight reason. It is better to comply with his
request.” Jyotipala then went to KaSyapa with Ghatikara and after
saluting him they sat on one side. Ghatikara requested the Buddha to
give some instructions to his companion, a brahmin’s son. The
Blessed One instructed Jyotipala in the three refuges and five
precepts. Jyotipala said to the Blessed One, “I cannot follow the five
precepts as I have got to kill a person.” Being questioned by the
Blessed One he answered thus, “This Ghatikara has caught hold of
my hair after my bath.” The Blessed One pacified him by his
religious instructions. Jyotipala [47] then promised to accept the five
precepts, and asked Ghatikara, “Have you properly realised religious
instructions of the Blessed One?”’ Ghatikara answered in the
affirmative. Jyotipala then questioned him, “It is proper for you to
accept renunciation.” Ghatikara replied, “I am the only support of
my parents and it is for this reason that I cannot accept ordination
from the Blessed One.”

Then Jyotipala began to hate the world and he told Ghatikara to go
to the Blessed One for ordination. At the command of the Blessed
One the bhikkhus gave him ordination.

Once upon a time Kasyapa was dwelling at Rsipatana Mrgadava
(Sarnath at Benares). As soon as King Krki heard the news, he sent a
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person to the Blessed One to request him to accept invitation to his
palace which the Buddha Kasyapa did.

The Blessed One was informed thus, “King Krki spent the night in
making ready the food for the Blessed One and reminds the Blessed
One of the invitation.” The Buddha Kasyapa went to the royal
residence at Benares with his disciples to take his food at the palace
of king Krki. The King saw him from a distance and saluted him. A
new palace was built at the royal city unused by the Sramanas and
the Brahmanas, and it was at this palace that Kasyapa took his
residence. The King brought food for the Buddha at this palace. The
king offered the food to the Buddha with his own hand and while the
Blessed [48] One was taking rest, he bowed to his feet. He requested
the Buddha to spend the rainy season at Benares and promised to
build an arama (hermitage), a thousand kutagaras, streets, etc. But
when the Blessed One did not comply with his request, the king gave
vent to his grief and afterwards implored him thus, “O, the Blessed
One! Have you got a disciple like unto me?” The Blessed one replied,
“I have a better disciple than you and he is the potter, named
Ghatikara of the village of Verudinga.” Ghatikara strictly followed
the ten precepts throughout his life. He never dug new land. He
made earthen pots with the earth taken from the land damaged by
water or by ants and placed them on the cross-way to be taken away
by the person who liked them and he was the only support of his old
parents. Once the Blessed One went to Verudinga and came to the
house of the potter to take food when he was not at home, his blind
parents offered soup and cooked rice to the Blessed One. The potter
afterwards returned home and was informed of the arrival of the
Buddha by his parents and became very much pleased. On another
occasion, grass was needed to cover up the forest hut of the
Tathagata, and the old parents of the potter were told by the
bhikkhus that they were in need of grass for covering the newly-built
hut. Thereupon the bhikkhus were permitted to take the grass and
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were further told that they might regard it as their own. The [49]
potter was not then at home. He afterwards returned and was
informed of the taking of grass by the bhikkhus and became very
much pleased. After hearing all this, King Krki thought that the
Blessed One was dwelling in his kingdom. The Buddha Kasyapa then
went away after giving religions instructions to the king.

Jyotipala made up his mind to become an Exalted Buddha like
Kasyapa for the good of the world. Kasyapa came to know of the
determination of Jyotipala and afterwards told him that he would
surely become the Exalted Buddha. Bhikkhu Jyotipala offered a
golden stool to the Buddha Kasyapa and thought within himself,
“Like Kasyapa, I shall attain perfect enlightenment and do good to
the world. Then gods and men will respectfully listen to my words. I
shall free myself and free others! Being consoled, I shall console
others! Abstained from worldly affairs I shall cause people to follow
my example, I shall cause the people to be established in the sublime
Dharma, I shall light the torch of Dharma, sound the drum of
Dharma, hoist the flag of Dharma, and blow the conch of Dharma. I
shall free the persons suffering in the six kinds of hell, viz., Safijiva,
Kalasttra, Sanghata, Raurava, Maharaurava, and Avici.” I shall give
instructions to people in Vinaya as the Buddha Kasyapa is at present
doing.”

2 For detailed accounts of these hells, vide my book “Heaven and Hell in
Buddhist Perspective”.
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[50] Kalyana was the son of King Sammata. Kalyana begot Rava.
Rava begot Uposadha whose son was King Mandhata. King
Mandhata had many thousands of sons and grandsons. Later on,
Sujata became king of the Iksakus, in the city of Saketa. The Iksaku
king, Sujata, had five sons, Opura, Nipura, Karakandaka,
Ulkamukha, and Hastikasirsa, and he had five daughters, Suddha,
Vimala, Vijita, Jala, Jali; Sujata had another son, Jenta by name,
born of a concubine, named Jenti, who served the king with the
devotion of a married wife. Sujata became pleased with her and said
to her, “Jenti, I will offer you a boon, whatever boon you pray for, I
will grant it.” She said, “O, king! Let me first consult my parents
before I pray for a boon to your Lordship.” She then asked her
parents who told her to pray for a village. But a shrewd Buddhist nun
counselled her thus, “Well, Jenti, you are a concubine. Your son will
not inherit any property of his father, what to speak of a kingdom.
The five legitimate sons of the king will inherit their paternal
kingdom as well as other things. You are promised a boon by King
Sujata who is a man of word. So pray for the exile of the five princes
and the appointment of your son, Jenta, as [51] successor to the
throne. After the death of the king, your son will be king of the great
city of Saketa and everything will be yours.” Jentl acted up to the
advice of the nun. King Sujata became much agitated in mind owing
to the affection for those princes. But afraid of the sin of the breach
of promise he granted the boon. The gift of the boon that with the
exile of the five princes, the prince Jenta, son of the concubine, was
to be installed as heir-apparent, was heard by the people of towns
and villages. Then the people appreciating the noble qualities of the
five princes became alarmed and said, “Wherever the princes will go,
we shall follow them.” King Sujata came to know that many people
of Saketa were going to the place of exile along with the princes and
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he ordered that elephants, horses, chariots, carriages, palanquins, or,
cars, or oxen or buff aloes or goats or sheep, etc., would be given to
those who would follow the princes. Under royal orders the royal
treasury was open to all the followers of the princes who got
everything that they asked for. The five princes along with many
thousands of citizens and thousands of chariots and carriages, went
out of the city of Saketa towards the north. They were cordially
received by the king of Kasi-KoSala. The princes were virtuous,
well-reputed, peaceful, and good companions. All the people of Kasi-
Kosala were charmed with the qualities of their head and heart. The
king of Kasi-KoSala marked his peoples’ [52] attachment to the
princes and thought that this might result in his own destruction and
in the enthronement of the princes. Thereupon he became envious
and drove out the princes from his kingdom. At the foot of the
Himalayas, there lived a sage, Kapila, who was possessed of five
kinds of supernatural knowledge and had attained the four kinds of
meditation. He was strong and noble in mind. His hermitage was vast
and charming. It had fruits and flowers and it was adorned with
good many plants and with a dense forest known as Sakotavana. The
princes went to this forest and settled there. Traders used to come
here from Kasi and Kosala. When asked by the people as to whence
they had come, the traders replied that they had come from a certain
part of the forest called Sakotavana. The people of Saketa too used
to visit the Sékotavana. Lest there should be adulteration of blood in
their clan, they married girls of their own clan and even their own
sisters. King Sujata asked his ministers as to the whereabouts of the
princes. The ministers told the king that the princes had settled in the
Sakotavana at the foot of the Himalayas. Then the king asked the
ministers, “Wherefrom did they bring their wives?” They replied, “It
was heard that for the fear of a mixture of blood in them, they
accepted their wives from among their own sisters by the same
mother so that there might not be any contamination in their own
race.” The purohitas and the learned [53] Brahmins were then asked
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by king Sujata whether such a custom was permissible. They replied,
“Yes, O king, that can be done, laws permit it.” Hearing this, the
king being pleased named them as the Sakyas. Sometime after, the
princes marked the increase in the population of Sakotavana and
thought of building another town. They then came to the sage Kapila.
Saluting him they said, “If your grace permit, we may build a city
here to be called Kapilavastu after your name.” The sage replied, “I
can permit it if you make this hermitage a royal residence and then
build a city.” The princes promised to carry out his wishes. The
hermitage was then given to them by the sage. The princes built a
city after making the hermitage of the sage a royal residence. As the
hermitage was given by Kapila the sage, it was known by the name
of Kapilavastu which was prosperous, wealthy, peaceful, where alms
were easily obtainable, where many people lived with their own
families, being happy. The people of Kapilavastu were fond of trade
and commerce. They were social and took part in festivities.

Of these five princes, Opura, Nipura, Karakandaka, Ulkamukha,
HastikaSirsa, Opura was the eldest prince. He was elected king of
Kapilavastu. Nipura was the son of king Opura and Karakandaka
was the son of King Nipura. Ulkamukha® [54] was the son of king
Karakandaka. Hastikasirsa was the son of Ulkamukha. Sinhahanu
was the son of Hastikasirsa. King Sinhahanu had four sons:
éuddhodana, Dhautodana, éuklodana, Amritodana,27 and a daughter,
named Amrta.

A daughter of a certain Sﬁkya noble who was handsome and
endowed with all good qualities, was attacked with leprosy. The
physicians treated her in vain, the disease being incurable. They

%% Cf. Dipavarhsa and Mahavarsa. Please refer to Dulva, the Tibetan
translation of the Vinaya of the Sarvastivadins.
7 Cf. the Mahavarhsa account.
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prescribed ointments and laxative medicines for her. Sores appeared
all over the body. The people began to hate her. She was taken by all
the brothers in a palanquin to a spot close to the Himalayas. They
dug out a subterranean room and she was left there with abundance
of food and water. They put planks to block the path leading to the
interior of the cave and the doors were closed and they put a big
heap of dust in front of the cave and then they returned to
Kapilavastu. Living in that stuffy room in the heat of the cave, she
was cured of leprosy. Her body became altogether soreless and she
regained her former beauty. A tiger got human smell, came towards
the cave, and began to throw off the heap of dust. Not far from the
cave lived a royal sage, named Kola, who was possessed of five
supernatural knowledges and had attained the four kinds of
meditation. His hermitage was full of vegetables, [55] flowers, and
fruits. It was very charming. The sage while wandering hither and
thither in the vicinity of the hermitage, came to the cave where the
Sakya girl lived. The tiger threw off the heap of dust with its legs,
leaving only the plank. The tiger was seen by the sage who
compelled it to leave that spot and go away. As the sage saw the tiger
throwing off the dust, curiosity arose in his mind. Then the plank
having been removed by the sage, the door of the cave was opened.
The éﬁkya girl was seen in all her great beauty. The sage asked,
“Well lady, who are you?” She replied, “I am the daughter of a
certain Sékya noble of Kapilavastu. Having fallen a victim to
leprosy, I have been left here to spend the rest of my life.” Seeing the
exquisite beauty of the éﬁkya girl he became very much attached to
her. Coming in contact with the éﬁkya girl, the sage lost the power
of meditation and his supernatural knowledge. He then went to the
hermitage along with the Sﬁkya girl who lived in the hermitage with
the sage Kola. Sixteen pairs of twin sons were born to them. Thirty-
two sons of the sage, when they grew up, were sent to Kapilavastu by
their mother who said to them thus, “Sons, go to the city of
Kapilavastu where live my father and your maternal grandfather.
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There the sons of such and such persons are your maternal uncles
and they are éﬁkya nobles and your relations. They will [56] provide
you with means to maintain yourselves.” She trained them thus in
the manners of the Sékyas, “You will approach a éﬁkya gentleman in
this way. This is the proper way to salute. In this way you should sit
down.” Having trained them in the manners of the Sakyas, they were
allowed to go. They saluted their parents, went round them, and then
went away. In course of time they reached Kapilavastu. They
entered Kapilavastu and impressed all with their beautiful
appearance. The vast crowd seeing the sons of the sage received
them and said, “These sons of the sage are beautiful and have plaited
hairs.” They went to the Mote-Hall of the Sﬁkyas surrounded by a
vast crowd. Five hundred éﬁkyas assembled in the Mote-Hall for
some business. They approached the Sa‘lkya assembly in the way they
were taught by their mother. The Sﬁkya assembly became astonished
to see the Sakya manners in them. The Sakya assembly asked the
sons of the sage thus, “Wherefrom do you come?” As instructed they
answered thus, “We are sons of Kola, the royal sage who has his
hermitage somewhere at the foot of the Himalayas. Our mother is
the daughter of a certain éﬁkya noble.” Hearing them, the Sﬁkyas
became pleased. Their maternal grandfather who was one of the
leading Sékyas and whose lineage was noble, was still alive. The
royal sage Kola gave his eldest son the kingdom of Benares and he
went out of [57] the kingdom for ordination. The éﬁkyas were then
very glad to learn that they were born of the royal sage and not of
persons of inferior rank. They said, “They must also be Sakyas. They
belong to the same caste to which we belong. Let them be given
gﬁkya brides, cultivable lands, and villages.” As the princes were
born of the sage Kola, they were known as Koliyas.

The gﬁkyas had a country named Devadaha where a chief of the
éﬁkyas named Subhuti married a Koliya girl who brought forth
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seven daughters, namely, Maya,” Mahamaya, Atimaya, Anantamaya,
Ciuliya, Kolisova, and Mahaprajapati. We have already told that the
Sakya king, Sinhahanu, had four sons among whom Suddhodana was
one. On the death of King Sinhahanu, Suddhodana ascended the
throne and he expressed his desire to his ministers to marry a
beautiful girl. The ministers sent some Brahmins conversant with the
study of signs on the person of human being, in quest of a beautiful
girl. The Brahmins came to Devadaha and selected Maya, one of the
daughters of Subhuti. King Suddhodana sent a message to Subhuti to
give his daughter Maya in marriage to him. Subhuti replied that he
had six other daughters who were older in age than Maya and after
giving them in marriage he would be able to offer his seventh
daughter to him, and Suddhodana [58] asked for the hands of the
seven maids. In compliance with his request Subhuti offered his
seven daughters who were brought to Kapilavastu from Devadaha by
Suddhodana. Among the seven daughters, Maya and Mahaprajapati
were kept in Suddhodana’s harem and the remaining five were given
to his five brothers. The Buddha Gautama was the son of Queen
Maya.

Gautama’s early life

While descending from the Tusita heaven, the Bodhisattva took into
consideration the proper time, country, continent, and family to be
born in. The Bodhisattva is generally born either in a brahmin
family when the Brahmins are supreme or in a Ksatriya family when
the Ksatriyas attain superiority. The family, which the Bodhisattva
would be born in, should have sixty well-known attributes. A
thousand gods brought four great kings to the Tusita heaven during
the Bodhisattva’ s descent, and said to one of them, viz., Bimbisara,
“Be born in Rajagrha. If you follow righteousness, then others will

¥ Cf. Spence Hardy’s Manual of Buddhism, p. 125 foll.
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do so.” Thus Abhaya, Sarthavaha, and other great Brahmins and
householders were born. The gods said to another king (Udayana,
king of the Vatsas), “Be born in Kausambi. If you follow rules of
discipline or humility then great men will do so.” The householder,
Ghosila, and other great Ksatriyas and householders observed rules
of discipline. Thousands of devaputras (sons of gods) were born in
different families of Brahmans, Ksatriyas, and householders in the
sixteen great [59] countries (mahajanapadas) to be the companions of
the Lord. The Bodhisattva cogitated about the persons fit to be his
parents. He thought of Suddhodana as a worthy father. He then
thought of the mother who should bear him. He resolved to be born
in the womb of a mother who is cheerful, kulin (of good family), of
pure body, and of short life, i.e., the span of her life should be ten
months and seven days only. The mother who conceives Bodhisattva
dies generally within seven days from the date of delivery. Thinking
of such a mother, Bodhisattva saw that the chief queen of
Suddhodana was endowed with the requisite qualities. He then
considered her worthy to be his mother. The Bodhisattva informed
the Devasamgha of his intention. The Devasarhgha® approved this
heartily and promised to descend to earth for the benefit of mankind.
The Assembly of gods began to sing hymns. While such discussions
were going on in Tusita heaven, King Suddhodana at the request of
his chief queen Maya, brought her to the well-decorated palace
named Dhrtarastra. The queen lay on her right side. Gods saw her
sleeping and came down to the top of the palace. They did obeisance
to her with folded hands. Daughters of gods with holy garlands came
there to see the Jina’s mother and from heaven they began to shower
flowers. All sides of the firmament were [60] protected by monsters,
serpents, Yaksas, and gandharvas. Desired by gods, the Lord came
down to earth. At this time, Maya dreamt that an elephant, with
good looks, a red head, and six tusks and of slow movement entered

* It means an assembly of gods.
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into her womb. The Bodhisattvas are generally conceived on the full-
moon night with the predominating star, Pusya. The Bodhisattva
created such a light as lit up the whole Buddha world. The
Bodhisattva descended and the earth quaked, but not a being was
injured. Indra and the other gods began to guard the Lord in the
mother’s womb. The next morning Mayadevi told her husband
everything about her dream. The king asked the fortune-tellers about
the significance of this dream. They said, “O Lord! A son of great
goddess will be born with thirty-two signs. If this child be a
householder, he will be a rajcakravarti, if the child enter into a
monastic order he will be the leader of the world.” Conceiving a
Bodhisattva, the mother feels happiness in every work. She does not
feel any pain resembling that of being pierced with a weapon. Poison,
fire, and thunder cannot injure her. Daughters of gods serve the
mother. She gets heavenly cloth, ornament, perfumes, garlands, and
pastes and is respected by the members of the family. The
Bodhisattva while in mother’s womb is not smeared with bile,
phlegm, and blood. His body is clean and washed. The Bodhisattva in
mother’s womb can see the mother who also can see the child like a
golden [61] idol. Gods come twice a day to hear of the happy day
and the happy night. The Bodhisattva too cheers them up by raising
his right arm. Thousands and thousands of nymphs dance and sing
songs before the mother of the Bodhisattva. Thousands of heavenly
daughters talk with her and fan her while asleep with a cluster of
coral trees (mandara). On the completion of ten months the mother
bearing Bodhisattva is delivered.

The sﬁkya Subhuti sent word to the king that the chief queen should
go to her parent’s residence for delivery. The king consented to the
queen’s departure. On the way, the royal party arrived at the
Lumbini garden which was full of sweet-smelling flowers. The air
was scented by the leaves of the Tamala tree, and filled with the
perfume of aguru and incense.
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Gods and their daughters repaired to the Lumbini garden with
scented garlands.

Mayadevi with her friends came to the garden in a chariot.
Thousands of country-girls and villagers stood there with folded
hands to wait upon her. The mother bearing a Bodhisattva did not lie
down or sit to give birth to child. She stood and gave birth to the
child. She felt no pain during delivery. The Bodhisattva appeared on
the right side. While born, he took seven steps and with a smiling
face he looked around. Heavenly flowers were showered upon him
from the sky. First the gods, then human beings took him on their
lap. [62]

The world became bright. There were two showers of water hot and
cold for Bodhisattva’s bath. Sons of gods held in the sky umbrella
bedecked with precious jewels.

By the influence of Sugata,’” the mother remained uninjured. Her
womb acquired its original form. Thousand sons of gods and nymphs
came there to worship the Bodhisattva. With the birth of Bodhisattva
there were born in Sakya family five hundred male children
foremost of whom was the beautiful Nanda, five hundred female
children foremost of whom was Yasodhara, the same number of
servants, the first of whom was Chandaka, the same number of
horses, Kanthaka heading the list, the same number of elephants the
foremost was Candana, and the like number of divine treasures.
King Suddhodana ordered his men to bring Mayadevi to Kapilavastu.
Visvakarma built a palanquin set with jewels. Four great kings came
there to carry the palanquin. The Bodhisattva with Maya got into the
palanquin. Mahabrahma, the lord, drove away the crowd. King
Suddhodana sent the child to gods to show respects to Abhayadevr.

* It is an epithet of the Buddha Gautama. It means Blessed One.
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Abhayadevi herself bowed down to the prince. With the birth of the
prince, King Suddhodana was successful in everything, hence the
prince was called ‘Sarvarthasiddha’. The prince entered the palace.
King asked his priest to find out Brahmins who were [63] skilful in
studying signs. The eight hundred sons of gods came to the palace as
brahmans skilful in reading signs. The king paid due respects to them.
They declared, “The prince has thirty-two signs.”

In the Vindhya hills, there lived with five hundred disciples a sage
named Asita versed in the Vedas. He noticed an earthquake,
flower-rain, and other miracles of the like, sat in meditation and
learnt that the Bodhisattva had been born. He came to Kapilavastu to
see the Buddha and was given a respectful ovation. Sage Asita shed
tears to see the prince. Questioned by the king, the sage said, “I hear
this prince will be Rajcakravarti, but he would not be so, I think. He
will be a Buddha. I am an old man. I shall not live so long. I shed
tears in sorrow as I shall not have the opportunity of hearing
Buddha’s religious counsels.”

Once the king went to the garden with the prince and other members
of the family. The prince noticed ploughing. A snake and a frog
were dug out by the plough. The prince threw away the snake that
was ready to devour the frog. This caused him to feel pain of body
and life. He at once began to brood over the question of the
renunciation of the world. He sat under the shade of a Jambu tree.
The shade did not move with the movement of the Sun. The king
searched for the prince at meal time. All quarters were searched and
the prince was found under the shade of the Jambu tree. The king
was informed [64] of it. He came there, found him in this plight and
bowed down to him. The king thought if the prince be meditative as
he was at the time, then the words of the sage Asita would turn out to
be true; he got a large harem built for the prince to keep him in his
house. He had various asokabhanda built and made a declaration
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throughout his kingdom that the prince would distribute ornaments
amongst girls. Let every girl come to the royal garden. Thousands of
girls came to the royal garden and received ornaments. Yasodhara,
daughter of a Sﬁkya named Mahanama, came there well-decorated.
Yasodhara did not come close to the prince through bashfulness.

On his attainment of Buddha-hood, the lord was asked by the
bhikkhus the reason for this. The Lord said that it was not merely at
this birth but in previous births as well that she did so.

Buddha’s renunciation and religious life

While at Srﬁvasti, the Lord Buddha once said to the bhikkhus, “I was
a very beautiful boy. My father, Suddhodana, had three palaces built
for me, where I was to reside during cold season (hemanta), the
summer, and the rains for my sport, dalliance, and walk. In these
palaces, there were gabled halls (kutagaras) with a covered porch
and scented with incense, covered with silk and satin cloth and
strewn with flowers. In the halls, there were various bedsteads of
gold, and silver set with precious stones, many pillows smelling
sweet scent like agurucandana; various fine cloths, garlands [65] of
campaka flowers; there was provision for dancing and singing,
musical instruments, trumpets; beautiful ladies. Horses, elephants,
and various other vehicles and saddle made of lion skin, various
umbrellas and all other articles of luxury were collected. There were
gardens on all sides, and round the gardens, lotus lakes, and other
lakes were dug out. High and big palaces were built. These were
provided for my pleasure. But living in a house seemed to me to be
confinement. I thought that salvation lay in becoming a religions
mendicant. It was not possible to practise Brahmacarya at home. So I
became a religions mendicant. I caused my parents to weep,
renounced the imperial throne, accepted the life of a mendicant, and
proceeded towards Vaisali.
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In Vaisali there was a brahmin named Arada Kalama who instructed
his three hundred disciples on Dharma. He used to say to Sravakas™
and Brahmanas, ‘See and Sacrifice’ (paSyatha, paSyatha, prajahatha,
prajahatha). The disciples too used to say, ‘we are seeing and
sacrificing’. I became a disciple of Arada-Kalama. In a very short
time, I found out that the dharma taught by Arada Kalama could not
bring out an end to all suffering. Then with a view to acquire
something higher, I proceeded towards Rajagrha. On arriving there,
I heard of Udrakaramaputra who used to instruct seven hundred
disciples on dharma. [66] I became his disciple. By dint of
perseverance, I learnt dharma in a very short time and realised that
his dharma too was incapable of putting an end to misery. Then I
went to Gaya.

While roaming on the GayaSirsa mountain three unheard of
analogies crossed my mind.

The first simile:- As a man desirous of getting light cannot produce
fire by rubbing one wet wood against another wet wood inside water,
so a person with passionate thoughts does not become respectful to
one who is with passionate mind and body. He suffers misery only.
He cannot acquire knowledge.

Second simile:- As a man desirous of getting light cannot produce
fire by rubbing one wet wood against another wet wood on the
ground, so a person with a passionate mind does not become
respectful to one who is free from passion. He suffers only and
cannot acquire knowledge.

Third simile:- As a man desirous of getting light can produce fire by
rubbing one dry wood against another dry wood on the ground, so a

*I It means disciples. In Pali it is savakas.
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passionate man becomes modest to one who endures severe physical
pain and whose mind and body are free from passion. He can acquire
knowledge.

I thought I too should go on with mind free from desire and body
free from passion. The passionate would be humble to me. I should
endure severe physical pain. I should be able to acquire the best
knowledge for a man.

Thus resolved I proceeded towards Uruvilva. [67] There I saw
nicely-looking roots, pleasing lakes, plain grounds, and the
sanctifying water of the Nairafjana river. I was delighted. There I
began to practise austerity. I suppressed my body by mind in such a
way that perspiration came out of my face and forehead and fell on
the ground. Sweat streamed down the outskirts of my cloth.

I began to practise Asphanaka meditation. I stopped breath through
mouth and nose. I heard inside my ears a great sound like a
blacksmith’s pitcher. I confined the air in the holes of my ear. This
air struck my brain like the sharp instrument of the butcher striking
the head of an ox.

I ate only one plum. My body became so lean that ribs could be
counted, the spinal cord could be seen, eyes sank to their sockets, the
head became dry, the colour of the body became black. Somebody
became accomplished by living on rice only. I too began to eat rice.
Body became lean as before. Depending on Sesamum only, my body
became lean as before. I stopped that for ever and my body became
more lean. Then it struck me that this was the utmost limit to be
reached by penance; nothing further than this could be attained.
Perfect knowledge was not to be acquired through this path. I
thought that the delightful first penance which I acquired
underneath the cold shadow of Jambu tree from sin and desire just
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before the retirement of the world, is the best road to the acquisition
of knowledge. [68] Such a penance was not possible for a weak man
in starvation. Then I began to take juice of pulse.”

My appetite increased. I got strength. I took honey and rice boiled in
milk, (i.e., payasa) and came to the banks of the Nairafijana river.
My body became cold after a bath in Nairanjana. I took some grass
from a grass cutter, prepared a cushion before the Bodhi tree which I
circumambulated and I took my seat there. I attained the first stage
of meditation and roamed about with a mind free from passion and
sin. On the cessation of Sabitarkavicara (determination of truth after
discussion), mind got delighted. The second stage of meditation was
reached. Then embracing renunciation, I neglected delight (priti)
and attained the third stage. Pleasure and pain came to an end.
Affection and affliction disappeared. The fourth stage, viz., that of
sukha, upekkha, and smriti, was reached. Then I could see
everything with spiritual eyes. I found certain people going to hell in
consequence of their evil deeds and others to heaven by virtue of
good deeds. Then I remembered the events of my past life. Events of
hundreds of my previous births were vivid. At the end of the night,
at sunrise, all that were worthy to be known, got and understood,
came to my knowledge. I acquired Perfect Enlightenment
(Samyaksambodhi). [69]

Suddhodana saw in a dream an elephant bedecked with gems,
standing on the road in the midst of the city. Seeing this, he laughed
and wept in his dream; his body trembled and suffered a scorching
pain. The lokapalas asked the King not to be afraid and explained to
him the significance of this dream. “In order to impart knowledge to
many people”, they said, “a son has been born to you, endowed with
various qualities. He will give up the kingdom. Worldly miseries will

2 Mug, Kulattha, and Harenuka
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then disappear. This is the meaning of your laugh in the dream. The
effect of your crying in the dream will be that your son will attain
jinahood, he will obtain eternal bliss, and conquer all the enemies.”

The Buddha’s mother’s sister, too, saw in a dream a white coloured
bullock running in the city of Kapilavastu making a pleasing sound.
The king of the gods came and told her that the chief of men,
Sarvarthasiddha, will leave this world and will obtain Nirvana.

Yasodhara saw in a dream a heavy shower of rain in the royal
family and as the result of that shower, everybody was refreshed.
Brahma came and told her that the Buddha would give happiness to
all people by his instruction and he would preach the incomparable
Dharma.

The Bodhisattva dreamt five great dreams. In the first dream, he saw
that this world was his bed, the mount Sumeru was his pillow, and
his left hand was on the eastern ocean while his [70] right hand was
on the western ocean, and his feet were on the southern ocean. In
consequence of this great dream, he attained perfect enlightenment.
In the second dream, he saw that a grass named Khirika originated
from his belly which spread all over the sky.

The Buddha after having acquired the supreme knowledge turned
the Wheel of Law at Rsipatana Mrgadava in Benares. That is to say,
he preached the four noble truths, suffering, origin of suffering,
cessation of suffering, and the path leading to the cessation of
suffering. Not a Sramana, brahmana, or deva, or mara, or any other
person did turn the wheel of such a dharma. This dharma was
preached for the good of humanity at large. The devas, the four
maharajikas, and the gods of the Tavatimsa, Yama, and Tusita
heaven began to praise the Buddha. This was the consequence of the
Buddha’s second dream. In the third dream he saw many red-
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coloured creatures with black heads covering him up to the knee.
This dream was interpreted in this way that many people followed
the religious path shown by him and went to heaven after death.

In the fourth dream he saw four birds of various colours came from
the four directions through the sky and became white after touching
his feet. It was interpreted thus. The Brahmins, the Ksatriyas, the
VaiSyas, and the Sadras became liberated after having accepted his
dharma. In the fifth dream he saw that he was roaming about [71] on
the Mila mountain of great height. The effect of this dream was that
he was honoured everywhere and everybody embraced his doctrine.

The Bodhisattva thought that it was difficult to practise celibacy
while leading a household life. He determined to renounce the world.
He informed the king of his determination. Suddhodana tried his
utmost to induce him to give up his determination. He also told the
prince that he would be cut up with grief and his mother would die if
the prince would renounce the world. He then asked his son to
practise dharma at home. He sent for five hundred kings who came
and asked the prince not to renounce the world. The Bodhisattva told
the kings that he would not leave the world if his father could stand
as a surety against four things. The kings said this to King
Suddhodana who wanted to know the four things. The Bodhisattva
prayed to his father (1) for everlasting youth so that old age might
not seize him; (2) for perpetual freedom from disease; (3) for
immortality so that death might not carry him away; and (4) for
eternally living in riches so that misfortune might not afflict him.
Gods heard of this and were greatly delighted. King Suddhodana
said to the prince with an aggrieved heart and tears in his eyes that it
was not unknown to the prince that worldly creatures were not free
from old age, disease, death, and distress. Then the prince assured
the king that he would not leave the world if the king could [72]
stand as a surety against three things, viz., my passion (kamaguna)



II: Gautama the Buddha — 69

might be celestial, always pleasant and beneficial. The king said that
in this world kama (sensual pleasure) was not pleasant and beneficial.
Then the prince asked the king to be a surety against two things, viz.,
pride and appropriation from which he desired to be free forever.
The king said with tears in his eyes that he had never heard of this
and he expressed his inability to be a surety. The prince then
requested the king to guarantee at least one thing, viz., that during
his residence there in that great palace his unrestrained mind might
remain under his control. King Suddhodana, unable to comply with
his request, began to shed tears. Bodhisattva said thus,— “There is no
doubt that I shall be free from old age and death, from the fear of
affliction and that I shall acquire perpetual happiness. Please drive
away your grief and be patient.”

Thereafter, the Bodhisattva began his meditation under the shadow
of a Jambu tree. King Suddhodana noticed this and thought that the
words of the sage, Asita, would be fulfilled if the prince were
devoted to peaceful meditation. He made up his mind to build a
spacious harem with beautiful gardens where the prince would be
immersed in sensual pleasures and would never think of
renunciation. The king carried out his resolve. He brought a large
number of women and built many pavilions which were decorated
[73] with flowers and gems. The king asked the women to engage the
prince with dancing and music so that he might not think of
renunciation. The prince did not find delight in dancing and music.
He became disgusted with the world. His mind was greatly agitated.
He did not find delight in beautiful women. The king entered the
harem and enquired about the health of the prince as there was no
music going on there. The king was informed by the goddess of the
Lumbinivana from the heaven that the prince was not attached to the
world, he would soon cut off the tie and repair to a forest where
penances were practised. Even surrounded by women in the palace
he was thinking of the impermanence of the body. The king became
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sad and went to the prince and enquired of him whether he was
keeping well and why he was sitting there with a pale face, full of
sorrow. The prince said, “I find disease in body; disease attacks
recovery (arogya), death attacks life. All sarhkharas™ (confections)
are subject to decay. Life is decaying, season after season, year after
year; death becomes imminent. This is the perturbed state of health.
I also find the impermanence of wealth; wealth is something like
illusion; it deceives people and brings about quarrels. There is no
permanent stability of wealth.” The king said, “Son! Don’t think of
this. You are now young. Engage yourself [74] in kingly duties, find
delight in the spacious harem, do not think of renunciation.” The
prince replied, “Father, if you can grant me the eight boons, I shall
never think of this.” After the king had promised to grant the boons,
the prince enumerated them thus, “Old age should not attack my
youthful days; let not disease attack me who am now free from
disease, let not death attack me who am now alive; never should
there be a separation between yourself and myself; let not all our
relatives share suffering in this world; let all persons be free from
suffering, let me not be subject to birth, old age, and death. The king
replied, “I have no such power, my ancestors, King Drdadhanu,
Nisantayu, Yugandhara, and others, too, had no such power.” The
king then told the prince to renounce the world after his (king’s)
death. But the prince said, “Father, you will find me perfectly
enlightened, free from desire, suffering, and sorrow during your
life-time.” The king failed to win the prince over to his side with the
help of women who were dancers and musicians. Even the palace,
like the abode of gods, could not please the prince. The prince took
the world to be a stage. He said to his father thus, “If there were no
old age, disease, or death in this world, if there had been eternal
happiness in this world, if there had been no eternal fear in this
world, then and then only he would have been attached to this world,
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otherwise not.” The king could not change the mind of [75] the
prince in any way. He determined to bring all the girls of
Kapilavastu before the prince to captivate his mind. The prince
expressed his desire to see the girls. By the king’s order the path
leading to the garden was decorated, well-scented, and royal officers
were stationed at different places and arrangements were made to
prevent old, diseased, blind, and other disabled persons from coming
in front of the prince. The prince started towards the garden in a
carriage decorated with seven kinds of gems. The subjects welcomed
him with folded hands and various kinds of scents and powders were
showered wupon him. The guddhﬁvﬁsadevaputras and other
devaputras placed a worn-out person on the way. The Bodhisattva
seeing this old man with grey hairs, bent down and walking with the
help of a stick asked the charioteer thus, “Who is that person?” The
charioteer replied, “That person is old and has acquired this state due
to old age.” The prince said to the charioteer, “We shall be subject to
such old age. We cannot do away with it. If old age comes, then what
is the use of enjoyment in the garden? Turn back the chariot, I shall
not go to the garden.” The prince returned and the king was
informed of the cause of the prince’ s returning home. The king
made especial arrangements for dancing and music in the palace. But
the prince did not find delight in them. He began to think of that old
person. On another day, the prince [76] again wanted to go to the
garden. The king arranged that there should be no horrible sight in
the path leading to the garden. The éuddhﬁvﬁsadevaputras and other
gods created in that path a diseased person whose hands and feet
were thin, face pale, belly inflated, and water streaming down the
belly. The Bodhisattva seeing him asked the charioteer “What is
this?” The charioteer replied, “This person is diseased. What is the
good of knowing him. Let us go to the garden.” The prince replied,
“What is the use of staying in this world where there are old age and
disease? I shall not go to the garden. He returned home and began to
think of the old and diseased persons. The king tried his best by
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music and dancing to attract his mind but in vain. Again he wished
to go to the garden. The devaputras this time created a dead person
in the way. The dead body was being carried and placed on a
bedstead. The relatives were carrying it and crying. Some were seen
striking their breast, some were seen uprooting the hair of their
heads, and others were lamenting. Seeing this sight the prince
became moved. On enquiry, he learnt from his charioteer that the
deceased could no more see his parents, brothers, and others, nor
would he be able to see the Jambudvipa. The prince began to think
thus, “Death is no friend of or enemy to anybody. As seasons change
regularly so does death approach. All are equal in the eye of death. It
levels equally the rich and the poor. [77] Where is happiness in this
world where there are old age, disease, and death?” The prince did
not proceed further but he returned home.

Once more he desired to go to the garden. This time he saw on the
way a yellow-robed monk with senses controlled. The prince asked
him about the cause of his renouncing worldly life. He (the monk)
replied, “He has renounced the worldly life to control his own self
and to attain parinirvana.” The prince became pleased with him. At
this time, Ananda’s mother named Mrgi, a Sakya girl, came to the
prince and told him, “Your parents are happy (nirvrta)** and the girl
whose husband you would become is also happy (nirvrta).” The
prince heard the word “Nibbuta” and took it in the sense of Nirvana.
He began to think of Nirvana only and could not see Mrgi nor could
he hear her word. King Suddhodana built a big door named
Sadvalaka for the palace. Five hundred persons were needed to open
the door. The opening of the door produced a sound that travelled to
a distance of a yojana. Five hundred kings surrounded the city so
that the prince might not go out of the palace. King Suddhodana
began to make arrangements for anointing the prince on the day

** Nibbuto (in Pali) — one who is calmed. It means Nirvana.
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when the star named Pusya would predominate. The prince, too,
thought of renouncing the world at the same time. Sons of the gods
came to him and reminded him of renunciation. Unless he set out he
would be a [78] religious sovereign of the four islands. The four
great islands, viz., Jambudvipa, East Vedeha, Aparagodanika, and
Uttarakuru would be under his rule.

Rahula entered the womb of Yasodhara in the middle watch of the
night, having fallen from the Tusita heaven. The Bodhisattva awoke
and saw all sleeping in the harem. Some were seen sleeping with lute
on their lap, some embracing the musical instrument, some placing
the musical instrument on the head, and some embracing one
another. Some were sleeping with saliva coming out of their mouth.
The harem appeared to him to be a cemetery. He rose up from his
bedstead. He took a fine Kasi Cadar (cover) and asked Chandaka to
bring the horse, Kanthaka. Chandaka tried his best to induce the
prince to reconsider the matter. The prince refused to take his advice.
Chandaka brought Kanthaka shouting at the top of his voice with the
object of causing the king to awake. But through the influence of the
gods none awoke. Kanthaka, too, made a loud noise. The
Bodhisattva rode on the horse Kanthaka and marched on. Showers
of flowers poured forth from the sky and the heavenly nymphs
began to sing songs. The Yakkha, named Supratisthita, with a
retinue of five hundred, opened the door, named Sadvalaka, without
any sound. The Bodhisattva renounced the world, while young and
not old, keeping sound health and not suffering from ailment, in the
enjoyment of riches and not in poverty, having many relations and
not bereft of [79] kinsmen. At the time of his departure from the
palace all the mountains trembled, the ocean became agitated, and
gods poured forth sandal-powders. The whole earth was lighted.
Darkness was dispelled and all beings were filled with joy. Only the
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abode of Mara® remained gloomy and his heart appeared to have
been struck with an arrow. The sun, the moon, the stars, and the
heavenly abodes became purified. All people began to worship the
Bodhisattva. Both gods and men welcomed him. The Bodhisattva
came out of Kapilavastu and said, “I shall go to hell and take poison,
yet I shall not return without overcoming old age and death.”

The Bodhisattva was brought to Anomiya, a city near the hermitage
of Vasistha in the Malla-kingdom™ to the south of Kapilavastu at a
distance of twelve yojanas. Here the Bodhisattva made over to
Chandaka his garment, the horse Kanthaka, and the umbrella, and
asked him to convey his good news to Mahaprajapatt Gautami,
father guddhodana, and his relatives, and to inform them that he
would come back to them after having been successful in
establishing the best religion.

The Bodhisattva cut off his hair with his sword. The hair was
brought by Indra and worshipped in the Tavatimsa Heaven.
Kanthaka began to lick his feet. The Bodhisattva did not wait but he
went on. The Bodhisattva sent good news to all except [80]
Yasodhara. The Blessed One was asked by the bhikkhus why he did
not care for Yasodhara. The Blessed One replied that not only in that
life but also in previous births, he did not care for her. As requested
by the bhikkhus, the Buddha narrated the éyﬁma and the
Campakanagaraja Jatakas.

The Bodhisattva having renounced the world, Chandaka and
Kanthaka returned to Kapilavastu from Anomiya. King Suddhodana,
Yasodhara, and others wept in the palace. Chandaka related
everything to them. Kanthaka being cut up with grief, died and was

* Mara is the Buddhist Satan.
*® Vide my “Some Ksatriya Tribes of Ancient India” — Mallas.
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reborn as the son of god Sikhandi and enjoyed celestial bliss. (Cf.
Kanthaka Jataka.)

The Suddhavasa devaputras (gods dwelling in the Suddhavasa
heaven) created a yellow robed hunter in that forest. The
Bodhisattva went to the hunter and gave to him his Kasi cloth in
exchange for his yellow robe. Then the Bodhisattva entered
Vasistha’s dharmaranya and the hermitage of VaSistha became
illuminated. VasSistha seeing him became astounded. The disciples of
the sage gave him various fruits to eat. Questioned by Vasistha, the
Bodhisattva spoke out his identity and told him the object of his
becoming a religions mendicant. VaSistha blessed him. The
Bodhisattva then went to Vai§ali and accepted Arada Kalama as his
guru. He considered the dharma instructed by Kalama to be
unfavourable for the attainment of salvation. So he went to Rajagrha
where the king of Magadha saw him on his round for alms. The king
was [81] charmed by his handsome appearance and after enquiry
came to know that the Bodhisattva was dwelling at the Pandava Hill.
The king of Magadha with his officers approached the Bodhisattva,
sat at his feet, and asked him who he was. The Bodhisattva spoke out
his identity and told him the object of his renouncing worldly life.
The king requested him thus, “After acquiring perfect knowledge,
please come and give me instructions in the dhamma.” The
Bodhisattva promised to do so. Then Bodhisattva accepted Udraka,
son of Rama, as his guru, but he left him considering his instructions
in the dhamma to be of little aid in obtaining Nirvana. He came to
Gaya where at the Gayasirsa mountain three similes crossed his
mind. He then went to the village of Uruvilva from Gayasirsa.
Purana Kasyapa, too, came to the same village for alms. The
Bodhisattva went to the house of a village headman for alms. Sujata,
the daughter of the village headman, together with her husband
stood in front of the Buddha with eyes full of tears. Sujata offered
the Buddha honeyed rice-gruel. The Buddha asked her the object of
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her offering. Sujata said that Suddhodana’s son, Gautama, had
renounced the world for six years. She had made this offering
wishing the fulfilment of his mission. At this very moment a celestial
voice said, “Sujata! This is the same Gautama.” With folded hands
and trembling body, Sujata said, “For six years I did not sleep
thinking of your austerity. To-day [82] my mind is satisfied.” The
Buddha said, “You were my mother in 500 previous births.” The
Bodhisattva went out of Uruvilva with a pot full of cakes. But
Purana Kasyapa’s pot always remained empty. He was asked by the
Bodhisattva as to how much alms he had received. Kasyapa said that
he had not received any alms in the sinful villages, namely,
Praskandaka, Vatakalpa, Ujjamgala, and Jamgala. The Bodhisattva,
however, said that he had received plenty of alms in these gentle
villages.

On Bodhisattva’s renunciation of the world, King Suddhodana daily
used to get news about him wherever he happened to be. Once the
Bodhisattva stopped inhalation and exhalation, the messenger
thought that he had breathed his last. The king was informed
accordingly, and he believed that the prince could not die as he was
showing wonderful signs since his birth. The king thought that most
probably he had become absorbed in meditation and the messengers
had taken him to be dead. The king asked the messengers to enquire
once again. They again came to Uruvilva and were astounded to see
the prince in good health.

The bhikkhus asked the Buddha why King Suddhodana did not
believe that he (the prince) had died. The Buddha replied that
formerly King Suddhodana did not believe that (Cf. Sye‘lmaka
Jataka).

The Bodhisattva, white at Uruvilva, practised severe austerities. For
eighteen months he used [83] to take one plum daily, for a further
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period of 18 months, he used to take one sesamum seed daily; for 18
months more he used to take one grain of rice every day and for 18
months he did not take anything. He became lean and thin. His body
became so weak that death seemed to be imminent. Devas, asuras,
and men became amazed to see his severe austerities. King
Suddhodana, Mahaprajapati Gautami, Yasodhara, and the Sakyans
became very much anxious to hear of the severe austerities from
messengers. Yasodhara gave up food, put on ordinary clothes, and
spent her days lying on bed of grass. When the Buddha was engaged
in giving religious instructions at Rajagrha, King Suddhodana sent
there Chandaka and Kalodayi as messengers. They went there and
requested the Buddha to be compassionate to his relatives. The
Blessed one asked them to accept ordination. They assured him that
they would comply with his request by the permission of the king.
Then at the will of the Buddha, the householder’s mark on them
vanished and there appeared monks’ robes and alms-bowls.
Chandaka and Kaloday1 then accepted ordination.

UdayT informed the Buddha about the severe vow of Yasodhara. The
bhikkhus asked the Buddha why Yasodhara was so much attached to
him. The Buddha then related the Mrgaraja Jataka and intimated
them that in previous births she was also attached to him.

The Bodhisattva was engaged in severe austerities [84] near the bank
of the Nairafijana river in a forest at Uruvilva. At that time Mara
came and told him thus, “What is the good of renunciation? Be a
householder, you will be a supreme ruler and by performing the
Asvamedha sacrifice and such other sacrifices you will accumulate
much merit. Renunciation is very difficult.” The Bodhisattva replied,
“I don’t want merit, I am not immortal, I am subject to death. I shall
attain salvation by leading the life of a Brahmacari. A river may be
dried up by wind yet my blood cannot be dried up; let my body be
dried up, my mind will still be pleased. Recollection, vivacity, and
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meditation must exist. If I attain the excellent path, I shall surely
attain purity of Sattva (soul). My desire, strength, and wisdom have
not decreased. If I do not attain the way to Nirvana at the foot of the
Bodhi tree, Mara’s army will not be destroyed. Victory is attained by
the strong only. I shall destroy Mara’s army by my wisdom. Boy or
unwise person commits mistakes.” Listening to the words of the
Bodhisattva, Mara disappeared. For six years the Bodhisattva was
engaged in severe austerity. During this period, Mara made several
attempts to ruin the Bodhisattva but in vain. It is to be noted that in
former births the Bodhisattva performed severe austerity to attain
salvation. (Cf. Sakuntajﬁtakakathﬁ, the Kacchapa Jataka, Markata
Jataka, the Sakuntaka and the Surupamrgaraja Jatakas). [85]

Once upon a time, the Blessed one was roaming about with 500
monks in the Grdhraklita mountain at Rajagrha. Nanda, Sunanda,
Sumana, I§vara, Mahesvara and other Suddhavasa gods beautified
the Grdhrakiita mountain by their person just at the time night
passed over and they came to the Blessed one, touched his feet with
their heads and saluted him with folded hands. Devaputra Nanda
told the Tathagata thus, “The Perfectly Enlightened Tathagatas of
previous ages explained the Avalokita Satra. It would be beneficial
to humanity at large if the bhikkhus could listen to your
explanation.” Devaputras saying thus disappeared and the Blessed
one explained the Avalokita Sitra to the bhikkhus. While the
Bodhisattva was beholding from one side of the river to the other,
the Mahasakya devas versed in previous religions worshipped him.
Indra, Suddhavasa devas, and other gods acquired the pleasant
religion. The Bodhisattvas were endowed with various kinds of
strength in body, mind, and speech. They used to live in that world
where they killed the powerful Yaksa, defeated the great army,
crossed the vast ocean, became the chief of men, obtained sincerity
and perfect enlightenment and did what they said, said what they did,
treated the five elements equally, won success and acquired
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proficiency in body, mind, and speech. That part of the world where
the Bodhisattva killed the Yakkhas was divided into sixteen parts.
After performing severe austerities [86] in Uruvilva, the Bodhisattva
with rice-gruel offered by Sujata, came to the banks of the river,
Nairafijana, took his bath, and partook of the rice-gruel. Leaving the
white-copper (kamsa) pot he took rest for sometime and considered
the conduct he had to lead. Thereafter, he started for the place where
stood the Bodhi tree. On the way he begged grass from a grass-dealer
named Svastika. When he reached the Bodhi tree he did not see
Mara there. But Mara saw him. Five hundred peacocks, lotuses,
curlews, cranes, pitchers full of water, and girls circuamambulated the
Bodhisattva who thought that this was the prognostication of the
attainment of perfect enlightenment. Naga king, named Kala, told
the Bodhisattva that he would surely obtain perfect enlightenment
that day like Krakucchanda, Konakamuni, and Kasyapa. The
Bodhisattva then sat in meditation at the foot of the Bo-tree. Mara
commenced to sing songs in front of the Bodhisattva but he was
threatened by Bodhisattva by fourteen kinds of horrible sights. (Cf.
Jyotiskagrhapati Jataka.)

Mara began to lament. Again he came to the foot of the Bodhi tree
with his Caturangini’’ army (fourfold army) and made a loud sound.
The Bodhisattva acquired the first Jhana. Gradually he acquired the
second, the third, and the fourth Jhanas. Then he arrived at a stage
which [87] was beyond happiness and suffering and acquired
purified recollection (SmrtipariSuddha). In the first watch of the
night, he gained celestial insight and by virtue thereof he discerned
the people’s course of life born of virtue and vice. In the middle
watch of the night, he recollected thousands and thousands of his
former births. In the last watch of the night, he attained supreme

7 A complete army, consisting of four members, viz., elephants, chariots,
horses, and foot soldiers.
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enlightenment by means of acute concentration. He realised
suffering, origin of suffering, cessation of suffering, and the path
leading to the cessation of suffering. He further realised that
knowledge arises from ignorance, i.e., when ignorance is dispelled,
knowledge is originated, from knowledge come Namartpa (Name
and Form); thus six senses, contact, sensation, desire, old age, disease,
and death come into being. Knowledge springs up on the destruction
of ignorance and causes the disappearance of misery. This is Nirvana.
Then he thought that happiness was the reward of virtue. Mara could
not stand in the way of a virtuous man. A virtuous man would
acquire what he would desire to have and could attain Nirvana. The
Buddha said that by virtue of wisdom he was liberated from misery
and that Mara with his army had been defeated and reduced to ashes.

Many millions of Devas worshipped the Buddha seated on one seat
for a week. Celestial flowers were showered on him. The
Suddhavasa and Kayika devas approached and worshipped him.
Mara was threatened by eighty kinds of sights. [88]

Once upon a time, the Buddha was dwelling in Amrapali’s mango
grove at VaisalT with a large number of bhikkhus. At that time a
bhikkhu named Visuddhamati saluted the Buddha and requested him
to relate for the welfare and happiness of the world what he had seen
as a Bodhisattva while on the miraculous throne under the Bodhi
tree (Bodhimando). The Buddha praised Visuddhamati for putting to
him this question and said the following in compliance with his
request. When the Bodhisattva entered into the womb of the queen,
in the guise of a naga elephant from the Tusita heaven, all the world
trembled. Whetn the Bodhisattva was born, Indra himself held the
cloth as bright as gold. Immediately after birth when the Bodhisattva
advanced seven steps to destroy old age, disease, and death, the earth
quaked, all sides were illuminated, a divine sound was heard from
heaven, divine powders and flowers showered down. The
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Bodhisattva gave up the kingdom at the age of 29 and put on yellow
robe. After becoming a religions mendicant, he engaged himself in
severe austerity for 12 years. Then he entered into the kingdom of
Magadha. He met and received welcome from Sujata, the daughter
of a villager. Sujata said that King Bimbisara had a great gain that
day. In his kingdom, Bodhisattva had acquired incomparable
enlightenment.

The Bodhisattva reached the bank of the river Nairafijana. The earth
quaked, the ocean became agitated, the Yakkhas, the Gandharvas,
the Asuras, [89] the king of all birds, the Kinnaras, and others
became delighted.

Then he crossed the river Nairafijana. Eighty crores of gold
umbrellas were held over the head of the Bodhisattva. The Naga
king, named Kala, with his retinue came there and saluted him. For
the achievement of the same end Bodhisattva came to the same spot,
viz., the foot of that very Bodhi tree where Krakucchanda,
Konakamuni, and Kasyapamuni came to attain perfect
enlightenment. The assembly of gods gladly showered flowers on the
Bodhisattva. The Suddhavasadevas decorated him with mandara
flowers and perfumed wind blew. The lustre of his person
illuminated all sides. The naga king, named Kala, heard this
incomparable sound and came there with his daughters, worshipped
the Bodhisattva and said, “I notice in you the same marks as I found
on the person of Krakucchanda, Konakamuni, and Kasyapa. Gods
have come here to worship you. To-day you will surely attain
Buddhahood and the unique abstract contemplation of God
(Samadhi).” On hearing the words of Kala, Bodhisattva gladly came
to the foot of the Bodhi tree. At this time the Bo-tree was variously
decorated. Gods from heaven worshipped the Bodhisattva with
flowers, incense, etc. The Bodhisattva thrice went round the Bodhi
tree and sat on his own seat after recollecting the former Tathagatas.
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His face became bright. He fully realised that he would not be able to
attain perfect enlightenment [90] unless he could defeat Mara. Mara
came there with his fourfold army. He could not tolerate the
austerity of Bodhisattva.

Mara’s defeat by the Buddha

The Sikya prince who was Svayambhu (a self-created one) and of
sacred personality came to the foot of the Bodhi tree and brightened
all sides. Mara became frightened. Gods decorated the Bo-tree with
various kinds of gems. The Bodhisattva was firm and sat motionless.
Mara put on a coat-of-mail and came there. His heart trembled. He
began to praise the Bodhisattva thus, “You are incomparable in
beauty, your colour is unique. Like the moon free from cloud you
have overwhelmed the devas, nagas, and men; you have seven gems;
your body is endowed with the thirty-two signs of a great man. Find
delight in a woman and be a supreme ruler. You will be blessed with
thousands of powerful sons who will conquer the earth. Girls of
Mara are singing songs for your delight, some are throwing scented
powders. O, prince, stay in the palace and enjoy life.” The
Bodhisattva replied, “I shall be the lord of the world by attaining
Buddhahood, I shall conquer earth by acquiring four miraculous
powers. Kama (lust) gives no pleasure rather it leads one to hell. I
have no desire for kama. It is abominable. I shall surely attain
salvation. The Bodhisattva is not at all attached to women because
they are the cause of various kinds of injury. To me don’t speak
highly of kama.” Mara’s [91] son, Sarthavaha, said to his father thus,
“Please excuse my impertinence and listen to me. The earth quaked
during his birth. The ten quarters were illuminated. Divine
instruments were played upon from heaven. Divine umbrellas were
held by gods. Flags were hoisted. Bodhisattva will be the eye of all.
He will dispel ignorance and will be the saviour of the world. He will
do good to the world, will defeat the army of Mara. He will
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overpower Brahma, Sakra, Guhyaka (a demi-god and attendant of
the god of wealth), naga, asura, Manuja, and mahoraga. He cannot
be moved in any way from this Bodhi tree.” Mara was sorry and told
his son in reply, “O, boy, don’t frighten me. I shall put obstacles in
the way of the Bodhisattva with the help of my army. You are my
eldest son and yet you are a follower of Gautama! Why are you
paralysing the activity of my army?” Sarthavaha further told his
father, “One cannot live in this world by doing injury to the
Bodhisattva. Who will move the Bodhisattva? Your army will be
frightened at his sight. Your army will be destroyed by him. At the
foot of this Bodhi tree, Krakucchanda, Konaka, Kasyapa, and 4,000
Buddhas attained sambodhi and this Bodhisattva will also acquire
enlightenment.” Sarthavaha then worshipped the Bodhisattva.
Mara’s army attacked the Bodhisattva but the latter remained firm.
Mara’s army got frightened and fled. Mara silently began to think.
The Bodhisattva thought [92] of suffering, origin of suffering, and
cessation of suffering. The Devaputras worshipped him. Sitting on
one seat he meditated for a week and after having acquired Bodhi he
did not get up from his seat. The devas showered flowers from the
sky for seven nights continually. Mara was defeated. The world felt
happy. Fire became pacified and creatures gave up envy. The Bodhi
tree was decorated with banners, umbrellas, etc. Diseased and
aggrieved people became free from illness and grief. The man born
blind got back eyesight. The Tathagata was pure in precept, in
meditation, in wisdom, in emancipation, in the knowledge of
emancipation, love, and compassion. Eternal bliss is obtained by the
worshipping of such a pure Tathagata.

The Bodhisattva acquired five safifia (consciousness). Mara himself
approached the Bodhisattva and saluted him. When Mara asked the
Bodhisattva to stay in the palace and to enjoy kingly enjoyments, the
latter asked him why he had come there and told him that his object
had already been frustrated. Mara again came to the sky and the
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Bodhisattva again asked him who he was. When Mara introduced
himself to him and threatened him that he would attack him with his
army, the Bodhisattva said that even kotis of Maras would not be
able to do him any injury. Mara made several vain attempts to
frustrate the object of the Bodhisattva. In the first watch of the night
he fled. Gautama acquired [93] divine vision. In the second watch he
remembered previous births; and on sunrise, he acquired perfect
enlightenment. Gautama said, “Profound divine meditation known
as ‘Lokavijita’ is attainable. The world is full of suffering, where
there is birth there is suffering, it is better to lead the life of a
Brahmacari. Suffering originates from upadhi (attachment).
Suffering is not engendered on the destruction of attachment.
Creatures are ephemeral and are subject to suffering. On the
destruction of the desire for existence (Bhavatrsna), fear disappears.
Destruction of desire (trsna) is Nirvana. One who has attained
Nirvana is not born again. Mara gets overwhelmed; enemy is
conquered; all sorts of fear are dispelled. A person who has obtained
Nirvana is not subject to rebirth. Mara is defeated by him. He is free
from all fears” (cf. KuSa Jataka).

Gautama’s principal disciples

Once the Buddha’s disciple, Ananda with five hundred bhikkhus, was
staying at Veluvana in Rajagrha in Magadha. Mahakasyapa heard of
the weakness, supineness, and laxity of thirty disciples of Ananda
and came there. After an exchange of friendly greetings
Mahakasyapa asked, ‘why has the Lord Buddha prohibited eating in
an assemblage (gana bhojana)? Why has he approved trikbhojana
(dinner of three persons)? Ananda failed to reply. MahakaSyapa
himself answered, “The Buddha has done so for the preservation of
the householders and for the destruction of sin. O, [94] long-lived
kumara Ananda, you are not proving your knowledge in all things
(matrajiiata) by begging alms with your disciples.” Ananda was
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surprised at the use of the word ‘Kumara’ and said, “My hairs have
turned grey, yet you call me a kumara.”

MahakaSyapa thrice addressed him as kumara. The bhikkhuni
Sthulananda heard of Mahakasyapa calling Ananda a kumara and
said, “Reverend MahakaSyapa! Why do you address Ananda, the
favourite disciple of the Buddha, as kumara”? Ananda at once said,
“Reverend Mahakasyapa, please pardon these ignorant mothers.”
Then Mahakasyapa said to Ananda, “On receiving ordination I did
not take counsel from any person other than the Buddha. When I was
sick of household life; when I had a strong desire for celibacy, I
renounced vast wealth and started in search of the Lord Arahat. I
found the Lord in the Bahuputra Caitya at Rajagrha, saluted him
touching his feet, and became his disciple. The Lord himself gave me
various instructions. Thus did Mahakasyapa gladden and encourage
the bhikkhus with religions discourses and then left his seat.
Sthulananda was not satisfied. So she went to hell.

The rich village of Nalanda was at a distance of half a yojana from
Rajagrha. There lived in that village a wealthy brahmin who had
several sons named Dharma, Upadharma, Satadharma, Tisya, and
Upatisya by his wife called Sari. His [95] youngest son, Upatisya,
used to study the veda in his preceptor’s house. There was a wealthy
and largely populated village named Kolita situated at a distance of
half a yojana from Rajagrha. In this village there lived a rich
brahmin of the Maudgalyayana gotra. He had a learned and
intelligent son, named Kolita, who too studied the veda with a
preceptor with whom five hundred disciples read. Kolita and
Upatisya finished their study while in the preceptor’s house. They
were fast friends. There was a festival known as Giriyagrasamaja in
Rajagrha. Thousands of people assembled in hundreds of gardens.
Songs were sung, musical instruments were played, theatrical
performances were held with great pomp. Kolita and Upatisya with
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horses, chariots, and servants came to Rajagrha to see the festival.
Sariputta saw the huge crowd and the sense of transitoriness of the
world crossed his mind. He thought that none of this crowd would
survive after a hundred years. He noticed the teeth of the laughing
crowd and everything worldly appeared to him to be made of bones.
Owing to their past merits both Sariputta and Maudgalyayana felt a
disgust for the world and mutually confiding each other of their
desire to renounce the world, they accepted ordination.

At this time a mendicant, named Safjayin Vairatiputra, lived in a
parivrajakarama in Rajagrha. Sariputta and Maudgalyayana
accepted ordination from this mendicant. The former learnt the [96]
duties of a mendicant in one week while the latter did so in two
weeks, but they recognised the inanity of the courtship of the good
discipline. They separated themselves from each other and went out
in quest of dharma. They came to an understanding that he who
would learn the dharma first would teach the other. At this time the
Lord Buddha was roaming with thirteen hundred bhikkhus in
Veluvana. Bhikkhu Upasena went out on begging with plates and
alms-bowl. Sariputra met him, questioned him about his master and,
at the first words of Upasena, light entered his mind.

Sariputra came to Maudgalyayana who, at his countenance only,
guessed the good news. At the only enunciation of the formule “Ye
dharma hetuprabhava, etc.,” both of them detached themselves from
the false doctrines and were penetrated with the most favourable
dispositions. Both Sariputra and Maudgalyayana came to Safnjayin
and tried in vain to drag him to the Buddha. They came to the
Buddha followed by the five hundred disciples of Sanjayin. The
Buddha foreseeing the arrival of his two principal disciples, had had
seats prepared. Sariputra and Maudgalyayana saw the Buddha, paid
him homage, and were ordained along with their five hundred
companions. In reply to a question from Sariputra, Bhagavat
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explained to him the chain of causation (pratityasamutpada). In
seven days Maudgalyayana acquired supernatural faculties. [97]
Sariputra, in a fortnight, received the complete science.

Conversion of Chandaka and Udayi by Buddha

The Buddha was staying at Rajagrha. The Sakyas of Kapilavastu
requested their king Suddhodana to bring the Buddha from Rajagrha
to Kapilavastu. Suddhodana sent to the Buddha, Chandaka and
Kalodayi, who were Buddha’s friends from childhood. Chandaka
and Uday1 came to the Buddha and told him about their mission but
within a short time both of them accepted ordination. The Lord
preached the Dharma for seven years; then at the request of the
Sﬁkyas he expressed his desire to come to Kapilavastu. He started
with the Bhikkhusamgha. When the Lord reached Kosala, the
éﬁkyas set out in various cars to meet him. When the bhikkhus
entered Kapilavastu from Nyagrodharama for alms, the king saw
their bald heads and alms-bowl, and in disgust stopped them from
going further.

Suddhodana and the Buddha

The Lord did not give his consent when Uruvilvakasyapa,
Nadikasyapa, GayakaSyapa, and Upasena wanted to see king
Suddhodana to pacify him. Mahamaudgalyayana sent KalodayT to
pacify Suddhodana. Kalodayi made an aerial journey from
Nyagrodharama and reached Kapilavastu. He stayed in the air in
front of the king. The king heard of the greatness of the Buddha and
was highly satisfied. He started with his countrymen [98] to see The
Enlightened One. The king and the royal family went on in a chariot
as far as the road permitted the chariot to be driven, then they
walked on. On reaching Nyagrodharama, he made respectful
obeisance to the aerial Buddha. The Lord showed various miracles
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while staying in the air. When he took his seat, Mahaprajapati
Gotami, YaSodhara, and all other royal personages bowed down to
the Lord’s feet and sat on one side. The king put to the Buddha
various questions and was much pleased to receive his answers.

Conversion of the gﬁkyas by the Buddha

The Buddha was then invited by his father, King Suddhodana, who
had the way from Kapilavastu to Nyagrodharama well decorated.
When the Buddha and his disciples took their seats, they were
treated to various edibles by the king. The Buddha, too, encouraged
the king and his people with religious discourses. Thus one day
Mahaprajapati, the second day, Yasodhara, the third day, the women
of the harem, then all the circle of the Sakyas received him with
great hospitality. One day Yasodhara invited the Buddha with his
disciples and making over to Rahula a cake which she had prepared,
she told him to place it on the plate of the Buddha. Rahula obeyed
his mother and took his seat in such a place where the shadow of the
Buddha fell on his body. Rahula said to his mother that the shadow
of the sramanas was very pleasant. Yasodhara asked [99] his son to
pray for paternal property. Rahula did so. The Buddha asked him to
take holy orders and assured him that he would give him ancestral
property. The king and the Sﬁkyas were quite happy to hear of the
assurance. Yasodhara with all her attire and ornaments on served the
Lord with food to induce him to come into the world but in vain.
After taking his meal the Lord pleased and encouraged everybody
with various religious discourses and then went to Nyagrodharama.

King Suddhodana consulted the Sﬁkyas and ordered that a boy from
every Ksatriya household should take holy orders and follow the
Buddha. But the only son of a family need not take holy orders.
Suddhodana had two sons, Buddhadeva and Sundarananda.
Buddhadeva took holy orders, Sundarananda did not do so. Out of
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three sons of Sukrodana, Devadatta renounced the world; Ananda
desired to renounce the world but he did not receive his brother’s
permission. He went to Videha and took the vow of silence. Nandan
and Nandika, sons of Sukrodana, took holy orders. The other two
sons stayed at home. Aniruddha, son of Amritodana, took holy
orders. Thus five hundred Sakya lads took holy orders with
splendour. All of them used various conveyances, such as elephant,
horses, and carriages as far as roads permitted, then they walked on
foot and reached Nyagrodharama. They saluted the Lord and took
their seats. [100]

Conversion of the Asuras by the Buddha

While at Nyagrodharama the Lord converted many persons to the
faith by his three miracles, the miracle of the supernatural power,
the miracle of instruction, and the miracle of the precept of the law.
Sixty nayutas of asuras who came to pay homage to the Buddha,
were converted and in accordance with their desire (pranidhi)
obtained the promise to become one day as many Buddhas. At that
moment the Exalted One smiled and with this smile sprang out rays
of all shades that illuminated the whole Buddhaksetra.

The venerable Asvakin requested the Buddha to explain to him the
reason of his smile. The Buddha said that he had smiled to hear of
the desire of the asuras to attain Bodhi.

We like to record here a few more incidents of conversion into
Buddhism by Gautama, the Buddha.

Bhagavat (Blessed one) arrived on the banks of the Ganges, after
leaving the Rsipatana, he recited some stanzas to the boatman who
helped him across the great river. Bhagavat converted and ordained
the boatman. On the boatman’s asking the Buddha as to what he
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should reply when the people would ask him what he was, the
Buddha told him to declare that he (the boatman) was a Sramana, a
brahmana versed in the vedas, and an expert pilot.

Sakra took the appearance of a young man and followed the Buddha
with all the necessaries [101] of a hermit. When the people enquired
about Sakra, the follower of the Buddha, Sakra said that he was the
servant of Sugata. The Buddha sent him away.



91
II1: Jataka Stories
Malint

[102] A Pratyeka-Buddha® entered into Kasi for pindas (alms) but
receiving no alms, was walking out of the village. At this time, a
villager was returning home after daily work. The villager said to
the Pratyeka-Buddha, “Arya, Have you received alms?” The
Pratyeka-Buddha did not reply but he showed him the empty bowl.
On seeing the empty bowl, the villager began to speak ill of other
villagers and asked him to follow him for food. He entered the
village with the Pratyeka-Buddha and coming to the cross-way he
began to shout, “Utter ruin! Utter ruin!” On hearing this loud shout,
villagers, males and females, assembled there and asked him what
the matter was and why he was shouting so loudly. The villager said
“I am grieved to see the Pratyeka-Buddha going with empty hands.”
Then all the inhabitants of the village determined to treat the
Pratyeka-Buddha with due hospitality. The villager invited the
Pratyeka-Buddha with a view to honour him with food and raiment
for life. He had a daughter [103] who was also informed of this
arrangement. The daughter was highly pleased. The villager got a
stiipa built in his honour in course of time. The daughter of the
villager used to worship daily at the stiipa with scents, garlands,
incense, etc. This daughter was born in heaven. Hundreds of
thousands of nymphs surrounded her and ornamented her head with
various jewels. Descending from heaven, she was born in the womb
of the queen of King Krki at Benares. She was named MalinI.

* In Pali it is known as Paccekabuddha or individual Buddha. He is inferior
to the sammasambuddha. He is not omniscient. He has acquired
knowledge necessary to Nirvana but does not preach it to men.
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The beautiful daughter of the king of Kasi was of pure conduct and
putting on pure garments, she used to stand before her father with
folded hands. Her father entrusted to her the task of feeding the
Brahmins. Malint fed twenty-thousand brahmins, but on finding
them desirous of her, she hated them and thought that they were not
worthy of presents. She then found out the disciples of the Buddha
and sent her maid to bring them to the palace. Malini, after causing
them to sit on good seats, requested them to accept food. The
disciples of the Buddha said that they would not accept anything
unless something be given to them as the food for the Buddha.
Malin1 replied that after taking food they should take with them
some food for the Buddha and convey her desire to the Buddha to
accept her invitation to the palace. The disciples after taking their
meals brought some food for the Buddha and expressed to him her
desire. The Buddha Kasyapa accepted her invitation and having [104]
received this news she made arrangements for the food of the
Buddha throughout the night. Next morning the Buddha Kasyapa
with his disciples including Tisya Bharadvaja and others entered
Benares. Buddha with twenty thousand disciples entered the inner
apartments of King Krki. MalinT welcomed the Buddha with his
disciples and satisfied them with excellent food and drink. The
Buddha Kasyapa after washing his mouth gave religious instruction
to her. The Brahmins grew angry with Malin1 because she fed the
Buddha Kasyapa with his disciples. At this time the influence of the
Brahmins was great. The Brahmins resolved to kill her because she
hated them and honoured the Sramanas and was depriving the
Brahmins of the means of their livelihood.

The Brahmins sent a messenger to king Krki with the complaint that
Malin1 was not showing reverence to the Brahmins, and that, having
brought Kasyapa with his disciples to Rajagrha, she had greatly
honoured and worshipped him, while the Brahmins were not given
the opportunity to see her. She was not carrying out the instructions
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of the king. She was asked to feed twenty-thousand Brahmins at
Rajagrha but in vain. The king came to Benares, and saw many
Brahmins assembled there. The Brahmins offered their blessings to
him and brought to his notice their grievances concerning Malini.
They added, “If Malini lives then the Brahmins will not daily obtain
the thing which they usually get from [105] your palace. If you want
the state of a brahmin, you should renounce Malini.” The king after
considering much, thought it better to leave her. The king then sent a
messenger to bring her inside the city. The messenger went to
Rajagrha and informed Malin1 thus, “The king has renounced you
and the brahmins will kill you.” Malini cried aloud in the presence of
her mother and there was a great lamentation in the harem. All the
inhabitants of the city became very much aggrieved to hear the news.
Malini was brought before the king and she with folded hands
requested the Brahmins to allow her to say a few words, “O
Brahmins, I am now under your control and you have made up your
mind to kill me. I pray for a week’s time so that I can offer charity
according to my desire and accumulate merit. After the lapse of the
week you may either kill me or do whatever you like.” The
Brahmins after much deliberation gave her time for a week. Then
Malini informed her father that she would accumulate merit by
offering charity for a week from to-day. Malini said, “I shall request
Buddha Kasyapa with his disciples to stay in the palace and accept
my offerings.” With the king’s permission, MalinT invited Kasyapa to
accept it. At this, the Brahmins became angry and was anxious to kill
her in course of the week. But Malini somehow pacified them. In the
first day, Malin1 fed Kasyapa with his disciples in the presence of
her parents. Kasyapa gave religions [106] instructions to the king
who gradually became a devotee with the female members of his
harem. On the second day, five hundred sons became his followers.
On the third day, the members of the family, on the fourth day, the
royal officers, on the fifth day, the army, on the sixth day, the royal
acaryas (preceptors), and on the seventh day, all others became the
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followers of Kasyapa. The king being pleased again invited Kasyapa
with his disciples. When all of them became attached to the religion
of Kasyapa, it struck them that it was owing to the influence of
Malini that they acquired pure insight into all religions. They made
up their mind to save Malini from the hands of the Brahmins and
they informed the Brahmins that they must not kill her. All were
assembled in the royal city and came before the Brahmins. The
Brahmins seeing their strength informed the king that they would
not kill Malini but they would try to subdue KaSyapa who was
responsible for all this. They sent ten persons well armed to kill
Kasyapa but as soon as they reached Kasyapa, they became attached
to the religion of the Buddha through the influence of his
compassion. The Brahmins again sent twelve persons and they also
became the followers of Kasyapa. Afterwards thirty, forty, and fifty
persons were sent successively to perform the same task but all of
them became well-established in the Dharma of the Buddha and they
afterwards sent a messenger to the remaining Brahmins that
Kasyapa was [107] a perfectly Enlightened One, compassionate and
was always after the good of the world and they should not think of
doing any injury to him. The remaining Brahmins were further
informed that they should come being free from haughtiness and
pride to worship Kasyapa. As soon as they received news they ran
towards Kasyapa with sticks in their hands but they were afterwards
defeated by him.

Maijari Jataka

In the past, there lived in Benares a brahmin belonging to the
KauSika gotra. Seeing the world full of miseries, he left the
household life, became a monk, and built a hermitage near the
Ganges. He acquired the four kinds of meditation and five kinds of
Abhifina (supernatural faculties). He became a great sage. He used to
take food without giving it to any other person. One of his relatives
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was reborn after death by virtue of pious deeds as a gandharvaputra,
named Paficasikha. In order to change his habit of taking food
without giving it to any other person Paficasikha came to the
hermitage with the sun, the moon, Matali, and Indra, in the guise of
Brahmins, just at the time Kausika was taking his food and asked for
a share of his meal. At first, Kausika was reluctant to part with a
share of his meal; but on learning from them the merit of gift and
their ancestry, KauSika promised that he would not thenceforth
partake of food, even nectar, without giving a share of it to Sramanas
and brahmanas. [108]

At this time, the four daughters of Indra, viz., Sri (Goddess of
prosperity), Sraddha (Faith), Asa (Hope), Hri (Modesty) were
worshipped with flowers by a sage. A dispute arose amongst them
regarding an individual’s share of the flowers offered by the sage. In
order to settle the dispute, the sage advised them to go to Indra and
to seek his opinion as to who amongst them was the most superior.
The daughters acted accordingly. Indra told them that they were all
equal. The daughters were not satisfied at this. At their importunity
Indra asked them to go to KauSika, meanwhile, he sent nectar to
KausSika through Matali. Kausika would not drink it without giving a
share of it to some other person. The daughters of Indra, Sri,
Sraddha, Asa, and Hri prayed for nectar. Kausika neglected the first
three and gave nectar to Hri. Indra again sent Matali to Kausika who
came there and ask him the cause of indifference towards the first
three. Kausika said, “Sri (Goddess of prosperity) goes lonely,
Sraddha (Faith) is evanescent, Asa (Hope) is fruitless.” Considering
HrT (Modesty) to be pure, KauSika gave nectar to her only. With this
nectar, Hr1 came to Indra and received the flowers offered by the
sage. After death, Kausika went to heaven. Kausika was the Buddha
and HrT was Yasodhara.
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Godha Jataka

In ancient times, there reigned in Benares a king, named Suprabha.
His son was named Suteja, who was loved [109] by everybody. The
king thought that as the prince was dear to one and all, his subjects
might kill him (the king) and install his son on the throne. This
thought led him to banish the prince. The latter with his wife lived in
a hut near the Himalayas. He lived on fruits, vegetables, and the
flesh of boars and deer. One day, while he went out of his hut, a cat
killed an iguana, and kept it near the princess who did not touch it.
Meanwhile, having collected fruits and vegetables, the prince
returned and seeing the iguana the prince said to his wife, “whence
has this iguana come?” The wife replied, “A cat has brought it here.”
The prince then peeled off the skin of the iguana and boiled it. His
wife went to bring water. The prince thought that his wife did not
even touch the iguana although she had a desire for eating its flesh.
Had she had a little love for me, she would have cooked it. The
prince, therefore, did not see any necessity of keeping some meat for
his wife but he himself ate up the whole of the cooked iguana before
his wife’s return. On her return, the princess did not find the iguana
but she learnt from her husband that the animal had fled. The
princess was astonished at this impossibility and took it to heart that
the prince had no love for her. In course of time, king Suprabha died
and the ministers took the prince from the forest and made him king.
On ascending the throne, the prince tried in vain to please his wife
who had not then forgotten the iguana [110] affair. The prince asked
her about the cause of her dissatisfaction and learnt the true facts.”

¥ 1In Pali, there are two Godha Jatakas, but the stories are different from
what is stated above.
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Harapradana Jataka

At the time of the distribution of ornaments, Yasodhara came last.
The prince fixed his look on her. The prince took out from his own
neck the most valuable necklace and gave it to Yasodhara. The latter
said, “Am I worthy to receive so much?”’ The prince forthwith took
out of his finger the most valuable ring and gave it to her.
Distributing all ornaments the prince entered the harem. The king
learnt from his ministers that Yasodhara, the daughter of Mahanama,
had attracted the prince’s attention. The king prayed to Mahanama
for Yasodhara. Mahanama said, “The prince has been brought up in
the harem. He has not learnt art, archery, politics, etc. He cannot be
given a girl.” The king was sorry. The prince heard of the cause of
his father’s sorrow and declared that on the seventh day from the
day of declaration let all versed in art, archery, etc., come for
competition. The king was delighted. Many persons came to the
appointed place from Kapilavastu and various janapadas and
Adhisthanas to see the prince’s skill in art, archery, etc. At the door
of the appointed place there was a powerful elephant. Prince
Devadatta killed the elephant by one slap and being unable [111] to
move the huge animal, he walked over it. Prince Sundarananda saw
the elephant on his way. He moved the elephant to a distance of
seven feet from the door; still the door was blocked. Prince
Sarbarthasiddha got down from the chariot and threw away the
elephant beyond the seven walls (Prakara) of Kapilavastu. People
were astonished to notice the prince’s prowess. The path was cleared.
Everybody went that way easily. Mahanama too went that way.

Prince Sarbarthasiddha showed various feats. None could equal him
in battle or boxing. At last arrows were shot. Seven palm trees were
planted within twenty miles, each at a distance of two miles from the
other. Someone’s arrow went to the first palm tree, others to the
second palm tree. Devadatta’s arrow touched the third palm tree,
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Sundarananda’s arrow passed the third palm tree, and dropped down
between the third and the fourth palm trees. Bodhisattva got the
arrow of his grandfather Simhahanu and said, “who can fix the
arrow on this bow?” The assembly could not. The Sékya boys were
asked to do it but they failed. Then, one after another, the Koliyas,
the Licchavis were asked, they too failed. The Bodhisattva himself
fixed the arrow on the bow of his grandfather after worshipping it
with scents and garlands. Kapilavastu reverberated with the sound of
the bow. The arrow passed the seven palm trees, pierced the earth
and reached hell. Flower-rain was showered from [112] the sky.
Every one was pleased with the prince for his strength and prowess.

When the Bodhisattva came out and turned the wheel of Dharma,
the bhikkhus heard of this and asked the Buddha about it. The
Buddha replied that it was not in that birth but in previous births as
well that he knew the Sakyas to have lost for ever the strength of
their fist.

Vyagribhiita Yasodhara Jataka

Once, at the foot of the Himalayas, all the quadrupeds assembled to
select one of themselves to be their king. It was decided that he who
would be able to reach the Himalaya mountain first would be
selected king. A tigress reached the destination first. All the animals
found that they were defeated by a female. Everywhere the king was
male and no female ever reigned. The animals decided that one who
would be married by the tigress would be the king of the quadrupeds.
Ox, elephant, and lion wanted the tigress. The tigress forsook the
first two and chose the lion as her husband. The Buddha was the lion
at that birth and Yasodhara, the tigress.
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Dharmapala Jataka

In ancient times, there lived in Benares a king, named Brahmadatta.
He had a learned priest named Brahmayu. The latter sent his son,
Dharmapala, to a guru (preceptor) near the Himalayas to learn the
Vedas, etc. Near the hermitage of the preceptor, there was a lake
where lived a monster (raksasa) who used to devour any person [113]
coming there to take a bath. Dharmapala used to bathe in that lake
where a naga, a friend of Dharmapala, used to live. His preceptor
warned him against bathing in the lake. One day a boy resembling
Dharmapala went there to bathe. The monster ate him up partially.
The half-eaten body floated on the surface of water. The brahmin
pupils at once informed their teacher. The latter came to the spot,
saw the half-eaten body which he thought to be that of Dharmapala.
He took it up. With bone and ash he came to Brahmayu who said
that such a thing could never happen. Nobody in his family had died
young. Virtue alone saved the virtuous. Dharmapala did not die. The
Brahman came back to his house and was astonished to see
Dharmapala. In previous births, Buddha was Brahmayu and his son
Rahula was Dharmapala.

Saraksepana Jataka

In former ages, there lived in Benares a king whose kingdom
extended up to Taksasila. The king installed his younger brother on
the throne of Benares and went to live in Taksas$ila. At this time
another king besieged Benares. The younger brother informed the
king at Taksasila. The king wrote down something on a Bhurja leaf
and wrapping the leaf round an arrow and binding it with a thread,
he shot the arrow towards Benares. The arrow fell on the feet of the
besieging king and broke into pieces the shield of his legs
(padaphalaka). The king thought that the [114] arrow had been shot
from Benares. He was greatly astonished. He took out from the
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arrow the Bhurjapatra and opening it found the following lines
written therein:- “I break into pieces the shield of your leg. If you do
not desire death, you should leave my kingdom.” The king was
afraid and astonished. He had a temple built there, established the
arrow in it, and worshipped it. Thereafter he left Benares.

In that birth, Buddha was the king of Benares who shot the arrow
from Taksasila.

Amara Jataka

In days of yore, there was a village named Yavakacchaka situated at
a distance of half a yojana from Mithila. Outside Yavakacchaka
there was a village of blacksmiths.

A blacksmith of that village had a learned daughter, named Amara.
A man of the Yavakacchaka village had a son, named Mahausadha.
Once Mahausadha saw Amara with rice on his way to the field.
Mahausadha asked her who she was, what her name was, and so on.
Amara answered him in a riddle. Mahausadha understood her
clearly. Both of them were attached to each other. Mahausadha went
to Amara’s father and prayed for Amara’s hand. Amara’s parents
told him that they would not marry their daughter to any body
excepting a blacksmith. Mahausadha was intelligent and experienced
in all the arts. He thought that the minutest work of the blacksmith
was the manufacture of the needle. One [115] able to manufacture
the needle can do all sorts of blacksmith’s works. He manufactured a
wonderful needle and went to the village-smith to sell it. Amara
heard his voice and ran out to him and told him why he had come to
sell a needle in a place where such needles were manufactured.
Mahausadha said, “the blacksmith will understand my skill in
manufacturing needles so I have come here. If your parents know
that I am skilled in preparing needles, they may give you to me.”
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Amara told her father that this smith’s son had manufactured a
beautiful needle. Amara’s father marked his skill and gave him his
daughter. In this birth Buddha was Mahausadha, Yasodhara was
Amari, and Mahanama Sakya was the lord of the village-smiths.

Siri Jataka

In the past, there lived in the city Varavali, a brahmin well-versed in
the three Vedas together with their glossaries and history. He had
five hundred pupils whom he taught Vedamantras. He had a
daughter of unique beauty, named Siri. Once he was invited by a
sacrificer, named Sarthavaha, living in a sea-port to perform
sacrifice and was offered riches even if he would fail to attend
personally. The brahmin called his pupils and said, “whoever will
brave the journey to the sea-port will be given my daughter, Siri.”
One of his pupils who was courageous and powerful and was already
in deep love with Siri wanted to go. He was sent by the brahmin with
a letter to Sarthavaha. On [116] reaching his destination, he made
over the letter to Sarthavaha who read the letter and gave him gold
and riches. The pupil bundled the riches and left the place. On his
way home, the bundle fell into the sea during transhipment from the
ship to the boat. He was sorely grieved and began to bale out the
water of the sea. The sea-god appeared to him in the guise of a
brahmin and asked him why he was making vain efforts. The boy
said that he would worship the sea-god so long as he would not
return him his riches. The sea-god was pleased and returned him his
riches. He then won the hand of Siri in exchange for gold and riches.

The Buddha identified the personages of the story by saying that in
previous birth he was the disciple and Yasodhara was Siri. He won
his wife after a strenuous endeavour.
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Kinnari Jataka

In former ages, there reigned in Hastinapura a king, named Suvahu,
who had a handsome and meritorious son, named Sudhanu. Suvahu
entrusted the cares of the government to Sudhanu, the crown prince,
and himself retired from royal affairs.

In the neighbouring town, known as Sinhapura, there reigned a king,
named Sucandrima who was the friend of Suvahu. Once king
Sucandrima inaugurated a great sacrifice. He ordered hunters and
fowlers to collect all animals, aquatic or moving on land. They did so.
King Sucandrima invited those rsis (sages) who had acquired four
stages [117] of mystic meditation, possessed five supernatural
faculties (pafica abhijiia) and great miraculous power and who could
move about in the air. The sages came and said that all sorts of
animals had been collected with the exception of the kinnarts (fabled
beings of the Himalayan region). As desired by the sages, the king
sent the chief of the hunters to bring a Kinnari. The hunter reached
the hermitage of a sage in the Himalayas. The sage entertained him
with fruits and water. At that time, the hunter heard sweet songs and
learnt from the sage that Manohara, the daughter of Druma, King of
the Kinnaras, living in the Himalayas, used to come to the lotus-lake
to sport with her female attendants, and that the Kinnara daughter
and her attendants were then singing.

The hunter skilfully came to know from the sage that the Kinnaris
were brought under control by truthful words. The hunter came to
the lotus lake. The kinnaris were intoxicated with music and could
not see him. Then the hunter said, “you are the daughter of Druma,
king of Kinnaras and your name is Manohara. You are bound by this
truth. Manohara! Don’t walk a step further.”
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Manohara was bound by the words of the hunter and was brought to
Sinhapura. King Sucandrima rewarded the hunter and invited
Suvahu, King of Hastinapura, to attend the sacrifice. Suvahu’s son,
Sudhanu, came to Sinhapura to honour the invitation but he was
charmed with the beauty of the Kinnart who, too, became [118]
attached to him. On enquiry, Sudhanu learnt from Sucandrima that
the animals were brought for slaughter and that they would go to
heaven being slain in the sacrifice. He further learnt that the
sacrificer would go to heaven as many times as the number of
animals he would slay in the sacrifice. Sudhanu said, “This is not
true. Harmlessness is the best religion. Killing animals is a sin. To
refrain from killing animals is religion.”

Thus instructing on the tenfold virtuous paths of action, he said,
“Man goes to heaven through these tenfold paths of action. Without
these paths, he too goes hell.”

King Sucandrima heard the words of Prince Sudhanu and let loose
all the animals. Manohara went with Sudhanu to Hastinapura.
Sudhanu was so greatly attached to the Kinnari that he neglected the
royal duties. The ministers informed king Suvahu of this. Suvahu
ordered the confinement of Sudhanu and the expulsion of the
Kinnart from the kingdom. The Kinnari walked towards the
Himalayas. Sometimes she turned to look back to see whether
Sudhanu was coming. When she reached the Satadru river, she gave
a ring and garland to two fowlers, named Utpalaka and Malaka, and
told them to inform Sudhanu of her if Sudhanu happened to come
that way. Then she crossed the river and proceeded to Mount Kailas.
On the KinnarT’s departure, King Suvahu released his son and had
the harem decorated with [119] various objects of luxury. This could
not satisfy Sudhanu. He went out with his attendant, named Kaulaka,
in search of the Kinnari. On their way they met Utpalaka and
Malaka and came to know everything. Utpalaka and Malaka



IV: Stories of the Disciples — 104

accompanied them. They reached the hermitage of the sage Kasyapa,
and gave him the description of the Kinnari. The sage said that he
had seen her go that way, and warned the prince against the dangers
of the impassable way. When the prince did not stop, the sage
requested the chief of the monkeys to accompany Sudhanu to the
kingdom of the Kinnara King Druma. The chief of the monkeys
took them on his back and reached the kingdom of the Kinnara ra;j.
On that day there was a grand festival in the city. On an enquiry
Sudhanu learnt that the festival was in honour of the advent of
Manohara. He then threw his ring into the pot of one of those who
came to bring water for Manohara’s bath without their knowledge.
During the sprinkling of water that ring fell on Manohara’s lap.
Manohara saw the ring and understood that Sudhanu had come. She
said this to her father, Druma, who received Sudhanu with great
honour. Sudhanu stayed there with Manohara for a long time. Then
he received Druma’s permission to go to Hastinapura with his family.
King Druma was pleased and ordered the Yaksa, named Yantaka, to
accompany his daughter and son-in-law to Hastinapura. By the
power of the Yaksa, Sudhanu [120] saw that he had come to the
outer garden of Hastinapura the following morning. The gardener
informed the king of his arrival. King Suvahu had sought for his son
in vain, and being sure of Sudhanu’s death, he had performed his
sradh ceremony.*

Now he was delighted to hear of his son’s arrival, rewarded the
gardener, and received his son and daughter-in-law with great
honour.

In his previous birth, Buddha was Sudhanu, Yasodhara was
Manohara. Suddhodana was Suvahu and Mahanama was Druma,
Chanaka was Yantaka, Kantaka was the monkey-king. Rahula was

40 Editor’s note: i.e. the death rites.
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Utpalaka, Ananda Thera was Malaka, and MahakaSyapa Thera was
sage Kadyapa of the Himalayas.

Story of Kusa

King Iksvaku of Benares was childless. He used to allow the women
of the harem to be known in the town on the 8th, 14th, and 15th day
of every fortnight, in accordance with the suggestion of his purohita
(the royal priest). Sakra did not approve of this conduct of the king.
In the guise of an old brahmana, he came to the king who granted
him the permission to choose a wife in the harem. He selected
Alinda, the first queen, and took her away in spite of the reluctances
of the queen and the hesitations of Iksvaku. During the night, Sakra
revealed himself under his real appearance to Alinda and granted
her a boon. The queen asked for a son and Sakra gave her a drug
with [121] directions to take it on the tip of her tongue, and declared
that in punishment of her reluctance, her son, strong and wise, would
be of an extreme ugliness. Sakra then disappeared. The queen came
back to the King and related the adventure. The King got irritated at
the prophesied ugliness and hid the drug; but the queen got a little of
it from the stone where it had been ground for distribution to the
other queens. Each one among the five hundred women gave birth to
a son.

Kusa, the son of queen Alinda, succeeded Tksvaku after his death. He
claimed from his mother a beautiful queen. Sudarsana, the daughter
of the king of the Madrakas, was brought to him. But the couple met
only in the dark. The princess complained of this sort of meeting to
the queen-mother. Alinda replied to the protestations of the princess
saying that they ought to see each other when Kusa would be twelve
years old. However, to appease her impatience Alinda permitted her
daughter-in-law to see in a party given by the Court a pretended
Kusa, who was no one else but his brother Kusadruma clad with the
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ensigns of royalty, while Kusa played the part of the royal standard-
bearer. Sudarsana was delighted to see the king but no sooner did she
notice the ugliness of the standard-bearer than she was struck with
horror. She demanded the removal of this ugly person. But the
pretended king, in praise of the standard-bearer, said to Sudarsana
that the [122] standard-bearer being powerful, wealthy, heroic, and
virtuous was his beloved associate.

Once on her return from the pond of lotus, Sudarsana was asked by
the king why she had not brought a lotus for him; but Sudar$ana said
that while she had gone to the lotus-pond for bathing, she had
fainted away to see a raksasa (demon) of the waters who resembled
the standard-bearer. On another occasion after her return from the
Mango-garden Sudar$ana was enquired by the King why she had not
brought a mango for him; but she said that she had fainted away to
see a raksasa (demon) of the wood who resembled the standard-
bearer.

Once fire broke out in the elephant-stable, Kusa girding up his loins,
entered the stable, cut the chords with his sword, released the
elephants, and himself extinguished the great fire. The harem
praised him for his dexterity and vigour. Then Queen Sudar$ana
found out, in despair, how her husband was ugly. She ran away to
her father’s house.

Kus$a installed his brother, KuSadruma, on the throne and himself
chased the fugitive towards the north with a Vina (a seven-stringed
musical instrument) in his hand. On his way he passed the night in
the house of an old woman who took him to be a demon from his
eating up all that was offered him. Then he arrived at Kanyakubja.
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On his entering the harem, he became a laughing [123] stock of the
women, and failed to conciliate Sudarsana who disgracefully
repulsed his advances and threats.

King Mahendraka reproached his daughter for having forsaken a
powerful husband. He threatened to cut her into seven pieces and to
give a piece of her to each of the besiegers of his town. SudarSana
got frightened and went back to Kusa. Sudar§ana’s mother on seeing
Kusa in the harem could not recognise him to be her son-in-law and
she questioned him about his parentage but the real name and power
of Kuda was revealed to her by her daughter. King Mahendraka
heard of the presence of Kusa in the harem and was sorry for not
having been informed of this. Immediately the King greeted him
with rich dishes and garments worthy of a king and KuSa, too,
allowed himself to be easily moved. As ordered by Kusa, the ears of
every man and animal of the town were closed and Kusa uttered the
shout of war like the roars of a lion. All the besiegers were
assembled and each of them was given a daughter in marriage by the
King and sent away. Then Kusa left Kanyakubja with his wife. On
his way, while looking at his shadow in the water, he was horrified
by his own ugliness and was about to kill himself when Sakra gave
him a jyotirasa stone which, while being worn on his head, would
change him into the nicest man among all and while being covered
with the hand, would give him again his first appearance. Kusa wore
the stone [124] on his head and was transformed into the most
handsome man. He returned to his capital.

At the end of the story, the bhikkhus asked the Exalted One why
Kusa was so ugly. The Lord said that his ugliness was due to his
having, in a former existence, conceived unjust sentiments of envy
when he found his young wife with a pratyekabuddha to whom she



IV: Stories of the Disciples — 108

had just made an offering. Kusa was at that time a man of the city of
Kampilla.”!

Story of Vrsabha

On being questioned by the bhikkhus, Buddha said that it was not the
only time that Mara had spied on him with a view to catch him, but
in vain. He narrated the story of the jackal Girika who pursued the
bull from which he hoped the testicles would come off and become
his prey but was deceived by another jackal.

Story of Vanara

In the past, there was in the Himalayas a pack of monkeys that used
to go to a great lake to drink water. In this lake there was an aquatic
monster; whoever went there to drink water whether deer, birds,
monkeys, or men were devoured by this raksasa. The chief of the
monkeys was surprised to find the number of monkeys decreased
each time when the troop returned from the lake after drinking
water. At last, he found out the cause and warned his companions
and advised them to drink water by means of reeds held from a good
[125] distance from the bank. Buddha was the chief of the monkeys
and Mara, the raksasa.

On another occasion, the monkey-chief with his troops eating
various fruits of the Himalayas during summer became thirsty and
came to the lake to drink water. He stepped on a stone which,
however got broken and he fell into the water, quite close to the hole
of an ajagara (boa constrictor) which was ready to devour him. In
order to find a point of support he directed the attention of the snake
towards his companions. No sooner did the snake turn its neck than

*'' Cf. Kusa Jataka, Jataka Edited by Faiisboll Vol. V.
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the chief of the monkeys stepped on its hood, jumped on the bank
and escaped.*

Story of Punyavarta

In ancient times, there reigned in Kasi a powerful King, named
Afijana. Punyavanta was his only son. He used to praise good deeds
and had four comrades who were the sons of the ministers of the
king. They, too, in their turn used to speak highly of prowess, art,
form (rupa), and wisdom (prajiia). These five friends came to
Kampilla from Benares to know who amongst them was specially
respected. They came out of the town and reached the banks of the
Ganges. They found a piece of wood drifting along the stream.
Viryavanta exhibiting his prowess took it ashore and found it to be a
piece of sandalwood. He sold it to dealers in perfumes and spices for
a thousand puranas (a measure equal to 16 panas). [126] éilpavanta
showed his skill in art. He played upon a lute. The people of
Kampilla had never listened to such a captivating lute (a seven-
stringed musical instrument). One of the strings of the lute was torn
yet the ringing sound of the lute continued in the same strain.
Gradually the other six strings were torn yet the lute continued to
sound. Everybody was astonished. Silpavanta was amply rewarded
with gold. Riipavanta was walking in his garden and he was seen by
the foremost harlot of the city. Being enchanted by his handsome
appearance the harlot sent her maid to him. Later, she pleased
Riupavanta in various ways and gave him many gold coins.

One day, a banker’s son wanted to take the harlot away for the night
but she having been engaged previously, could not accept the
invitation. Next morning the whore came to the banker’s son. On
being told that she had been enjoyed by him in a dream on the

42 Cf. Vanara Jataka, Jataka, Vol. III.
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previous night, the prostitute demanded her fees. The banker’s son
having refused to pay anything, a dispute arose between them. No
one could settle it. At length, Prajiavanta happened to come there.
He was appointed arbiter by the two. He took a thousand gold coins
and a mirror. He showed the reflection of gold coins on the mirror to
the prostitute and asked her to take the coins. Everybody was pleased
with his decision. Prajiavanta was paid much gold and the prostitute
went away with a broken heart. [127]

Prince Punyavanta, too, went out to try his luck. While he was
strolling about in the street near the palace, he was seen by the
minister’s son who became compassionate to him, invited him, and
fed him to his satisfaction. After the meal, while he was sleeping in
the royal carriage-shed, the princess came there and taking him to be
the minister’s son waited for his waking up. But Punyavanta did not
awake and the princess fell asleep. At sunset, the ministers saw her
leaving the carriage-shed and finding Punyavanta asleep there took
him to King Brahmadatta. Prince Punyavanta acquainted the King
with his descent and told the truth. The minister’s son and the
princess supported Punyavanta. Then King Brahmadatta was very
pleased with Prince Punyavanta and gave the princess in marriage to
him. The King had no son. He installed Punyavanta on the throne.
Punyavanta won a princess and the kingdom. Prajiavanta was
Sariputra and Punyavanta was the Buddha.

The Story of Vijitavi

In the past, there lived in Mithila a famous king, named Vijitavi.
Everything he had was at the disposal of Brahmins and Sramanas.
The royal treasury was depleted by his unbounded charity. He was
banished from the kingdom at the concerted action of the princes,
prime-ministers, astrologers, citizens, merchants, etc. He took his
abode in a leaf-hut near the Himalayas. Here, too, he used to collect
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fruits and vegetables and [128] feed the rsis before taking his own
food. To test him, Indra appeared before him and began to speak ill
of charity. He created a hell and made him understand that the
miserable plight of the creatures in hell was due to their charity. The
king could not believe in Indra’s words. He said that he would gladly
suffer in hell for the pleasure derived from charity. At this Indra
became pleased with him and disclosing his identity went away to
heaven. A great famine, drought, rebellion, etc., visited Mithila just
on the exile of the king. Then the leading people of the country went
to the forest, begged pardon of the king and brought him back to
Mithila which soon regained her former peaceful state.

The story of five hundred merchants and the raksasis

In the past, five hundred merchants made a sea-voyage for trade
from Jambudvipa. They were shipwrecked, but living on vegetables
they succeeded in saving their lives and came to an island inhabited
by female demons. They were treated to various edibles and drinks
and were kept there by the female demons as their husbands. The
merchants lived there comfortably in the company of these female
demons. They were allowed to go everywhere except to the south.
One day, a merchant stealthily went to the south and saw a city
surrounded by a wall made of copper. The city had no outlet. The
merchant climbed a tree standing close to the wall and saw many
people crying. On enquiry, he learnt from [129] them that those
females were demons who had received them with great respect but
had confined them after getting new merchants; that for want of
food they were on the point of death. The merchant thought of the
fate of his company and himself when the female demons would get
a new band of merchants. He then enquired of the confined
merchants as to the means of getting rid of these female demons.
The imprisoned merchants advised the merchant to attend to the call
of asvaraja (king of horses), named Kesi, when he would come to
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this island on the full moon day in the month of Kartika and would
enquire thrice from the banks as to who would like to go to
Jambudvipa. They further told him that that asvaraja would take
them to Jambudvipa. The merchant came back and told these facts to
his companions. Then, on the full moon day in the month of Kartika,
the merchants came to the banks of the sea. They found the horse,
named Kesi and entreated him to take them to Jambudvipa. During
their departure the female demons and their children entreated them
to stay there but in vain. With the help of Kesi, the merchants came
to Jambudvipa.”

Story of the Raven

In the past, there lived in Benares a King, named Brahmadatta. At
this time a king of the crows, named Supatra, lived there. His wife,
named Supar§va, who was pregnant had a longing for taking [130]
royal meal. She expressed her desire to the king of the crows. The
king ordered his minister to have the royal meal brought for his
queen. None out of eighty thousands of crows could bring the royal
meal. Then the minister-crow himself executed the royal orders.
Daily he used to bring a share of the royal meal from the royal
kitchen. The royal cooks informed the king of the rudeness of the
crow. The king ordered the covering of the kitchen with a net. The
crow could not get the royal meal, so be began to pounce upon it.
The king ordered that the meals should be brought covered. The
crow lost all convenience, but he used to pounce upon the meal from
the hands of the maid-servants when they used to carry it for the
queens. By royal command the meals for the queens were also
carried under cover. The king was very much annoyed with the crow
and he declared a reward to be paid to one who would be able to
catch the crow alive. The crow, too, being unable to get meals struck

43 Cf. Valahassa Jataka, Jataka, Vol. Il.
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the nose of a maid-servant with his beak while she was carrying
meals for the queens. At this time the maid-servant caught hold of
the crow. The king asked the crow why he was creating so much
annoyance. Then the minister-crow informed the king of the longing
of Suparéva in her family-way. The king was pleased with the bold
answer of the crow and making arrangements for his daily taking
away meal, the king left him. The crow used to eat a portion of the
meal given [131] by the royal cook and took the remainder for the
queen. The crow king was Buddha, Supar§va was Yasodhara,
Brahmadatta was Suddhodana, and the minister-crow was
Kalodayi."

The Story of a female elephant

In the past, there was a mountain, called Candagiri, by the side of the
Himalayas. Close by there was a great forest where a pair of
elephants dwelt. Of this pair, the female elephant had a son who was
greatly devoted to his blind mother and did not partake of food
without giving anything to his mother. In course of time, hunters
informed the king of Benares of the young elephant. The king of
Benares came to the forest with his retinue and caught the animal.
Gradually the animal became lean from not taking the food. The
king enquired of the animal as to the cause of his hunger-strike. The
young elephant told the king that his blind mother being deprived of
his company was passing her days in grief. The king was greatly
pleased with the animal for his devotion to his mother and released
him. The young elephant came to the forest and shouted loudly in
quest of his mother. The mother, too, understood the voice of his son
and shouted at the top of her voice. Following the course of his
mother’s voice the young elephant came to his mother. On seeing his
mother rolling in dust, the young elephant washed her with the water

* Kaka Jataka in Pali is different from this story.
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of the lake. His mother’s blindness disappeared, and [132] she got
back her sight. Then she saw her son and became greatly delighted.
She heard everything from her young one and blessed the king of
Benares.

The female elephant was Mahaprajapati Gautami, king of Benares
was Nanda, and the young elephant was the Buddha.

Nalin1 Jataka

In the past, there was to the north of Kasi, by the side of the
Himalayas, a hermitage called Sahafjani. In that hermitage there
lived a sage named Kasyapa. One day the sage committed nuisance
on a slab of stone. The urine was mixed with sperm. A female deer
drank it taking it to be water and licked the passage of her vulva
with her tongue. The sperm of the sage got into her womb and she
conceived. In course of time she gave birth to a young one in human
form. The sage learnt everything by meditation. Placing the child on
a piece of deer skin the sage took him to his hermitage. The female
deer followed the sage. The child was washed and cleaned by the
sage. The female deer used to stroll about near the hermitage and
suckled the child. The child gradually grew up, and a horn appeared
on his forehead. The sage named him Ekasrnga and he used to
wander about in the company of the female deer and other young
antelopes and then return to the hermitage. Antelopes and various
birds used to join in the pastime with him. When Ekasrnga grew up,
he used to wait upon the sage in various [133] ways and to take his
meal after feeding his mother.

The sage taught him four kinds of meditation and five supernatural
faculties which he acquired in a short time. He became a Brahmacari
(a celibate).
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At this time, the king of Benares having had no son, performed
various religious sacrifices in expectation of a son, but in vain. His
only daughter, Nalini, had by this time attained youth. The king of
Benares heard of Ekasrnga and intended to marry his daughter to
the latter so that he might treat Ekasrnga as his son or son-in-law.
Then he sent his daughter with the royal priest to the Sahafjani
hermitage. The priest took rice and sweetmeats and came by a
chariot to the hermitage with princess Nalini. There, in the
hermitage, the princess began to play with her attendants. Their
pastime frightened birds and antelopes who fled in various directions.
While enquiring about the cause of fear of the animals Ekasrnga
came to Nalini. Seeing the princess dressed in precious clothes and
decked with ornaments, Ekasrnga said, “Beautiful are these sons of
sages, beautiful is their matted hair, beautiful are their deer skins,
waistbands, and the strings of beads worn round their neck.” NalinT
took Ekasrnga by the hand and gave him sweets and drink. Ekasrnga
said that he had never partaken of such fruits and drink. The
princess showed the chariot to Ekasrnga and asked him to get [134]
into it which was her hermitage. Ekasrnga found the horses, the
carriers of the chariot, to be like his mother and did not get into the
chariot. The princess embraced and kissed Ekasrnga who was
astonished to gaze at her person. Mutual conversation resulted in
love between them. The princess tempted Ekasringa with various
edibles and drink, and returned to Benares. Ekasrnga came back to
his hermitage. He was attached to the princess. He began to think of
her and could not perform his daily duties. On being questioned,
Ekasrnga said everything to the sage KasSyapa who made him
understand that his acquaintances were women, that sages should not
be friendly with them, that they were obstacles to asceticism, and
that their company should be given up.

By this time a large boat was beautifully decorated with flowers and
fruit-trees. The boat looked like a hermitage. It sailed to Benares
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with the princess Nalini, in charge of the royal priest. On reaching
Benares, Nalint alighted from the boat and entering the hermitage
she began to pluck flowers and tear off leaves. The birds of the
hermitage got frightened and made noise. Ekasrnga came there and
was glad to see the princess. Nalini, too, was glad to see Ekasrnga,
embraced him, kissed him, and received him with refreshments. The
princess with Ekasrnga came to Benares by boat. The royal priest
performed the marriage ceremony of princess Nalini with [135]
Ekasrnga who took the princess to be his friend and began to sport
with her. With the princess Ekasrnga again come back to the
Sahafjant hermitage. In reply to the question put by the female deer
as to where he had gone, Ekasrnga said that he had accompanied his
friend, Nalini, to her hermitage and that he had accepted her hand
after circumambulating fire. The female deer understood everything
and thought that her son was yet ignorant of the distinction between
a friend and a wife.

Once Ekasrnga wanted to enter the hermitage of female ascetics on
the banks of the Ganges, near Sahafijani hermitage, but he was
prevented from doing so by the ladies of the hermitage on the
ground that he was a male. On being asked by Ekasrnga to explain
the distinction between male and female, the ladies of the hermitage
narrated feminine virtues and said that NalinT was not his friend but
a woman and that she should not be separated when already married.

Then Ekasrnga in the company of the princess came to the sage
Kasyapa and told him everything. Kasyapa understood that there
was attachment between his son and the princess, that they had been
married and that they should not live separately. With his permission
Ekasrnga with the princess came to Benares. The King of Benares
received him with great affection and anointed him crown prince. In
course of time the King of Benares died. Ekasrnga succeeded [136]
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to the title. By his wife, Nalini, he had 32 twin sons and by other
wives he had 100 sons.

Ekasrnga ruled over his kingdom righteously, and in course of time,
he installed his eldest son to the throne and himself became a
religious mendicant. By virtue of penance, he acquired four kinds of
meditation and five supernatural faculties. After death, he was re-
born in the Brahma world.

Kasyapa was Suddhodana,
Mrgt was Mahaprajapati,
Kasiraja was Mahanama Sakya,
Ekasrnga was Buddha,

Nalini was Yasodhara.*

Story of Padmavati

In ancient times, there lived in a great forest near the Himalayas, a
hermit named Mandavya. Once the sage passed urine mixed with
sperm on a slab of stone. A thirsty female deer, while in her courses,
drank the urine of the sage and licked the passage of her vulva with
her tongue. Consequently she conceived and in due course she gave
birth to a beautiful daughter. The wise sage understood everything
by meditation and brought the child to his hermitage, placing it on a
piece of deer skin. The female deer followed him. Sucking her
mother’s breast and eating fruits given by the sage, the girl continued
to grow up. When she learnt to walk, a lotus rose up from the ground
under each of her [137] foot-steps by virtue of good deeds done by
her in her previous births; and she used to sport with lotuses. The
sage noticed these and named her Padmavati.

* Cf. Ekasrngavadanar of the Avadanakalpalata, and Nalinika Jataka,
Jataka, Vol. V.
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Padmavatt used to stroll about and play near the hermitage in the
company of antelopes. She also used to follow her mother, wherever
she grazed. When she grew up, she used to gather fruits, bring water,
keep the hermitage clean and tidy and wait upon the sage. One day
while Padmavati had gone to bring water, she was seen by
Brahmadatta, king of Kampilla, who happened to come there in
course of his hunting excursion. King Brahmadatta learnt from
Padmavati that she was the daughter of the sage, Mandavya, and
conceived the desire to have her as his wife. Seeing her ignorance
and knowing how she took him for some hermit, he made her taste
some cakes that he was carrying away on his saddle and sent her to
her father to tell him that she had liked to be the wife of the sage in
whose hermitage such sweetmeats were available. Padmavati
requested him to wait till her return with the sage’s permission. The
sage on hearing her words understood everything and told
Padmavatt that she had been tempted by the fruit of Kama (sensual
desire). Padmavati was, however, too simple to understand the
meaning of Kama which she took to mean a tree and she wanted the
fruit of this tree, she informed the rsi that the donor of sweetmeats
had been waiting near the tank. The saint took Padmavati [138] to
King Brahmadatta and gave her away in marriage to the latter.

King Brahmadatta saluted the saint and taking Padmavati on
horseback started for Kampilla. On his way home he was received by
his army. Leaving the horse, he rode on elephant back and reached
his country. He showed the palaces to Padmavati and said that these
were thatched cottages and explained the noise of the city to be the
howlings of wild animals. Padmavati believed everything and was
accompanied by the king to the pleasure garden where both the king
and Padmavati performed a sacrifice. The king married Padmavat;,
while Padmavati was circumambulating fire with the king, each of
her footsteps brought forth a lotus from the ground. The subjects
were struck with wonder and admiration to see this.
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In course of time Padmavatt conceived. Other queens envied the
respectful treatment accorded to her by the king. At the moment of
her confinement they tied up her eyes with a piece of cloth. When
twin sons were born they were placed in a basket (marked with royal
insignia) which was consigned to the current of the Ganges.
Padmavatr’s face was daubed with blood by her co-wives, and she
was told that she had brought forth two flowers. The king, however,
learnt on enquiry that Padmavati had given birth to twin sons but she
had devoured them. The king saw Padmavati and found her face
blood-stained. He took her to be a demoness and ordered her
execution. The ministers came to [139] know of the true affairs, and
concealing Padmavati, informed the king that his orders had been
executed. The harem was delighted.

A divine revelation acquainted the king with the whole affair. The
king enquired of the inmates and was greatly afflicted with sorrow
to hear of the true affair.

By this time, fishermen while catching fish got a basket with twin
sons marked with royal insignia. The king fainted away to see the
children. The ministers saw the king in this sad plight and brought
Padmavati before the king who received her with great care and
honour and expressed sorrow for the past events. Padmavati took the
whole affair to be the fruit of her karma (deeds) and recollecting the
words of the sage Mandavya, she gave up “Kamaphala” (the fruit of
sensual desire) and took to ascetic life.

In the dress of a female ascetic, Padmavati came to her father’s
hermitage and learnt that the sage had died long ago, and found the
cottage broken. Then Padmavati, in course of her round in villages
and cities for alms, reached Benares, the capital of King Krki who
tried his utmost to tempt Padmavati, but in vain. Ascetic Padmavatf,
however, began to stay in the palace. By this time Brahmadatta, king
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of Paficala, came to the palace of the king of Benares in the guise of
a brahmana; when the king was engaged in playing at dice with his
queens, Brahmadatta in the guise of a brahmin recognised
Padmavatt [140] and asked her why she had come there. Padmavati
replied that her arrival was due to his fault. The king of Benares
heard of their conversation and became suspicious. On learning
Brahmadatta’s identity, he received him with great respect.
Brahmadatta, king of Paficala, took Padmavatt on the back of an
elephant and with fourfold army came again to the city of Paicala.
On reaching Kampilla each of Padmavati’s steps brought forth lotus.
The production of lotus under each of Padmavati’s steps from the
ground alludes to the following event. While Padmavati in her
previous birth was bringing water, she met a Pratyeka-Buddha on
the way, and offered him the lotus which was in her hand, but she
took the lotus back and again presented the Pratyeka-Buddha with it
once for all. For her offering lotus to the Pratyeka-Buddha,
Padmavati acquired the merit whereby lotus used to appear under
each of her steps from the ground, but she had to suffer affliction in
the middle of her life for having taken the lotus back from the
Pratyeka-Buddha.

Buddha = Mandavya:
Yasodhara = Padmavati:
Suddhodana = Brahmadatta.

Story of Siirya and Candra

In ancient times, there lived in Mithila a Brahmin king who had two
sons named Siirya and Candra. On the death of the Brahmin King,
Candra asked his brother, Siirya, to rule over the kingdom as he was
the eldest. Strya asked his [141] brother to explain the duties of a
king. Candra said that a king should issue orders to his subjects.
Then Siirya said that as a king he was issuing orders to his brother to
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govern the kingdom and that he himself would become a religious
mendicant. Thus settled, Sturya installed his brother Candra on the
throne, and he himself and his family renounced worldly life. Very
soon they acquired four stages of mystic meditation and five
supernatural faculties. Then Siirya decided that he would not use
tooth-stick and drink water not given to him.

Once by mistake the sage Strya drank water from the vessel of
another sage. Later, he remembered that he had done wrong and had
become a thief. He came down from his seat and sat down on the
ground. When his disciples came to salute him, he asked them not to
do so and told them all about his stealing. His disciples endeavoured
to make him understand that his act had not amounted to theft. But
he could not settle his mind. He became eager for receiving
punishment.

Advised by his disciples, he came to King Candra to receive
punishment. He asked the king not to salute him when the latter was
about to do so. On his expressing the desire of receiving punishment,
the king did not consent to inflict any punishment on him. But the
stubbornness of the sage constrained the king to comply with his
request in consultation with his son and nephew. [142] The king
ordered the internment of the sage in the well-decorated ASoka
forest provided with various kinds of food and sweetmeats. After six
days’ internment the sage Sturya was released and he came back to
his hermitage. It was Rahula who was then Candra. It was for these
six days of seclusion that he had inflicted on Bhagvat (Stuirya) that he
was condemned to remain six years in his mother’ s breast.
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Upali

Upali, a barber’s son, was the barber of the Lord. The Sakya lads
gave away their clothes to Upali. On seeing this, Upali became a
protégé of the Buddha and took holy orders. Then five hundred
Sakya lads took holy orders and by order of the Lord, they bowed
down to Upali. Their conceit and pride disappeared. King
Suddhodana too, with the members of his family, bowed down to
Upali.

The bhikkhus marked the honour received by Upali of low caste and
enquired of the Buddha about the reason thereof. The Buddha
narrated the history of his previous birth.

Story of Gangapala

In ancient times, there lived in Benares two poor boys. One day
taking sour gruel they went to a forest to gather fuel. At this time a
Pratyeka-Buddha was entering Benares on his round for alms. On
seeing him, the two boys were greatly delighted and poured their
gruel on the pot of the Pratyeka-Buddha. One of them thought that
he would be re-born as a king by [143] virtue of the merit acquired
by that gift. The other intended to come of a brahmin family in
consequence of this gift.

As a result of their good deeds, both of them were re-born as desired.
The brahmin’s son, Upaka, was attached to a certain Stidra woman.
During the festival known as Kaumudi Caturmasi,* the Stdra
woman prayed to Upaka for a scented flower-garland. Upaka

* It is a religious vow observed for four months commencing from the
twelfth or fifteenth day of the light fortnight in the month of Asadha to
the twelfth day of the light fortnight in the month of Kartik.
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received from a certain person some masakalai'’ which he left on the
banks of the Ganges. One noon, while he was singing songs on his
way to the Ganges for bringing Masakalai, King Brahmadatta heard
of Upaka’s song from the upstairs of his palace and was pleased with
him probably because of his friendship with him in a previous birth.
On learning the reason of his singing songs at mid-day, King
Brahmadatta wanted to give him some masakalai. But Upaka did not
stop. Then the king gave him half of his kingdom. Both of them
began to pass their days happily.

One day, while Brahmadatta was fast asleep placing his head on the
lap of Upaka, the latter first thought of acquiring the kingdom by
taking away the life of Brahmadatta but on a further reflection he
found that that would be an act of [144] ingratitude towards one who
had given him half of one’s kingdom. Thereafter the thought of the
renunciation of worldly life crossed his mind. On Brahmadatta’s
waking up, Upaka told him everything and became a religious monk.

At that time there lived in the north of Kasi, a wandering ascetic (by
caste a potter) possessed of five supernatural faculties. Upaka came
to him and was ordained. In course of time he became a rsi by virtue
of deep meditation. Brahmadatta heard of Upaka’s having become a
Buddhist monk, and used to say, “The condition in which I am now is
the fruit of the acquisition of a very little amount of wealth. Upaka
has acquired a vast amount of riches. The greatest gain is in the lot
of one who receives ordination after annihilating desires.” The royal
inmates could not understand Brahmadatta’s words.

The king had a barber named Gangapala. He was very pleased with
his handicrafts and desired to reward him with a village. At the
advice of the royal inmates, the barber wanted to know the meaning

“T A sort of pulse (Phaseolus Radiatus).
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of the king’s words instead of a village. The king narrated in detail
the events connected with the life of Upaka. The royal inmates then
uttered the king’s words, and wanted to give valuable ornaments to
Gangapala who, however, being greatly moved to hear of Upaka,
came to the latter and received ordination from him. In course of
time Gangapala became a great rsi. [ 145]

Sometime after, King Brahmadatta with his ministers came to the
hermitage of Gangapala to pay him respects. Gangapala addressed
the king by his name. This enraged the ministers but they touched
the feet of Gangapala and sat on one side when the influence of
penance was explained to them by the king.

Upaka was Buddha,
Brahmadatta was guddhodana,
Gangapala was Upali.

The story of Mahagovinda

While the Lord was on the Grdhrakiita, the Gandharva Paficasikha*®
came to relate to him what he had heard from the mouth of Sakra
and Brahma. The Gods, seeing new comers among them surpass the
old ones by their various privileges and being informed that they
were auditors of the Buddha, expressed the vow that there might be
more than one Buddha at a time, in order that the benefits of his
mission might have multiplied; Sakra told them that it was
impossible that there might be more than one Buddha at a time.
Sakra demonstrated to the devas the eight marvellous privileges
(dharmas) of the Buddha, the grace of the benefits that he gave to
the beings, the virtues of the law that he taught, the loneliness in
which he lived dispersing his disciples and living in lonely places, his

* Cf. Mahagovinda suttanta of the Digha Nikaya, Vol. II.
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indifferences to all sensuality in the food, the great [146] intelligence
which directs his instructions, his enfranchisement of all doubt, and
the perfection of his word. Sakra said that he had never found these
superiorities, but in the perfectly accomplished Buddha alone. He
entertained the gods by repeating to them this statement a second
and then a third time.

The great Brahma narrated the story of Mahagovinda in order to
teach the gods the “Great exposition” (mahaprajiiapti) of the Buddha.

Formerly reigned the King Disampati. He had, for his priest and
chief adviser, a wise and intelligent brahmana named Govinda. On
the death of Govinda, the king was greatly afflicted with sorrow,
and was advised by his son, Prince Renu, to appoint Govinda’s son,
named Jyotipala, who was more learned and skilful than his father.
The king sent a messenger to invite him. Jyotipala came to the king
and accepted the royal offer of the post of his deceased father. He
was then called Mahagovinda.

On the death of Disampati, six ksatriya royal electors (rajakartara)
assured the inheritance of the kingdom to Prince Renu with the
promise of dividing the kingdom among the seven of them. The
moment came and Mahagovinda proceeded with the division of the
land, assigning to each his capital. He remained in charge of all their
business and instructed seven hundred brahmanas and the same
number of snatakas® who spread the rumour that Mahagovinda had
become familiar [147] with Brahma and had followed his advice.
Mahagovinda grew jealous of justifying such a favourable opinion
and strenuously devoted himself during the four rainy months to
deep meditation at the end of which Brahma appeared to him. As

49 Editor’s note: it means a brahmin who has completed his studies, done the
final ablutions, and entered the next stage of life.
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Brahma promised him to answer his questions, Mahagovinda
inquired of the way of obtaining Brahmaloka. Brahma explained to
him that a man could reach the immortal Brahmaloka by leaving off
egotism, by concentrating his mind, by being kind, retired, without
sin and deprived of sexual pleasures. Mahagovinda was greatly
moved and embraced the life of a hermit.

Then follow accounts of the rewards received by the disciples of
Mahagovinda, and of chastisements to those who brought opposition
to Mahagovinda or to his disciples. In course of time Paficasikha
acquired insight into the Dharma, Buddha was at that time
Mahagovinda.

While the Buddha was once staying at Sravasti in the Jetavana
Vihara of Anathapindika, he passed three months there with one
dish of food per diem. He declared to Ananda that he could have
lived in this way during whole Kalpas; for such was the privilege of
the exactly accomplished Buddhas who had attained the paramitas
(perfections).” [148] He further said that, an infinite number of
Kalpas ago, there lived the Buddha Indraddhvaja in his capital,
Indratapana. He then enumerated a long series of Buddhas, viz.,
Mahadhvaja,”' Dhvajottama, Dhvajarucira, Dhvajaketu, Ketudhvaja,
Dhvajadhvaja, Dhvajamaparajita, Aparajita, Supratapa, Padipa,
Supratisthita, Nagamuni, Mahamuni, Munipravara, Samvrtaskandha,
Bandhuma,  Arista, Vijitavi, Krakucchanda, Asamasama,

% There are ten paramitas:- (1) Dana (almsgiving), (2) sila (morality), (3)
nekkhamma (renunciation of the world), (4) paifia (wisdom), (5) viriya
(energy), (6) khanti (forbearance), (7) sacca (truthfulness), (8) adhitthana
(resolution), (9) metta or metti (friendliness), and (10) upekkha
(indifference).

> Editor’s note: there are a large number of printing errors in these names,

which I have corrected from the original text.
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Prabhamkara, Oghaja, Mahabala, Sujata, Paramgata, Mahaprasada,
Sukhendriya, Naksatraraja, gatapuspa, Viraja, Brahmasvara,
Sirasahvaya who lived in his capital named Puspavati,
Nagakulottama, Ksamottara, Nagottama, Angottama, Vasava,
Candrima, Hetumanta, Jinendra, Jambunada, Tagarasikhi, Paduma,
Kaundinyagotra, Candana, Viraja, Hitest, Supatra who lived in his
capital Abhayapure, Varunottama, Dhrtarastra, Sveturﬁstra, Sikhi,
Virudhaka, Sunetra, Sujata, Utpala, Brahmottama, SudarSana,
Arthdar§i, Mila, Ausadi, Hitaisi, Jambunada, Sala, Abhiji,
Jinavaruttama, Samamtabhadra, Saéivimala, Paundarika, Candrima,
Bhavitatma, Oghaja, Abhaya, Svayamprabha, Mahabala, Aditya,
Pratapavanta, Hitesi, Dhvajottama, Dhvajadhvaja, Ketu, Ketiittama,
Asahya, Jambiinada, Salaraja, Akutobhaya, Nirmita, Upasanta,
Jinendra, Sarvarthadar$i, Asoka, Dhvajottama, Nyagrodharaja,
Vipulayasa, Jayanta, Sﬁkyamuni who lived in his capital Sinhapuri,
Sarvadaya, Atyuttama, Uttara, Samitavi, Baladatta, Bhagiratha,
Angirasa, Nagottama, Nagabala, Puspa, Pusputtara, [149] Meru,
Ratnagni, Puspakrta, Dipankara, who lived in his capital Dipavati,
Sarvabhibhi, Padumuttara, Atyuccagami, Yasottara, Sﬁkyamuni,
Arthadarsi, Tisya, Pusya, Vipesyi, Sikhi, Vi$vabhii, Krakucchanda,
Konakamuni, Kasyapa, Sakyamuni, Maitreya in his capital Ketumati.

Thereafter, Ananda asked the Exalted one how he had acquired the
splendour with which he used to illuminate the world. The Lord said
that it was through the respects he had paid to the ancient Buddhas
from Dipankara to Kasyapa. On being questioned by Ananda as to
when and for how long these Buddhas had lived, the Lord explained
to him by turn that every one of these Buddhas had gone up to a
number of Kalpas — the time that each one had spent on earth. He
further explained the etymology of the names of the former Buddhas
as well as the future Buddha, Maitreya, the class, Ksatriya or
Brahmana to which each one of the Buddhas belonged, according to
circumstances.
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I'V: Stories of the Disciples

Story of Rahula

The Buddha, staying in the atmosphere, showed various miracles.
Chiefs of Asuras, Rahu, Vemacitri, Mucilinda together with their
companions were initiated into the Dharma. King Suddhodana saw
these miracles and with folded hands he said to the Lord, “I have
gained much as I have got you as my son. Your renunciation of
kingdoms and relations has been successful. Your meditation for six
years has been crowned with success, and [150] my birth has met
with success inasmuch as I was blessed with a child like you. Take
your food in the palace for the days you will be here in Kapilavastu.”
The town was well decorated. Various edibles were arranged. The
Buddha entered the town with Sariputra in his right, Maudgalyayana
on his left, and with Ananda behind him. Horses neighed while
entering into the city. The peacocks danced, and cuckoes cooed.
Various instruments were played. The blind regained eyesight. The
deaf got back the sense of hearing. The insane regained their lost
memory. All sorts of evil disappeared. The irreverent began to
respect their superiors. The earth quaked. The Buddha entered the
palace. The gﬁkyas declared that capital punishment would be
inflicted on those who would speak out the Buddha’s identity to
Rahula. The Lord used to take his meal in the palace. Mahaprajapati
Gotami invited him with the bhikkhus. Various edibles were brought.
The house was well-decorated. The Buddha and the bhikkhus took
their seats. Mahaprajapati Gotam1 herself served the dinner. The
Buddha gave religions instructions to Mahaprajapati Gotami and
other inmates. Rahula took his seat where the shadow of the Buddha
fell.
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He gazed steadfastly at the Buddha. He asked his mother where his
father was.

Yasodhara said, “Your father has gone to the Deccan”
(Daksinapatha). [151]

Rahula said, “Why has he gone there?”
Yasodhara said, “To trade.”
Rahula said, “Why does not my father send some good articles?”

Yasodhara said, “It is against the custom of the ksatriyas. He will
bring articles when he will come.”

Rahula said, “Is this Sramana a relation of ours? I am getting
interested in him. He appears to be like my father.”

Yasodhara said, “No, he is not your father.”
Rahula said, “Tell me please truly what he is to me.”

Yasodhara was moved. She neglected the declaration of capital
punishment and said, “Yes, this §ramana is your father.” Rahula
caught hold of the outskirts of the Buddha’s robe and said that he
would enter the holy orders if the Sramana was his father and that he
would follow his father’s footsteps. The inmates cried. King
Suddhodana heard of this cry and learnt everything on enquiry. His
eyes were full of tears. He bowed down to the Buddha and prayed
for Rahula. His prayer was not granted. Buddha said that Rahula was,
by virtue of the merits acquired by him in his previous births,
destined to attain Nirvana. In seven days, the ceremonies of
Jatakarna (the first of the ten purification ceremonies performed



IV: Stories of the Disciples — 130

shortly after birth), of first tonsure and Kuntalavardhana (ceremony
for the growth of long hair) were performed. Yasodhara [152] spoke
to him about the sufferings of the hermit-life, and also about the
enjoyment of royal happiness. She tried her utmost to restrain
Rahula from entering holy orders. But all was in vain. Yasodhara
marked his determination and gave him advice.

By order of king Suddhodana the city of Kapilavastu was adorned.
Prince Rahula entered the holy order and accepted discipleship of
his father. The Lord received him with tenderness and some words
of exhortation. He charged Sariputra to ordain Rahula who repeated
the triSarana and the daSasila. The barber cut Rahula’s hair, whilst
the Lord exhorted him to perfection. Yasodhara sadly touched the
hair that had been cut off from her son, while she lamented.
Maudgalyayana and Sariputra conferred the ordination on the young
prince, Rahula; under the direction of Sariputra, he began his
monastical career. On the last day Yasodhara invited the Buddha.

She prepared a brilliant reception and tried to seduce him and to
change his dispositions by the jewels with which she adorned herself
and the daintiness that she offered to him; but all was of no avail.
The Lord went away after having informed the King and the women.

The Lord attained Perfect Enlightenment and stayed underneath the
Bodhi-tree for a week. Gods showered flowers from heaven. All
creatures worshipped the Buddha. Gazing steadfastly at the Bodhi-
tree for a week he passed the second week [153] there with a
cheerful heart. In the third week, Tandri and Arati, daughters of
Mara, seeing their father lamenting over his defeat, forced
themselves in spite of the disappointing advice of their father to
triumph over the Buddha, firstly by sensuality, by surrounding them
with seducing apparitions to which the Buddha remained indifferent;
then by asking him questions to which he replied in such a way as to
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confound them. They went away defeated and Mara proclaimed
their defeat.

Story of Dharmalabdha

Kala, king of the snakes, came to the Buddha and told him that
previous Buddhas used to go to his abode. He invited the Buddha
who came to Kala’s house and spent the fourth week. At the request
of Mucilinda, king of the snakes, the Buddha spent the fifth week at
his house. With his hood, Mucilinda protected the Buddha from the
untimely shower during the whole week. The sixth week the Buddha
spent under the Nyagrodha tree. The seventh week he spent in the
Khirikavana at the Bahudeva Caitya. Thus the Buddha spent seven
weeks without any food.

Story of Trapusa and Bhallika

At this time, Trapusa and Bhallika, two merchants, while coming
from Utkal (Orissa) came to grief near Khirikavana. They were
greatly frightened but gods favoured them with assurance of security
and asked them to offer the Buddha his first food, the delicious
madhutarpana, after his forty-nine days’ fast. The Buddha was
thinking [154] of taking them. Just at this time four Mahalokapalas
brought four plates. As soon as the four plates were taken by the
Buddha, they merged into one. The Buddha took honeyed butter on
the plate and recited the “Svastika mangala”, the stanzas of blessing
which protect in all regions. The two merchants received the
TriSarana, and begged of the Buddha some articles for worship. The
Buddha gave them as relics, some hair from his head and some
clippings of nails from his fingers. On these relics, the two merchants
built in Kesasthali the Kedastiipa (hair stiipa), at Baluksa the
Nakhasttipa (nail stiipa), at Siluksa, a monument, the stones of which
came by themselves to be put in place, through the miraculous power
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of the Lord Buddha. Sakra came in his turn to offer the Buddha a
haritaki of which, he planted the stalk, which, at once, transformed
itself wonderfully into a tree covered with flowers and fruits. While
the Buddha was engaged in deep meditation for six years at the
Senapatigama in Uruvilva, a public woman, named Gava, kept a
coarse cloth on the bough of a tree for Buddha’s wear after
meditation. By virtue of this noble deed Gava was re-born in heaven
as a nymph. At her prayer, the Buddha took that coarse cloth,
rejecting the cloth given by Gods. Water was required to wash the
cloth. The King of Gods dug with his hands a river which still bears
the name of Panikhata. A slab of stone was required. Four lokapalas
brought [155] four pieces of stone. On one slab he washed his cloth,
on the second he spread the cloth to dry, the third he threw away in
the names of Trapusa and Bhallika, inhabitants of Siluksanagara,
who established that piece of stone in a Caitya. Still there exists in
the kingdom of Gandhara, a town named Sila. On the fourth the
Buddha took his seat and stitched the cloth. Over these four slabs of
stone four Caityas were built. The Buddha, after washing and
stitching that cloth, bathed in the Panikhata river and got up from
the river by holding the arm of the God Kakubha, the presiding deity
of the tree named Kakubha, which stood on the banks of the river.
The Buddha placed one of his hands on the tree which still bears the
impression of the five fingers of the Buddha’s palm. Then the
Buddha took his seat underneath the Nyagrodha tree of the goat-
herd. He made up his mind to keep his Doctrine to himself as it was
too deep to be understood and accepted by the world.

Knowing the Buddha’s dispositions, Brahma with Sakra and other
Gods came to request him to promulgate his doctrine, but they went
away disappointed.

At that time, false doctrines reigned at Magadha; Brahma took the
opportunity of requesting Buddha to enlighten men. The Buddha
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reflected that out of the three species of beings, who were quite in
the wrong, or quite in the right, or who [156] were neither one nor
the other, the third at least would profit by his instructions.
Remembering his past resolutions and yielding to the petition of the
gods, Buddha promised to turn the Wheel of Law. From heaven to
heaven the news spread up to the Brahmaloka. Then he looked for
him who was able to follow his instruction. He thought of preaching
his dharma to Udraka Ramaputra but afterwards he learnt that
Udraka had passed away seven days ago. Then he thought of Arada
Kalama and came to know that he too had died three days ago. Then
he found that those who had followed him during his austerities
were the five Bhadravargiyas who were at that time staying at
Rsipatana Mrgadava at Benares. He intended to preach dharma to
these persons. From Bodhi he proceeded towards Benares. Gods
adorned with magnificent splendour the road that separated the
Bodhi from Benares. From Uruvilva, the Buddha came to Gaya,
from Gaya to Apara Gaya where he was invited by Sudarsana, king
of snakes. The Buddha took his meal there and came to Vasala
where he preached his doctrine to a Brahmana, named Nadi. A
householder of Vasdala gave him cloth. From Vasala he went to a city
named Cundadvila, where he announced to the Ajivaka named
Upaka, that, without a master, he had become an Arhat, Jina, and
Buddha, and that he would promulgate the law. Buddha was invited
by Cunda and passed one night in his house. From Cundadvila [157]
he came to Lohitavastuka where he passed one night as a guest of
Kamandaluka, king of snakes. From Lohitavastuka he came to
Gandhapura when he was invited by the Yaksa named Kandha.
After halting there for one night he came to Sarathipura and from
Sarathipura he came to the banks of the Ganges. The boatman did
not agree to take him free. So Buddha crossed the Ganges like a
duck’ and reaching Benares he waited at Sankhamedh till the hour

2. .. . . _ .
32 Editor’s note: it says no such thing in Mahavastu, rather he crossed by his
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for begging in the town had come. On coming back from his round,
he came to Rsipatana and was cordially received by the five
Bhadravargiyas named Ajhatakaundinya, ASvaka, Bhadraka, Vaspa,
and Mahanama who in spite of their concerted project, could not
help standing up at his approach and were ordained monks by the
Buddha. Buddha recognised the place where the former Buddhas had
made the Wheel of the Law turn. He enumerated to the five monks
the dimensions of the nimbuses of a certain number of Buddhas. He
instructed the five monks about the middle path and aryasatya
(perfect truth). The sight of the Law was revealed to Kaundinya and
to eighteen kotis of devas. At Benares, Buddha taught the five monks
that the five Skandhas (elements of being), viz., Riipa (form), Vedana
(sensation), Samjfia  (perception), Samkharas (pre-existent
dispositions), and Vijiiana (consciousness) were without any
substance. They are the source of torment. They are impermanent; in
recognising [158] their impermanence, the torment of which they are
the source, is suppressed. Ajhatakaundinya received “the privilege of
strength,” the four others deprived themselves forever of the
asravas,” and kotis of devas received the Enlightenment of the Law.

The Buddha, while at Rsipatana, instructed the three bhiksus (who
had gone to Benares to beg) that one must consider one’s self to be
able to discover the source of suffering; the sufferings were
discovered by recognising the impermanence of suffering. The three
bhiksus received “the privilege of strength” and eighty kotis of devas,
the pure sight of the Law.

It was on the twelfth day of the second fortnight of Asada, the
shadow having one and a half the height of the objects, under the
naskatra, Anuradha, at the hour called Vijaya, that the Buddha

superntaural powers.

53 . , . .
Editor’s note: the pollutants, craving, hatred and delusion.
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turned the Wheel of the Law. The five Bhadravargiyas were
converted into the Buddhist faith.

Story of Purna Maitrayaniputra

Piirna was the son of a rich brahmin at Dronavastuka in Kosala. His
mother was named Maitrayaniputra. Having heard of Siddhartha
and his doctrine, Piirna devoted himself to the religious life. He had
twenty-nine disciples with whom be came to Rsipatana. There they
paid homage to the Buddha who ordained all of them and conferred
on them the privilege of strength.

Story of Nalaka

In the village named Markata in Avanti, there [159] lived a rich
brahmin belonging to the Katyayana gotra. The brahmin was the
priest of the King Ujjhebhaka Toncharaka. He had two sons named
Uttara and Nalaka. Uttara used to study the Vedas with his uncle
Asita. Nalaka was very intelligent. He learnt the Vedas by listening
to his brother’s reading the Vedas. He came to Asita. Wonderfully
gifted as he was, he devoted himself to the religious life under the
direction of his uncle. By the permission of Asita he came to Benares
where at that time six preachers, viz., Parana KasSyapa,
Gosalikaputra Maskali, Ajita Kesakambali, Katyayana Kakuda,
Vairatiputra Safjayi, and Jhatriputra Nirgrantha, preached the
dharma. Nalaka went to all of these preachers but none of them
could satisfy him.

At that time there were four rich men, Sankha at Benares, Paduma at
Mithila, Pingala at Kalinga, and Elapatra at Taksasila. Every month,
they used to celebrate in Benares a feast of the Sankha, one of the
four great treasures, to which were invited rich nagarajas. Elapatra,
the naga king, put to the Buddha some questions, answers to which
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satisfied Nalaka so much that he presented himself before Buddha
and asked him to give him ordination. Once ordained Nalaka put to
the Buddha some questions regarding the essential laws of religious
life. These questions were answered by the Buddha. They became
celebrated as Nalaka questions. [160]

Story of Sabhika

There lived in Mathura a rich banker who had an unlucky daughter
whom he made over to a parivrajaka. The ascetic brought her up at
the banker’s expense and gave her religious instruction; she
distinguished herself by her knowledge and cleverness in the
discussions. She discussed Sastras with the ascetics. None could
defeat her. At this time a brahmin learned in all Sastras came to
Mathura from the Deccan for discussion. It was arranged that the
discussion would be held between the brahman and the girl. But
before the discussion commenced, the brahmin came to see the girl
and at first sight both of them felt for each other a mutual passion,
and decided to pledge that one who would be defeated in discussion
would submit to the winner and that the girl-ascetic would willingly
be defeated, so that they could easily be united without being
defamed by the public. Then the discussion continued for seven days
before kings, princes, and learned men. At last the girl-ascetic
willingly admitted her defeat. People declared the victory of the
brahmin. The girl-ascetic in accordance with the terms of the
previous arrangement with the brahmin yielded to the latter and left
the place of discussion. In due course the girl ascetic conceived. Both
of them started for the Deccan. In the tenth month of her pregnancy
they reached Svetavalaka where they spent the night. There the girl-
ascetic brought forth a son who was named Sabhika on [161] account
of his being born in the meeting. Sabhika read all the Sastras in his
youth. When he came to the age of understanding, he looked for the
Buddha everywhere and finally arrived at Rsipatana Mrgadava.
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There Sabhika put to the Buddha some questions, answers to which
pleased him, and he embraced Buddha’s faith and took holy orders.

Story of Yasoda

In Benares on the banks of the river Varana, there was a huge
Nyagrodha tree which granted anything that was desired. A
childlesss banker of Benares was not blessed with a child even after
performing many sacrifices. Along with his wife he came to the
Nyagrodha tree and prayed for a son making a vow that he would
build a temple for the tree and worship it with grandeur if he were
blessed with a child, otherwise he would extirpate it. The god of the
tree got frightened, came to Sakra and told him of his imminent
danger. Sakra ordered a god of the Trayastrihéa heaven who was
approaching the end of his divine existence, to be born as a son of
the banker. This god was given the hope that he would be able to
receive ordination from the Buddha. He was born of the banker and
was named Yasoda.

He passed his youthful days in great happiness in palaces which were
built for his residence during the autumn, the summer, and the rainy
seasons. Thousands of wives were kept in different harems.

One day, when a householder came to their [162] house from the east
on business, the banker was at that time in the palace on a special
business. In course of his conversation with the householder, Yasoda
learnt much about the Buddha. One midnight, while the inmates
were all asleep, Yasoda left home and took refuge in the Buddha. He
was given various instructions by the Buddha. He acquired
knowledge and various miraculous powers.

At daybreak, Yasoda’s parents could not find their son at home.
Leaving home in the company of many men in search of their son,
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they reached the banks of the river. There they found their son’s
sandals and began to cry. At length, they came to the Buddha and
asked him about their son. Yasoda was present there but nobody
could see him. By order of the Buddha, Yasoda demonstrated his
supernatural powers by performing all sorts of miracles, such as
staying in the air, etc. The Sramana Ulukapaksikabhagini and other
heretics were astonished at the sight of these miracles. The Buddha
recited two stanzas to certify that it was the internal virtue and not
the external practices such as having a shaved head, or matted pair,
or besmearing one’s body with unguents, etc., that made a man a true
monk.

He gave various instructions to YasSoda’s parents and their
companions. He discoursed on alms-giving, moral precepts, heaven,
virtue, and the results of virtuous deeds. He explained to them four
[163] sublime truths (arya satya), e.g., suffering (duhkharm), the cause
of suffering, (duhkhasamudayam), the cessation of suffering
(duhkhanirodham), the path leading to the cessation of suffering
(duhkhanirodhamargam). Yasoda’s parents were greatly pleased to
hear the Buddha and asked him to confer ordination on their son.
Yasoda received ordination from the Buddha.

“In his previous birth”, said the Buddha, “Yasoda came of a poverty-
stricken family in Benares. One day he was delighted to find the
Pratyeka-Buddha Bhadrika, while on his round for alms, invited him
to his house, and fed him to his satisfaction. Yasoda then wished that
he would never be born in a poor family. While Bhadrika, after
taking his meal, flew away through the air like a duck, Yasoda then
desired to acquire such merit. In course of time his wishes were
fulfilled.”

The Buddha being at the Rsipatana, told the five monks to go away
as far as they could in order to preach his doctrine to the largest
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number of people. He further told them that he himself would go to
Uruvilva in order to convert the Jatilas, i.e., the Kasyapas. On
hearing this, Mara came there to frighten the Buddha but he was
unsuccessful and went away in sorrow. The Buddha discussed that
desire was transient and painful in the end and the body was also
impermanent and painful in the end. Mara again came to frighten
him but he fled away in fear. [164] The Bhadravargiyas said, “Shall
we beg saying, ‘Bhavati bhiksam dehi’ (give me alms)?”

The Buddha said, “No, you should not ask for anything but present
yourselves in silence.”

Story of Asthisena

In ancient times in Benares, there was a prince whose companion
was Asthisena, son of the royal priest. Asthisena realised the
existence of suffering in kama (desire) and became a wandering
religious mendicant. The prince on ascending the throne, in course
of time, asked Asthisena to inform him about his desired object.
Asthisena said, “Begging is unpleasant; not to get the thing prayed
for is also unpleasant; so I do not want anything.” The King of Kasi
said, “One who does not take the thing when asked to pray for,
cannot acquire merit, and destroys one’s own soul (atmana
vihanyati). Asthisena retorted, “Begging is like shedding tears; not to
give is to like weeping in return (Yacanam rodanam-ahu adanam
pratirodanam). An arya saint should not beg.” The king being
pleased with him presented him with a thousand bulls. Buddha was at
that time Asthisena.

The bhikkhus learnt from the Buddha that in begging for their food,
they would not have to ask for anything or thank for the same.
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After the bhikkhus had left the place after the Varsa, the divinities
of the place were sorry and enquired of the Buddha as to where they
had gone. The Buddha told them, in reply, that the bhikkhus had
gone to Magadha, Kosala, and [165] Vajjibhumi (Vaisali) as they
must be sent to different countries and as they should live in
isolation.

Story of three Kasyapa brothers

The Blessed One wishing to go to Jatila Uruvilva Kasyapa created by
his magical power a thousand Jatilas and himself in the guise of a
Jatila took them to Uruvilva Kasyapa’s hermitage. Kasyapa who had
five hundred Jatila disciples felt diffident at the sight of a thousand
Jatilas. He was afraid lest the people should pay more respects to the
chief of the thousand Jatilas than to him. Buddha understood the
state of his mind and caused his own clothes and the thousand
disciples to disappear. KasSyapa was astonished to mark the
disappearance of the thousand Jatilas and to see the Buddha in his
own countenance. He thought that his own miraculous power was
greater than Gautama’s. Kasyapa thought that the people would bow
down to, and worship Sramana Gautama.

The Buddha understood Kasyapa’s thought and passing through the
air came to the Nyagrodha tree of Ajapala on the banks of the river
Nairafjana, at Senapatigrama in Uruvilva. When the Buddha left the
hermitage, people went away. Kasyapa wished that Sramar_la
Gautama would again come to his hermitage and take his meal there.
The Buddha understood Kasyapa’s desire and returned to his
hermitage. Uruvilva [166] Kasyapa thought that Sramana Gautama
could read the thoughts of others and that he himself possessed
greater miraculous powers. With his own hand, he offered food to
the Buddha. Kasyapa and the members of his family stayed in the air
and tried to perform a burnt-offering but the fire did not burn. They
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thought, “under whose influence the fire did not burn. It must be due
to the influence of Sramana Gautama.” Then fire burnt. They then
acknowledged Sramana Gautama to be the possessor of great
miraculous power but they thought themselves to be superior to him.
They gave offering to the fire but the offering did not fall into the
fire. They thought that this was perhaps due to Gautama’s influence.
Then, offerings fell into the fire. At the end of the burnt-offering,
Kasyapa and the members of his family could not come down from
the sky. No sooner did they think that it was due to the Buddha’s
influence than they were able to come down. They thought that
Sramana Gautama was possessed of great miraculous power, but they
themselves were superior to him. When they were about to bring
water they could not see the water-pot. They thought of the Buddha
and found the water-pot. They went to the Nairafijana river but they
could not fill the water-pot. They remembered the Buddha’s
influence and the water-pot was full of water. They desired to take
their meal but they could not do so. As [167] soon as they thought of
the influence of the Buddha they were able to take their food. After
taking their meal, they wanted to fell wood but they could not hurl
the raised axe. No sooner did they think that it was due to the
influence of the Buddha than they were able to hurl the axe and fell
wood. Though they acknowledged Gautama to be the possessor of
great miraculous power, yet they could not but persevere in their
presumption that their miraculous powers were greater than
Gautama’s. Then the Buddha showed five hundred miracles to the
three Kasyapa brothers. The last miracle was that the Buddha
desired to lie down in the room where fire burnt. In that room there
lived a wicked snake, so Kasyapa did not approve. But as soon as the
Lord left his seat and entered the fire-room, the wicked snake came
to his vessel. They were struck with wonder to see the fire burn and
the wicked snake in the vessel. They desired to save Gautama by
extinguishing fire by water. But Gautama controlled the snake and
making it free from poison held it in his vessel. Uruvilva Kasyapa
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with the disciples was astonished at this spectacle. Then Uruvilva
Kasyapa with his five hundred disciple, Nadi Kasyapa with his three
hundred disciples, and Gaya Kasyapa with his two hundred disciples
were charmed to see the miraculous power of the Buddha and
became his disciples. Their miraculous powers disappeared; they put
[168] on the robes of bhikkhus and took holy orders. Upasena, a
nephew of the Kasyapas, lived in a hermitage with three hundred
disciples on the banks of the river Nairafijana. He acquired four
stages of mystic meditation, five supernatural faculties, and great
miraculous power. One day, on seeing all the garments of his
maternal uncles and their hermit’s accessories drifting along the
stream, he with his pupils ran to the hermitage of his maternal uncles.
He learnt everything about the Buddha from his maternal uncles;
and with his pupils he became a disciple of the Buddha and took
ordination.

In order to explain the story of the three Kasyapas, the Blessed One
related to the monks how they were formerly three brothers reigning
together at Sinhapura in Kalinga. Their kingdom produced many
precious gems. Taking these gems they came to King Mahendra’s
kingdom, Hastinapura, where Buddha Puspa with his disciples used
to dwell begging for alms. They offered these gems to King
Mahendra who gladly accepted the offer and asked them what he
could do for them. They expressed their desire that Buddha Puspa
would very kindly spend the rainy season in their city. Their desire
was fulfilled. Buddha Puspa with his disciples came to their kingdom,
but during the rainy season he attained Nirvana there. The three
Kasyapa brothers, however, honoured his remains, and raised a stiipa
thereon. On leaving the hermitage of Uruvilva Kasyapa, [169] the
Blessed One followed by his disciples, arrived at the hermitage of
Dharmaranya, where dwelt many old and accomplished Jatilas. He
preached to them the “Sahasravarga” of the Dharmapada and gave
them the privilege of strength. They attained Nirvana. The Blessed
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One honoured their remains and built stupas for them. He then came
to the Nyagrodha of the goat-herd.

While the Buddha was staying at the foot of the Nyagrodha tree of
Ajapala, on the banks of the Nairafijana river, the chief brahmin
priest of king Bimbisara used to repeat to him in detail the thirty-two
signs of a great man every morning. The king listening to his
repetitions felt like seeing a Buddha and learning his instructions.

One morning, in the company of his harem and officers, King
Bimbisara came to a neighbouring part of the town from where he
could see Rajagrha and its neighbours. The king felt a disgust for the
objects of desire and thought thus, “where are the ancestors who
built those beautiful palaces and pleasant ponds, etc.? Everything is
here except the ancestors who built them. Death is certain for
mankind and life to the living is full of misery.” One of the officers,
seeing the king’s melancholy, tried to cheer him up, by praising the
beauty of Rajagrha, but this helped to make him worse. The royal
priest, being more inspired, spoke to the king about the Buddha. The
king was highly pleased with him, praised, and rewarded him. [170]

The Buddha with many bhikkhus came to Rajagrha in Magadha and
stayed in the garden at Yastivana on the Antagiri. King Bimbisara
heard of the Buddha’s advent from his priest. The king ordered his
men to decorate Rajagrha and to make his chariots ready. The king,
the prince, the ministers, the councillors, the priests, and other
persons arrived at Yastivana with great splendour. They saluted the
Buddha and took their seats. The people of Rajagrha were astonished
to see Uruvilva Kasyapa as Buddha’s disciple. The Buddha
understood their thoughts and had a talk with Kasyapa. During his
conversation with the Buddha, Kasyapa recognised the inanity of his
ancient customs and proclaimed that the Buddha was his master.
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Kasyapa bowed down to him and paid him due respects. The people
of Magadha took KaSyapa to be a disciple of the Buddha.

The Buddha instructed the people of Rajagrha on the source and the
destruction of the skandhas (elements). He explained to them the
impermanence of riipa, vedana, samjiia, samskaras, and vijiiana. He
asked them to leave the last path and to follow the middle path.
“Samskara or sankhara arises from ignorance; from sankhara
springs up knowledge;”* thus name and form, six internal senses,
perception, suffering, desire, attachment, existence, re-birth, old age,
death, etc., are produced. Everything born of ignorance is
perishable.” He recited to them the pratityasamutpada [171]
(dependent origination) of the ten nidanas. At the end of the sermon
a general conversation took place.

King Bimbisara acquired knowledge on hearing Buddha’s discourse.
The king and his company were greatly pleased with the Buddha and
praised him.

Story of King Arindama

In ancient times, there reigned in the city of Mithila in Videha, a
king named Arindama who was very prosperous and charitable.
Sronaka, the son of the royal priest, was the king’s playmate. He was
learned and well versed in the three Vedas. He realised the sorrow in
kama (desire), and became a religious mendicant. He went to the
Himalayas and practising penance acquired four meditations and
five abhijia (knowledge). He wished to have the king ordained. He
came to the mango-grove of Mahadeva through the air and took his
seat underneath a mango-tree. There the royal priest observed his
presence and after greeting him came to Mithila. Just at this time the

54 . .. . e .
Editor's note: this is translating vijiana, consciousness, not knowledge.
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king, feeling a disgust for the objects of his desire, promised a
reward to the one who after enquiry would acquaint him with the
whereabouts of Sronaka. Informed by the royal priest, the king came
there riding on an elephant and seeing Sronaka said to him, “Why do
you sit underneath the tree like a poor man?” Sronaka said, “I am
not poor in virtue. One who does not practise virtue is really poor.”
The king said to him “Why do you lie in forest? Why do [172] you
stay alone in the forest? Don’t you feel physical discomfort? Please
come with me to the city where I will protect you.” Sronaka said, “I
wander alone, what shall I do with a kingdom? This is my first
happiness. I wander everywhere, nobody can oppose me. This is my
second happiness. I stroll about with a pot and a mendicant’s dress.
This is my third happiness. If the whole of Mithila is burnt, nothing
of mine will be burnt. This is my fourth happiness.” Though the
wandering ascetics belonged to different families and countries, yet
they loved one another. The king was greatly delighted at Sronaka’s
words and said to him, “Let the happiness of those of whom you
have spoken, be eternal. We are tempted by passion. What shall we
do?” Sronaka then narrated a story which runs thus — “In ancient
times, an old elephant died on a mountain. The Ganges carried the
corpse away. A raven was delighted to see the corpse. It settled on
the floating corpse and began to eat its flesh and to drink the water
of the Ganges alternately. It had not to labour any more to earn its
bread. It therefore allowed itself, being careless of the consequence,
to be carried away along with the corpse, by the current of the
Ganges to the middle of the ocean where aquatic animals devoured
the corpse together with the raven on it.” Sronaka further said that
those who would not observe the law would be tortured in one or
other of the eight hells, viz., Samjiva, Kalasiitra, Samghata, Raurava,
[173] Maharaurava, Avici, Tapana, and Pratapana. The king at once
said that he would not imitate the foolishness of the raven, and that
he would take holy orders on that very day as there was no knowing
when death would snatch him away. He then sent for his son
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Dirghayu, and transferred all royal powers to him. Dirghayu desired
to follow the example of his father but he was brought away by the
royal officers. A woman of the harem wishing to retain the king
tried her level best to seduce him. But the king resisted the
seductions, took holy orders and became a disciple of Sronaka.



	Note to the Digital Edition
	Introduction
	A Note on the Mahāvastu
	I: The Buddhas and the Bodhisattvas
	Dīpaṅkara
	Gautama
	Samitāvī
	Ajita
	Suprabhāsa
	Ratna
	Kāśyapa
	The Character of Bodhisattvas
	Puṣpadanta of the Vatsa family
	Lalitavikrama of the Vaśiṣṭha family
	Mahāyaśa of the Kāśyapa family
	Ratnacūḍa of the Bhāradvāja family
	Dīpaṅkara Bodhisattva
	Maṅgala Buddha

	II: Gautama, the Buddha
	Gautama’s early life
	Buddha’s renunciation and religious life
	Māra’s defeat by the Buddha
	Gautama’s principal disciples
	Conversion of Chandaka and Udāyī by Buddha
	Śuddhodana and the Buddha
	Conversion of the Śākyas by the Buddha
	Conversion of the Asuras by the Buddha

	III: Jātaka Stories
	Mālinī
	Mañjarī Jātaka
	Godhā Jātaka
	Hārapradāna Jātaka
	Vyagrībhūta Yaśodharā Jātaka
	Dharmapāla Jātaka
	Śarakṣepaṇa Jātaka
	Amarā Jātaka
	Siri Jātaka
	Kinnarī Jātaka
	Story of Kuśa
	Story of Vṣabha
	Story of Vānara
	Story of Puṇyavarta
	The Story of Vijitāvī
	The story of five hundred merchants and the rākṣasīs
	Story of the Raven
	The Story of a female elephant
	Nalinī Jātaka
	Story of Padmāvatī
	Story of Sūrya and Candra
	Upāli
	Story of Gaṅgapāla
	The story of Mahāgovinda

	IV: Stories of the Disciples
	Story of Rāhula
	Story of Dharmalabdha
	Story of Trapusa and Bhallika
	Story of Pūrṇa Maitrāyaniputra
	Story of Nālaka
	Story of Sabhika
	Story of Yaśoda
	Story of Asthisena
	Story of three Kāśyapa brothers
	Story of King Arindama


